# Graphene for Radio Frequency Electronics and Infrared Thermal Imaging

by

Allen Long Hsu

B.S.E., Princeton University (2006) S.M., Massachusetts Institute of Technology (2008)

Submitted to the Department of Electrical Engineering and Computer

Science

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

### at the

### MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

February 2015

© Massachusetts Institute of Technology 2015. All rights reserved.

#### Signature redacted Author . . . . . . . . Department of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science Signature redacted September 30, 2014 Certified by..... Tomás Palacios Associate Professor Signature redacted Thesis Supervisor Certified by.... Jing Kong Associate Professor Thesis Supervisor Signature redacted Accepted by ..... 0 U Leslie A. Kolodziejski Chairman, Department Committee on Graduate Theses

ARCHIVES

-		_		
MA	SSACHU	ISET	<b>INSTIT</b>	UTE
	OF TE	CHN	DI OLGY	
	OFIL	CI III		7
				1
i				1
				[
	I MAR	1 Q	2015	1
		10	2010	I I
				1
				1
	1.10	-		-
		ZΔF	RIFS.	
		V W	VILO_	

## Graphene for Radio Frequency Electronics and Infrared Thermal Imaging

by

Allen Long Hsu

Submitted to the Department of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science on September 30, 2014, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

#### Abstract

The aim of this thesis is two-fold: The first is to develop a reliable processing technology for CVD graphene devices for applications in graphene circuits, i.e. mixers, frequency multipliers and phase key shifters. The performance of current graphene circuits has been limited to below 1.5 GHz due to issues with contact resistances and materials quality. Through improved processing techniques and studies about interface preparation between graphene and metal contacts - we demonstrate improved graphene-metal interactions to allow for CVD-graphene based circuits operating at >10 GHz. The second part of this thesis involves exploring graphene as a new infrared photoactive and thermally sensitive material for sensors in the IR spectrum (80 meV  $< E_{ph} < 250$  meV), which have applications ranging from thermography and night vision systems to nanoscale chemical spectroscopy. In this thesis, we will focus on graphene's intrinsic detection mechanisms at much lower photon energies  $(\sim 125 \text{ meV})$  and resolve experimentally the dominant infrared detection mechanism in graphene. We find in the infrared that graphene's electronically tunable Seebeck Coefficient ( $\sim$ 50-100  $\mu$ V/K) dominates at very low photon energies making graphene suitable as a nanoscale thermal detector. Utilizing this design concept, we discuss graphene's suitability for infrared imaging, as well as, other thermal applications such as low cost transparent temperature sensors.

Thesis Supervisor: Tomás Palacios Title: Associate Professor

Thesis Supervisor: Jing Kong Title: Associate Professor

### Acknowledgments

While the journey at the end of the Ph.D. is a solitary one, the process is far from it. From family, friends, and colleagues, my Ph.D. has been the culmination of help from everyone around me and I'd like to take this opportunity to thank everyone.

To my family, my sister has been a constant inspiration for me; always setting the bar higher and higher and giving me something to reach for. I would never know what I was capable of if she didn't always pave the way. I'd like to thank my mother for all of the time she has bestowed upon me. She has given us so much love and care and has been my shining example of how to help and love those around me. To my father, he has influenced and shaped me as a engineer/researcher in more ways than I can describe. Only after completing the Ph.D have I begun to appreciate and comprehend fully all of the stories and advice he has give me over the years.

To my friends, I would like to thank everyone throughout the years, from my times at Princeton to my days at the Warehouse and M.I.T. I miss all of you guys dearly and know that I couldn't have survived the Ph.D. without you guys.

To my colleagues and collaborators, I have worked with so many great students and post docs throughout my time at M.I.T with both the Palacios and Kong Groups. Throughout all of the after-hours of fabrication to late night discussions, this thesis is really just a diary of all of those interactions. I'd like to especially thank Daniel Piedra from the Palacios Group who has been my 24-hour buddy and close friend throughout the Ph.D. I was quite lucky to have ended up with Daniel as an office mate. I'd also like to acknowledge Wenjing Fang and Yi Song, who have also been there to help me with my projects throughout the years at all times of day. I'd also like to thank all of my collaborators, Han Wang (RF electronics), Sungjae Ha (CMOS Integration), Roland Koch (Titanium Hybridization), Mitchell Ong (Titanium Hybridization), Ki Kang Kim (h-BN), Soo Min Kim (h-BN), Nathan Gabor (IR Imaging), and Patrick Herring (IR Imaging). None of these results could have been possible without them. I've been lucky to have met all of them and to work along side them.

I'd also like to thank my thesis readers: Qing Hu and Mildred Dresselhaus. I've

learned a lot from both of you about physics (6.732) and how to write and present my data.

Finally, to my advisors, Tomas Palacios and Jing Kong, both of you have given me so much freedom to explore my own ideas in this thesis. To Tomas, I've appreciated your enthusiasm for new ideas and excitement towards the projects. There were many times during this thesis, I didn't think these projects would work, but even then, you were able to inspire me to push forward. To Jing, I've appreciated all of the time and concern you have given me these last couple of years. Your questions are always quite thoughtful and I've really appreciated your insight and guidance.

# Contents

1	Intr	roduct	ion	35
	1.1	Graph	nene Theory	36
		1.1.1	Band Structure	36
		1.1.2	Optical Properties	40
		1.1.3	Electronic Properties	.44
	1.2	Graph	nene Synthesis	48
		1.2.1	Mechanical Exfoliation	49
		1.2.2	Epitaxial Graphene	50
		1.2.3	Chemical Vapor Deposition of Graphene	52
	1.3	Graph	nene Applications	54
		1.3.1	Radio-Frequency Applications	54
		1.3.2	Opto-electronic Applications	57
	1.4	Thesis	o Overview	60
2	$\mathbf{CV}$	D Gra	phene - Large Area Materials Development	63
	2.1	Graph	ene Synthesis	64
		2.1.1	Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)	64
	2.2	Graph	nene Transfer	67
		2.2.1	Raman Spectroscopy	70
		2.2.2	Hall Effect	74
	2.3	Hexag	onal Boron Nitride	80
		2.3.1	h-BN Characterization	82
		2.3.2	$h-BN + Graphene Integration \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	89

## 3 Process Optimization

	3.1	Conta	ct Resistance	96
		3.1.1	Ohmic Device Processing	99
	3.2	Graph	ene-Metal Interactions	108
		3.2.1	Graphene-Metal Structure	109
		3.2.2	Graphene-Metal Chemical Modification	114
		3.2.3	Density Functional Theory	121
		3.2.4	Raman Analysis	125
		3.2.5	Graphene-Metal Electrical Modification	126
	3.3	Gate I	Dielectrics	130
		3.3.1	Direct Transfer of h-BN	132
		3.3.2	Embedded Gates	135
		3.3.3	Oxidized Aluminum	136
	3.4	Radio	Frequency Device Technology and Characterization	137
		3.4.1	RF GFETs on Sapphire	138
	3.5	Summ	ary	145
4	Infr	ared C	Graphene Detection Mechanisms	147
	4.1	Theor	y - Blackbody Emission	148
	4.2	Comp	arison of Infrared Detectors	148
		4.2.1	Figure of Merit - D*	150
		4.2.2	Thermal Detectors	150
		4.2.3	Optical Detectors	155
		4.2.4	Comparison between Thermal versus Optical Detectors	156
	4.3	Graph	ene for Infrared Detection	157
		4.3.1	Infrared Scanning Photovoltage System	158
		4.3.2	Device Fabrication and Characterization	159
		4.3.3	Device Model	163
		4.3.4	Substrate Interactions	166

<b>5</b>	Gra	phene-	-based Infrared Thermal Detectors	171
	5.1	Perfor	mance Analysis	171
	5.2	Micro-	electrical-mechanical Graphene Thermopile	179
		5.2.1	MEMS Graphene Thermopile version 2	184
		5.2.2	NETD Estimation	185
	5.3	Graph	ene-CMOS Monolithic Integration	189
		5.3.1	Device Concept	190
		5.3.2	Device Processing	190
		5.3.3	SPICE Modelling	198
6	Out	look a	nd Future Work	201
	6.1	Thesis	Contributions	201
	6.2	Future	e Work	203
		6.2.1	Graphene Optical Choppers	203
		6.2.2	Graphene Plasmonic Absorption	206
		6.2.3	Graphene Surface Charge Sensors	207
		6.2.4	Transparent Flexible Thermal Sensors	209
$\mathbf{A}$	Pro	$\mathbf{cess} \ \mathbf{F}$	low	213
	A.1	MEMS	S Device Process Flow	213
		A.1.1	Starting Substrate Preparation	213
		A.1.2	Gate Electrodes	214
		A.1.3	Pad Electrodes	215
		A.1.4	$XeF_2$ Vias	216
		A.1.5	Gate Dielectric/Pad Vias	216
		A.1.6	Graphene Transfer	218
		A.1.7	Graphene Ohmics	218
		A.1.8	Graphene Mesa	219
		A.1.9	Device Suspension	220
	A.2	CMOS	S Device Process Flow	220
		A.2.1	Sample Preparation	221

A.2.2	Via Etching	221
A.2.3	Ohmic Plugs	222
A.2.4	Gate Electrodes	223
A.2.5	Gate Dielectric	224
A.2.6	Gate Vias	225
A.2.7	Graphene Transfer	226
A.2.8	Graphene Ohmics	226
A.2.9	Graphene Mesa	227
A.2.10	FIB Cutting	228

# List of Figures

1-1	Lattice Structure of Graphene	36
1-2	(a) Band Structure (E vs. $\vec{k}$ ) for Monolayer Graphene plotted from Eq. 1.9. (b) Density of States (g(E)) of graphene as a function of energy	
	computed numerically from part (a)	39
1-3	Variation of the Fermi Energy Level as a function of carrier density $% \mathcal{A}$ .	41
1-4	Broadband Optical Absorption of Graphene in units of the fine struc-	
	ture constant $\left(\alpha = \frac{e^2}{4\pi\epsilon_0\hbar c}\right)$ [1]	43
1-5	Interband and Intraband Optical Absorption (a) Intraband absorption	
	process caused by free carrier absorption and Interband absorption	
	processes caused by vertical transitions between the valence and con-	
	duction band. (b) Simulated optical absorption processes in graphene	
	following Eq. 1.26 and 1.27, assuming $E_f = 0.1$ eV and $\Gamma = 0.1$ eV.	44
1-6	Mobility versus carrier concentration for a variety of graphene samples.	
	Blue squares denote low pressure chemical vapor deposition (LPCVD)	
	graphene on copper, red crosses denote ambient pressure (AP)CVD	
	graphene grown on thin film nickel, magenta triangles denote epi-	
	taxial graphene grown on SiC-Si face, open circles denote exfoliated	
	highly-oriented pyrolytic graphite on h-BN, green closed circles denote	
	LPCVD Cu-G + thin oxidized aluminium, the continuous solid and	
	dotted lines are fitting lines utilizing Eq. 1.34	47

1-7	Electrical Properties of Graphene. The carrier concentration depen-	
	dence of the (a) electrical conductivity (b) and (b) sheet resistance $(R_{-})$ taking into account non idealities such as finite corrier senser	
	$(R_{sh})$ taking into account non-ideanties such as infite carrier concen-	
	tration $n_0 = 1 \times 10^{-5}$ (blue line) and $1 \times 10^{-5}$ 1/cm <sup>-</sup> (dotted-red line),	40
	assuming a constant value of $\mu = 10,000$ cm <sup>2</sup> v <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>	48
1-8	Picture of Exfoliated Graphene on top of $300 \text{ nm}$ silicon dioxide $[2,3]$	50
1-9	Surface Reconstruction of Epitaxial Graphene on a SiC surface	52
2.0		
1-10	CVD Graphene Growth and Transfer (a) Growth Kinetics of CVD	
	graphene growth [4](b) Synthesis, etching and transfer process for CVD	
	Graphene [5]	53
1-11	(a) Basic Schematic of Graphene Field Effect Transistor (G-FET) (b)	
	Small Signal Model for G-FET including parasitic capacitances	55
1_19	The blue data represent frequency performance after do embodding pad	
1-14	capacitances while the red data denotes the extrinsically measured f-	
	capacitances, while the red data denotes the extrinsically measured $T$	
	from this thosis	57
		51
1-13	Comparison of optical transmission of graphene and other transparent	
	conductive materials versus sheet resistance [6]	58
1-14	Graphene Photodetector utilizing asymmetric metal combinations demon-	
	strating detection at 10 GBit/s (a) Schematic of Device (b) Measured	
	Response - more details can be found in Ref. [7]	59

2-1 (a) Basic Schematic of the CVD Growth Chamber, where mass flow controllers (MFC) for methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) and hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>) gas regulate the flow rates to control the total pressure within the quartz tube as the gas is being exhausted to a dry scroll pump. (b) Typical diagram of the graphene growth conditions. (1) Pre-Annealing occurs at 1000 °C under a hydrogen environment to remove any surface oxides, (2) Growth occurs when methane, introduced as the carbon source, decomposes to form atomic carbon on the copper surface. (3) After growth reaches steady state conditions, the sample is then rapidly cooled and taken out of the furnace for transfer.

65

- 2-2 Scanning Electron Microscopy of Graphene Growth on Cu Foil as a function of Time  $(t_0)$ : 1 min, 5 min, and 30 minutes, the black scale bar in the lower left hand corner is equal to 4  $\mu$ m. After 1 minute, the light gray background is the copper surface, while the gray flakes are graphene. The center of the graphene flake does show the formation of a bilayer in the center represented by the darker center of the flake. After completed growth for 30 minutes, and cooling, wrinkles formed by the coefficient of thermal expansion mismatch between graphene and the copper begin to appear.

- Wet Chemical Transfer Process for graphene (1) CVD graphene grown 2-5on copper grows on both sides of the foil. (2) A single side of graphene is protected using PMMA as a mechanical support layer. The backside graphene is often exposed to a reactive oxygen plasma to prevent the graphene on the backside from adhering to the PMMA protected graphene during removal of the Cu substrate. (3) The copper is etched away utilizing Transene Cu etchant and diluted with HCl:DIH<sub>2</sub>O leaving behind a graphene/PMMA stack floating on top of DI water. (5) This G/PMMA film is scooped out of water by the final target substrate and nitrogen dried to remove any excess water between the graphene and the substrate. The PMMA is heated to its glass transition temperature (150 °C) to ensure the proper bonding and relaxation of the graphene/PMMA film and to smooth out any imperfections or surface features in the copper foil during transfer. (6) Finally the PMMA is removed by acetone and IPA and if necessary can be thermally annealed in  $H_2/Ar$  (400/700 sccm) at 350 °C to induce thermal decomposition of the PMMA into volatile carbon fragments. The final
- 69

2-6 Dominant Raman Scattering Processes in Graphene: (a) D peak (b) G peak (c) 2D peak. The blue arrow signifies the incoming optical photon, the red is the photon shifted after scattering or interacting with a phonon within the material. Various transition can occur not only within a single Dirac cone, but can also occur between Dirac cones, such as the D and 2D peaks. The shift of the exciting light is dependent on certain phonon modes of graphene and lead to discrete peaks in the Raman spectra.[6] (d) Raman Spectra of graphene after background removal. Blue shows the measured data, and the red line shows the automatic Lorentzian fitting to the peaks..... 2-7 Electrochemical gating of graphene and the resulting shift of the G peak position as a function of doping. The solid blue line is from theory, while the dots are experimentally measured values. [8] . . . .

72

73

76

- 2-8 All Samples were polycrystalline graphene (PCG), APS = ammoniumpersulfate, OTS = octa-decyltri-chloro-silane,  $RCA = H_2O_2:H_2SO_4$  1:3,  $FeCl = Iron Chloride (FeCl_3)$ , Ash = Oxygen Plasma 800W for 1 Hr. The square is the average G peak position, while the line is the variation in G peak position over 100 data points.
- 2-9 Hall Device Process Flow. (1) Ti/Pt (10 nm/20 nm) are deposited onto a thermally grown silicon dioxide substrate. (2) Graphene is then transferred ontop of these electrodes. (3) an MMA/OCG positive mask is spun on and then patterned by photolithography. (4) Reactive oxygen etching is performed to electrically isolate the graphene devices. (5) Solvent cleaning is used to remove the MMA/OCG mask. The figure in the bottom right hand corner shows a top-down diagram of the complete graphene device.
- 2-10 Solidworks Rendering of the home built Hall Effect Probe Station, utilizing a 0.3-0.4 T permanent magnetic. The fabricated Hall probe station allows for both +/- magnetic fields by easily flipping the magnet upside down.
  77
- 2-11 Hall Mobility versus Carrier Concentration for various sample treatments. PCG = polycrystalline graphene, SCG = single crystalline graphene, APS = ammonium persulfate, OTS = octa-decyltri-chlorosilane, hBN utilized in this experiment is monolayer hBN grown on copper by CVD [9]. The black dotted line denotes a slope of -1 which corresponds to  $\mu \propto 1/n_s$  .....

2-12	(a) Mobility versus carrier concentration for variety of graphene sam-	
	ples. Blue squares are LPCVD-Cu graphene, red crosses are APCVD-	
	Ni graphene, magenta triangles are SiC-Si face, open circles are HOPG $$	
	on h-BN, closed green circles are LPCVD Cu-G + Al(ox). (b) Sheet	
	resistance as a function of carrier concentration - however the magenta	
	triangle is monolayer graphene on thermally grown silicon dioxide. The	
	continuous black lines represent the fitting from Eq. 1.34	79
2-13	Scanning Electron Microscopy of Large Area hexagonal boron nitride	
	synthesized on Iron foils from Dr. Ki Kang Kim	82
2-14	Raman Spectroscopy of Large Area CVD Hexagonal Boron Nitride (a)	
	Optical Micrograph of CVD h-BN, (b) Raman Map of Peak Intensity	
	of the h-BN peak. (c) Histogram of the h-BN Raman Peak Position.	
	Scale Bar Indicates 10 $\mu m$ for both (a) and (b)	83
2-15	Cathodeluminescence of CVD h-BN taken at 5K using an Attolight	
	integrated SEM + CL option. (a) Local CL data from the h-BN sample	
	showing some high quality regions emitting light at an energy of 5.777	
	eV or 214.6 nm (b) Potentially some color centers exist within the hBN	
	suggesting some trap states located at 3.837 eV, 4.262 eV, 4.981 eV,	
	and 5.489 eV	84
2-16	h-BN Electrical Characterization (a) Schematic of Metal-h-BN-Metal	
	Capacitor and Electrical Breakdown Measurements. (b) AFM of fabri-	
	cated Devices showing etched regions used to determine the thickness	
	of the h-BN. (c) J versus $E_{DS}$ for the measured devices. Inset shows	
	the $E_{MAX}$ as a function of various thicknesses of h-BN	86
2-17	Capacitance as a function of Excitation Frequency. Left axis the is	
	extracted capacitance per unit area, while the right axis is the ratio	
	between a modeled series capacitance $(C_s)$ and the measured parallel	
	capacitance (C <sub>p</sub> ). Low values of the ratio C <sub>s</sub> / C <sub>p</sub> imply a low current	
	leakage in the devices.	88

2-18	h-BN Electrical Characterization (a) Capacitance as a function of the h-BN thickness $(t_{h-BN})$ (b) Histogram of the dielectric constant for	
	the 61 samples.	88
2-19	Graphene and h-BN Integrated Devices (a) Optical Micrograph of CVD Graphene integrated on top of CVD h-BN (b) Conductance as a func- tion of backgate voltage $(V_{BG})$ . (c) Extracted Hole Mobility as a func- tion of Shift of Dirac Peak $(n_{dirac})$	91
2-20	AFM images of various devices showing the connection between the	
	mobility and the uniformity. Scale bar is equal to 1 $\mu m$	92
2-21	Field Effect Hole Mobilities $(\mu_{FET})$ from back-gated devices	94
3-1	Diagram of the Distributed Resistance of the Metal/Graphene Contact Resistance	97
3-2	XPS Spectrum of 2.5 nm of Al deposited onto Graphene (red) and SiO <sub>2</sub> (blue). The XPS spectrum shows one peak corresponding to oxidized aluminum ( $E_B = 75.53$ eV). The metallic Al peak is located at ( $E_B = 72.68$ eV)	100
3-3	<ul> <li>Schematic Diagram of Ohmic Process. (1) Starting Graphene Samples</li> <li>Sample #1 - 5 nm Al e-beam evaporated and oxidized. Sample #2 is as transferred CVD graphene. (2) Photoresist (AZ5214E) deposited,</li> <li>(3) Develop photoresist using AZ422, (4) Evaporate ohmic metal and lift-off</li> </ul>	102
3-4	AFM of the Graphene Surface After Processing: (a) AFM image (5 $\mu$ m × 5 $\mu$ m) of the graphene surface after standard processing (Sample #2). ( $R_a, R_q$ ) = (1.26,1.00) nm area shown in the dotted square. As reference, CVD graphene before processing on a SiO <sub>2</sub> surface is ( $R_a, R_q$ ) = (0.25,0.20) nm. (b) AFM of the graphene surface of Sample #1 is ( $R_a, R_q$ ) = (0.23,0.20) nm shown in dotted square. Raman data is	102
	shown in the inset for (a) and (b)	103

3-5 Electrical Characterization of Devices (a)  $I_D$  vs.  $V_{DS}$  for Samples #1 and #2.  $L_{DS} = 6 \ \mu m$ . Dirac point (symbol: \*) and  $n_p = 6 \times 10^{12} \ \mathrm{cm}^{-2}$ (symbol:  $\circ$ ). The inset shows  $R_{tot}$  for the two samples including the fitting from equation 3.9. (b)  $\mu_{FET}$  vs.  $L_{DS}$ , solid and dotted lines are fits from equation 3.8, (fit parameters,  $\mu_{Hall} = 1200 \ \mathrm{cm}^2 V^{-1} \ \mathrm{s}^{-1}$ ,  $R_C^{\#2}/R_C^{\#1} = 5.2$ ). (c) Conductance as a function of back-gate voltage for three values of temperature measured using a van der Pauw (VdP) geometry. The inset shows mobility fitting for data at 10 K. The fit estimates mobility values due to Coulomb impurities ( $\mu_{imp} = 3,500$  $\ \mathrm{cm}^2 V^{-1} \ \mathrm{s}^{-1}$ ) and short range scatterers ( $\mu_{sr} = 5.434 \times 10^{16}/n_p$ ) (d)  $\mu_{Hall}$  vs. temperature for various hole carrier densities in the range of 3 to  $9 \times 10^{12} \ \mathrm{cm}^{-2}$  (I= 0.1 mA, B = 0.3 T) for Sample #1 . . . . . 104

- Selected Area Diffraction Patterns using Transmission Electron Mi-3-7 croscopy (TEM) (a) Graphene/Ti (25 Å) showing a measured lattice constant ratio between  $a_{Ti}/a_G = 1.19$ . Red circles indicate graphene's first order diffraction spots. The white arrows indicate Titanium's diffraction spots. The zone axis of the electron beam [0001] and crystal orientation (hcp) is labeled in the lower right hand corner. (b) Graphene/Pd (25 Å) showing a measured lattice constant ratio between  $a_{Pd}/a_G$  is 1.61. Unlike Titanium where distinct diffraction spots can be identified, the random orientation of the palladium domains results in diffraction rings which are also labeled by white arrows. Diagrams of the electron beam orientation relative to the crystal orientation of the metal are included alongside (a) and (b). (c) Diagram of a schematic of the orientation between Titanium domains (domain shown schematically as a hexagon). A finite angular dispersion is included in the diagram due to the broadening of the diffraction spots in (a). The titanium domains are mainly oriented  $30^{\circ}$  relative to the graphene with a finite angular dispersion of  $\pm < 5^{\circ}$ . In contrast, (d) shows the formation of small nano-domains of randomly distribution Pd rotated around the [011] zone axis (domain shown schematically as a rectangle). Note that the domain sizes ( $\approx 4-5$  nm) are not drawn to

3-9 TEM taken of suspended graphene samples transferred by direct a transfer method after deposition of (a) 25 Å of Ti and (b) 25 Å of Pd. 113

3-11 Raman Ti effect on various other material sources HOPG, CVD graphene,
Epitaxial graphene (a) Raman of 5 nm of Ti evaporated on various graphene sources as labeled, (b) AFM after Ti deposition on CVD graphene and SiC quasi-free standing monolayer graphene (QF-mLG).
CVD graphene adhesion affects the puckering of the film due to the strain of CVD graphene, which is not as evident on QF-mLG. . . . . 117

- 3-13 In-situ synchrotron X-ray Photoemission Spectroscopy (XPS) spectra for the C1s core level taken at a photon energy of 600 eV: (a) Pristine quasi-freestanding graphene (QF-mLG) on SiC(0001) (bottom), the carbon chemistry is divided into two peaks (1) sp<sup>2</sup> bonded carbon due to graphene (red) and the carbon bonded to Silicon (light blue) from the substrate and in-situ XPS of 2 ML of Ti evaporated on QF-mLG. The carbon bonded in graphene undergoes a chemical modification shown by the arrow which is labeled in green (G-Ti). A small Ti-C peak at ~282 eV also appears in purple, while the intensity of the SiC substrate peak does not change. (b) in-situ XPS spectra of pristine graphene (bottom) and after 1.2 ML of Pd evaporated on QF-mLG (top).....
- 3-14 In-situ XPS spectra of (a) C1s (b) O1s and (c) Ti 2p energies of titanium on QF-mLG after deposition as well as after oxidation. Oxidation of the titanium was achieved by in-situ exposing the sample to 600L oxygen at a pressure of 2×10<sup>-6</sup> torr and subsequent annealing at 400°C for 5 minutes. Note the binding energies of the metallic titanium (c) are much lower than that of the oxidized titanium, thus supporting our assumption that the titanium deposited in-situ is in-fact mostly metallic Ti.

3-15 Density functional theory simulation of optimized equilibrium geometries. Top-down and side views of (a) 6-layer Ti(0001) on graphene, (b) 6-layer Pd(111) and (c) 5-layer Pd(110) on graphene. The primitive cell in each figure is highlighted in yellow. The equilibrium separation distance between the metals and graphene is represented by h. The dimensions of the unit cell are represented by a and b. For Ti(0001) and Pd(111), a = b, unlike the rectangular unit cell of Pd(110). . . . 122

- 3-17 Photoelectron intensity maps of graphene during titanium deposition onto quasi-free standing monolayer graphene (QFMLG) at 150 K (d) 0 ML of Ti, (e) 0.05 ML of Ti, (f) 0.12 ML of Ti. The diagrams (a),(b), and (c) are to show the Dirac cone that we are probing during the ARPES measurement as well as the expected modification to graphene's band structure during the deposition. The diagram in the upper left hand corner shows the surface Brillouin zone (SBZ) and the coordinate axis for  $k_x$  and  $k_y$ ..... 127
- 3-18 ARPES and XPS during Titanium Deposition (a) Energy Distribution
  Curves taken at the K-point of the BZ (b) XPS of Ti2p peak (c) C1s
  peak (d) Fitted Carbon Distribution: Graphene, SiC, Ti-graphene . . 129
- 3-20 ALD of Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> on CVD graphene (a) using H<sub>2</sub>O as the oxidizer at 250
  °C and (b) using isoproponal (IPA) as the oxidizer at 300 °C. . . . . 131

- 3-21 h-BN dielectric constant and graphene devices. (a) Average dielectric constant of an h-BN film depending on frequency, (b) Representative breakdown voltage measurement, (c) Schematic diagram of graphene device after h-BN integration. (d) I-V characterization of Bottom-gated (BG) and top-gated (TG) graphene device before and after h-BN integration. The dotted and solid lines indicate the experimental data and fitted data, respectively. V<sub>DS</sub> for all measurements is 1 volt. . . . 134

3-27 Graphene Circuit (a) Principles of ambipolar frequency doubling and schematic of the measurement circuit for the demonstration of graphene frequency multipliers. The inductor in the bias-tee at the drain isolates the DC power supply  $+V_S$  from the RF power at the drain by keeping the supply current relatively constant. The capacitor in the bias-tee blocks the DC voltage component at the drain and only allows RF power to be transmitted to the measurement equipment, which is either an oscilloscope or a spectrum analyzer. (b) Experimental demonstration of frequency doubling measured by an Agilent DSA90604A oscilloscope. The input is at 3 GHz. The output fundamental frequency is 6 GHz. DC bias:  $V_{DS}=2$  V. The gate is biased at  $V_{GS}=1.25$ V, slightly below the minimum conduction point (1.3 V), to compensate for the small asymmetry in the transfer characteristics and, hence, to improve the symmetry between the electron and hole conduction at the output. (c) Power spectrum of the output signal from the graphene frequency multipliers measured by an Agilent N9010A spectrum analyzer. The input is at 3 GHz. Frequency doubling is clearly visible. The signal power at frequency component  $f_{out} = 2f_{in} = 6$  GHz is about 10 dB higher than the signal power at frequency component  $f_{out} = f_{in} = 3$ GHz without any filtering. (d) Output power at the doubled frequency component  $f_{out} = 2f_{in}$  is plotted against the input power that has a frequency of  $f_{in}$ . The output power at  $2f_{in}$  increases with the input power with a slope of 2 when plotted on a logarithmic scale. Conversion  $Gain = P_{out, 2f_{in}}/P_{in, f_{in}}$  increases with input power up to 2 dBm. . . . 144

4-1	Spectral Radiant Emittance for Room Temperature blackbodies at 290	
	K, 300 K, and 310 K	149

- 4-6 Substrate and Temperature Dependence (a) Resistance-Gate Voltage measurements of the ambipolar graphene infrared thermocouple utilizing different infrared absorbers (ALD Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> on the left and PECVD SiN on the right) at various temperatures (100 K-300 K) (b) The Seebeck coefficients computed from the transport data in (a); for simplicity, we plot the dependence on one gate only, due to the symmetric behavior of the resistance maps. (c) The measured photo-voltage response for 5 values of temperature for each infrared absorber. The insets on the lower right corner show schematically where the line cuts were taken in the complete dual gate response at 300K.

5 - 1	$S_{MAX}$ as a function of $n_0$	173
5-2	Comparison of Seebeck Coefficient of Various Thermoelectric Materials	
	compared to Resistivity. The model assumed for graphene $n_0 = 5 \times$	
	$10^{-11} \ 1/cm^2$	175
5-3	Schematic of ideal thermal detector	175
5-4	D* as a function of $n_s$ assuming various mobilities	178
5-5	MEMS Device Process Flow, blue - represents the SiN, red is silicon	
	dioxide, orange are ohmic pads, gray - graphene sheet, green is ${\rm XeF}_2$	
	passivation	180

5-6	MEMS Diagram of Completed Membrane Structure. (a) Diagram and electrical schematic of device (b) SEM of device structure. Scale bar is 100 $\mu$ m, inset shows a zoomed in region of the membrane $\ldots$	181
5-7	Electrical and Optical Characterization of MEMS device (a) IV measurement utilizing $V_{M1-M2} = 25\mu V$ (b) measured photovoltage response. Input laser power was 1.6 mW. All measurements taken at 300 K	189
5-8	IR transmission of various device materials: PMMA, PE-CVD $SiO_2$ , Substrate Material (PE-CVD $SiO_2/SiN/SiO_2$ )	182
5-9	MEMS Graphene Thermopile before suspension(a) Schematic of MEMS device version 2 (b)Optical Micrograph of fabricated device before sus- pension	184
5-10	MEMS Graphene Thermopile after suspension (a) Optical Micrograph of fabricated device after suspension (b) SEM of completely suspended device	185
5-11	MEMS Graphene Thermopile - SEM of failed devices due to stress and cracking	186
5-12	MEMS Graphene Thermopile - (a) resistance measurement as a func- tion of $V_{G1}$ and $V_{G2}$ with $25\mu$ V excitation. (b) Responsivity Map of the device in (a) utilizing $P_{in} = 0.28$ mW. (c)Response of device in (a,b) as a function of modulation frequency ( $\omega$ - radians/sec)	187
5-13	Diagram of Basic Thermal Imaging System	188
5-14	Diagram of CMOS chip and graphene devices	190
5-15	Block level diagram (right) of the read out chip including the pixel select blocks (Row Select and Column Select (CS)) for multiplexing signals (MUX) to the SAR ADC. Clock (CLK) and Bias signals are also shown. Optical micrograph of chip (left) and circuit placement	191
	and shown. Optical increasing of emp (icit) and circuit placement.	101

- 5-19 Direct Sputtering of Metal (a) SEM of the structures after metal sputtering (b) AFM of the maN-2403 resist after exposure and development.195
- 5-20 Ion Milling (a) Optical micrographs of the Ti/Au after ion milling. (b)
  SEM of the structures in (a) after ion milling. Notice that the metal layers on top appear to have been etched through due to poor step coverage of the resist.
- 5-21 Sputtered Liftoff PMMA (a) SEM before lift-off of patterned e-beam resist and sputtered metal layer (10 nm Ti/ 30nm Au) (b) SEM of structure after performing lift-off (ultrasonic in Acetone for 2 minutes, power = 6). Note the fence structure surrounding the feature caused by the conformal deposition of metal along the side walls of the lift-off resist.

5-22	Sputtered Liftoff - $MMA/PMMA$ (a) SEM before lift-off of patterned	
	MMA/PMMA e-beam resist after sputtered metal layer (10 nm Ti/ $$	
	30 nm Au) (b) SEM of structure after performing liftoff (ultrasonic in	
	Acetone for 2 minutes, power $= 6$ ). Note there is a small plateau effect	
	that changes the patterned geometry slightly due to sputtered material	
	underneath the undercut	197
5-23	Graphene Transfer onto CMOS chip (a) SEM of Graphene transferred	
	onto the chip with only blow drying and no thermal reflow step (b)SEM	
	of Graphene transferred onto the chip after PMMA softening at 150	
	°C for 4 hours.	198
5-24	Optical Micrgraphs of completed graphene-CMOS integration	198
5-25	Spice Model for graphene based thermocouple	199
6-1	Graphene Optical Choppers (a) Multiple Layer Growth of Graphene	
	Layers (b) Final Structure	205
6-2	IR transmission of PEO (poly(ethylene) oxide).	206
6-3	Plasmonic Absorption in nano-patterned graphene (a) Diagram of Plas-	
	monic Absorber (b), (c) Colormap of maximum optical absorption as	
	a function of the ratio of the dielectric constants above and below the	
	graphene as well as angle of incidence for s and p polarized light. (d)	
	and (e) absorbance as a function of photon energy for various points	
	(1-6) labelled in (b) and (c)	207
6-4	Transparent Flexible Thermal Sensors (a) Schematic of Electrostati-	
	cally Controlled Thermal Sensor Devices (b) Chemically doped graphene-	
	based thermocouples	211

·

# List of Tables

1.1	Electronic Properties of Typical Semiconductors, $E_{gap}$ is the electronic	
	band gap, $v_{sat}$ is the saturation velocity, $E_{breakdown}$ is the breakdown	
	electric field, $\kappa_{th}$ is the thermal conductivity $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	54
2.1	Fitting Parameters for Figure 2-12. Mobility due to impurity scattering	
	$\mu_{imp}$ , the ratio of $n_{imp}/n_{defect}$ , and the sheet resistance $(R_{lim})$ assuming	
	only defect scattering as the carrier concentration $(n_s)$ goes to $\infty.$	80
2.2	Peak Positions from Figure 2-15 (b).	85
2.3	Table of Graphene Doping and Mobility comparing two substrates ${\rm SiO}_2$	
	and CVD $hBN/SiO_2$	90
2.4	Table of Doping and Mobility comparing $\rm SiO_2$ and CVD $\rm hBN/SiO_2$	
	substrates for graphene devices. All graphene samples were etched	
	using $\operatorname{FeCl}_3$	93
3.1	Extracted Contact Resistance $(R_C W)$ and Charged Impurity concen-	
	tration $(n_{imp})$ using Eq. 3.9 for Sample #1 and #2. Fitting parameters	
	for $n_{imp}$ are obtained from Eq. 3.9; $\mu_{Hall} = 1,200~(cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1})$	105
3.2	Calculated Adsorption energies $(E_{ads})$ , height above graphene surface	
	(h), and $\%$ strain on metal and graphene for 6L-Ti(0001), 6L-Pd(111),	
	and 5L-Pd(110) on graphene $(a_{lat}, b_{lat})$ .	122
3.3	Fitting parameters for the top and back gated h-BN/graphene devices	
	shown in Fig. 3-21 (d)	133

4.1	Comparison of $D^*$ for various infrared detection technologies [18]. The	
	spectral response of thermal detectors is determined by the window	
	material (ZnSe, Si, Ge, etc.)	151
5.1	Estimated parameters for D <sup>*</sup>	177
5.2	Optical Absorption at $\lambda = 10.6 \ \mu m$	183
5.3	Assumed Optical and System Imaging Parameters for the device in	
	Fig. 5-13	189
5.4	Computed NETD due to various optically absorptive substrates. In	
	addition, we have also computed NETD assuming the ideal calculated	
	D* from Figure 5-4 assuming approximately $\mu = 1000-5000 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ .	189
5.5	Table of SPICE parameters and inputs	200

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

Layered materials such as graphite, molybdenum disulfide, hexagonal boron nitride, are common materials that can be found in our everyday lives ranging from cosmetics to dry lubricants [19,20]. While much experimental, as well as, theoretical work has been done on these materials in the past in their bulk phase [21-26], it has been their recent single layer isolation [27] and their new-found electrical properties at the single atomic layer scale that has rejuvenated research interest in these and many other layered materials. The material that has triggered this exploration of two-dimensional (2D) materials by many research groups around the world, as well as in this thesis, has been that of monolayer graphite or graphene, which garnered the Nobel Prize in 2010 [28]. As a single atomic layer of material, graphene has demonstrated amazing material properties: ultra-high carrier mobility (>200,000 cm<sup>2</sup>V<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>) [29], large mechanical strength (55 N/m) [30], room temperature quantum hall effect [31], long range ballistic transport [32], and tunable optical absorption [33]. In addition, due to its unique band structure, analogues between condensed matter physics and relativistic physics can be studied in a single material. With all of these amazing properties, graphene has inspired both engineers and physicists alike to imagine new applications for such a unique material. Technologically, graphene's allotrope of the carbon nanotube has been around for decades with many of its own amazing properties [34-41]; however, the planar configuration of graphene has greatly simplified both the patterning and placement of this material such that conventional planar fabrication processes



Figure 1-1: Lattice Structure of Graphene

can be made compatible. This thesis aims to show contributions to the field by developing the technology of graphene from both a materials, as well as, a processing perspective with aims towards large area applications. Utilizing this technology, we aim to explore some unique applications for graphene for both high speed electronics as well as infrared/thermal imaging applications.

## 1.1 Graphene Theory

#### **1.1.1 Band Structure**

Graphene, as mentioned earlier, is a two-dimensional material composed of a hexagonal arrangement of sp<sup>2</sup> bonded carbon atoms as shown in Figure 1-1, where  $\vec{a_1}$ and  $\vec{a_2}$  compose the basis vectors of the Bravais lattice. Following Wallace [21] using a standard tight binding approach and using a linear combination of atomic orbitals (LCAO), we can derive graphene's electronic bandstructure. Following from Schrödinger's Equation for a single electron model(Eq. 1.1),

$$\left[-\frac{\hbar^2 \nabla^2}{2m_0} + V(\vec{r})\right] \psi(\vec{r}) = E\psi(\vec{r})$$
(1.1)
where E is the energy of the electron,  $m_0$  is the mass of an electron,  $\hbar$  is Planck's constant,  $\psi$  is the wavefunction of the electron,  $\vec{r}$  is position, and V is the spatial potential. Since we are sitting inside of a crystal, as a first approximation (using an LCAO approach), we make an estimate that the wavefunction of the electron inside the crystal is composed of a superposition of atomic orbitals centered at each lattice site (Eq. 1.2).

$$\psi(\vec{r}) = \sum_{\vec{R}} \sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i[\vec{R}] \phi_i(\vec{r} + \vec{R})$$
(1.2)

where  $\phi$  is the atomic orbital at each lattice site, and  $\vec{R} = n_1 \vec{a_1} + n_2 \vec{a_2}$  where  $n_1$  and  $n_2$ are integers, and  $c_i$  is a scalar weighting factor for each atomic orbital. If we assume that the potential takes the form  $V(\vec{r}) = V_0(\vec{r}) + \sum_{\vec{R}\neq 0} V_0(\vec{r} + \vec{R})$ , where  $V_0$  is the potential associated with the atomic orbital, we can rewrite Schrödinger's Equation (Eq. 1.3) as:

$$[H_0 + \Delta V] \sum_{\vec{R}} \sum_{i=1}^m c_{il}[\vec{R}] \phi_i(\vec{r} + \vec{R}) = E_l \sum_{\vec{R}} \sum_{i=1}^m c_{il}[\vec{R}] \phi_i(\vec{r} + \vec{R})$$
(1.3)

where we have defined  $H_0 = -\frac{\hbar^2 \nabla^2}{2m_0} + V_0(\vec{r})$  as the atomic orbital Hamiltonian and  $\Delta V = \sum_{\vec{R}\neq 0} V_0(\vec{r}+\vec{R})$  as a perturbation to the original atomic orbital's Hamiltonian due to the interaction with all of the neighboring lattice sites. Utilizing orthogonality between basis wavefunctions, we can write an expression for all the weighting coefficients (Eq. 1.4)

$$\sum_{\vec{R}} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \langle \phi_j(\vec{r}) | H_0 + \Delta V | \phi_i(\vec{r} + \vec{R}) \rangle c_{il}[\vec{R}] = E_l \sum_{\vec{R}} \sum_{i=1}^{m} c_{il}[\vec{R}] \langle \phi_j(\vec{r}) | \phi_i(\vec{r} + \vec{R}) \rangle \quad (1.4)$$

Due to the periodicity of the crystal, we can assume that the probability of finding an electron on each lattice site is equal; however, their weighting coefficients may only differ in phase (Eq. 1.5), where we introduce  $\vec{k}$  as the crystal momentum vector.

$$c_{il}[\vec{R}] = c_{il}e^{i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{R}} \tag{1.5}$$

Combining Equation 1.4 and 1.5, we have a general expression for computing the eigenstates for a single electron in graphene's crystal lattice (Eq. 1.6).

$$\sum_{\vec{R}} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \langle \phi_j(\vec{r}) | H_0 + \Delta V | \phi_i(\vec{r} + \vec{R}) \rangle c_{il} e^{i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{R}} = E_l \sum_{\vec{R}} \sum_{i=1}^{m} c_{il} e^{i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{R}} \langle \phi_j(\vec{r}) | \phi_i(\vec{r} + \vec{R}) \rangle$$
(1.6)

To illustrate more clearly how to compute the actual energies, we write this in a matrix form (Eq 1.7)

$$\begin{bmatrix} H_{1,1} & \cdots & H_{1,m} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ H_{m,1} & \cdots & H_{m,m} \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} c_1 \\ \vdots \\ c_m \end{bmatrix} = E \begin{bmatrix} N_{1,1} & \cdots & N_{1,m} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ N_{m,1} & \cdots & N_{m,m} \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} c_1 \\ \vdots \\ c_m \end{bmatrix}$$
(1.7)

where  $H_{i,j} = \sum_{\vec{R}} \langle \phi_i(\vec{r}) | H_0 + \Delta V | \phi_j(\vec{r} + \vec{R}) \rangle e^{i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{R}}$  and  $N_{i,j} = \sum_{\vec{R}} \langle \phi_i(\vec{r}) | \phi_j(\vec{r} + \vec{R}) \rangle e^{i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{R}}$ . If we assume a two atom basis of carbon  $p_z$  orbitals and only nearest neighbor interactions, Equation 1.7 reduces to a much simpler form (Eq. 1.8)

$$\begin{bmatrix} E_z - E & V_{pzpz} \left( 1 + e^{i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{R_1}} + e^{i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{R_2}} \right) \\ V_{pzpz} \left( 1 + e^{i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{R_1}} + e^{i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{R_2}} \right) & E_z - E \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} c_A \\ c_B \end{bmatrix} = 0 \quad (1.8)$$

where  $\vec{R_1} = -\vec{a_1}$  and  $\vec{R_2} = -\vec{a_1} + \vec{a_2}$  are the two nearest neighbors and  $V_{pzpz} = \langle \phi_A(\vec{r}) | \Delta V | \phi_A(\vec{r} + \vec{R_1}) \rangle = \langle \phi_A(\vec{r}) | \Delta V | \phi_A(\vec{r} + \vec{R_2}) \rangle$  is the overlap integral, which according to many experimental works is approximately 2.5-3.0 eV [42]. The solution to equation 1.8 yields the energy (E) versus crystal momentum ( $\vec{k}$ ) relationship (Eq. 1.9), which is plotted in Figure 1.2 (a), where  $E_z = 0$ .

$$E = E_z \pm V_{pzpz} |1 + e^{i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{R_1}} + e^{i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{R_2}}|$$
(1.9)

Because of this hexagonal arrangement of atoms and the symmetric two atom carbon  $p_z$  basis, there exists crystal momentum wave vectors  $(\vec{k})$  where the conduction and valence band of graphene are degenerate with respect to energy, which we denote as the  $\vec{K} = \frac{1}{a_G} \left( \frac{2\pi}{3}, \frac{2\pi}{3\sqrt{3}} \right)$  and  $\vec{K'} = \frac{1}{a_G} \left( \frac{2\pi}{3}, -\frac{2\pi}{3\sqrt{3}} \right)$  or Dirac points [43]. At low energies



Figure 1-2: (a) Band Structure (E vs.  $\vec{k}$ ) for Monolayer Graphene plotted from Eq. 1.9. (b) Density of States (g(E)) of graphene as a function of energy computed numerically from part (a)

 $(E \ll V_{pzpz})$  near the Dirac points, one can expand the bandstructure for graphene by expressing  $\vec{k}$  relative to the Dirac points  $\vec{K}$  and  $\vec{K'}$  in terms of  $\vec{q}$  (Eq. 1.10):

$$\vec{k} = \vec{K} + \vec{q} \tag{1.10}$$

The resulting new low energy Hamiltonian  $(H_q^{eff})$  written in terms of  $\vec{q}$  has a much simpler form (Eq. 1.11)

$$H_q^{eff} = \pm \hbar v_f (q_x \sigma^x \pm q_y \sigma^y) = \pm v_f \vec{\sigma} \cdot \vec{p}$$
(1.11)

where  $v_f = (3|V_{pzpz}|a_G)/(2\hbar)$  is the Fermi velocity  $1 \times 10^6$  m/s,  $\sigma^x = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ , and

 $\sigma^{y} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ . The corresponding eigenvectors of the system are represented by a two component spinor (Eq. 1.12):

$$\psi_{\vec{q}}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} e^{-i\theta_q/2} \\ \pm e^{i\theta_q/2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.12)

where  $\theta_q = tan^{-1} (q_x/q_y)$ . Utilizing this low energy approximation yields the traditional energy versus momentum dispersion relationship (Eq. 1.13) that has drawn so many analogues with relativistic mechanics.

$$E_{\pm}(\vec{q}) = \pm \hbar v_f |\vec{q}| \tag{1.13}$$

As we will see over and over again, a unique property of graphene is the large tunability of the Fermi Energy  $(E_f)$  as a function of charge carrier concentration  $(n_s)$ . Given equation 1.13, we can derive the relation between  $E_f$  and  $n_s$  (Eq. 1.14) as well as the density of states (g(E)) (Eq. 1.16) at 0 K:

$$n_s = \frac{d_{spin}d_{valley}}{4\pi} \frac{|E_f|^2}{(\hbar v_f)^2} = \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{|E_f|^2}{(\hbar v_f)^2}$$
(1.14)

$$E_f = \sqrt{(\hbar v_f)^2 \pi n_s} \tag{1.15}$$

where we have taken into account the degeneracy of both Dirac Cones  $(d_{valley} = 2)$  within the Brillion Zone, as well as, both spin orientations  $(d_{spin} = 2)$ .

$$g(E) = \frac{dn}{dE} = \frac{d_{spin}d_{valley}}{2\pi} \frac{|E|}{(\hbar v_f)^2} = \frac{2}{\pi} \frac{|E|}{(\hbar v_f)^2}$$
(1.16)

Figure 1-2 (b) shows the calculated density of states, which shows the expected linear relationship between density of states and energy for low energies ( $E \ll V_{pzpz}$ ). Figure 1.3 shows the plot of  $E_f$  vs.  $n_s$  in Eq. 1.14 showing the square-root dependence between carrier concentration ( $n_s$ ) and the Fermi Energy ( $E_f$ ) Level. This plot will have greater significance when we discuss the optical properties of graphene in 1.1.2.

#### **1.1.2 Optical Properties**

Since we explore the opto-electronic applications of graphene in this thesis, the first materials property of interest is the optical absorption of a monolayer of graphene. Utilizing, Fermi's Golden Rule, we can directly compute the optical absorption ( $\alpha = W_a/W_i$ ), which is the ratio of the absorbed power ( $W_a$ ) relative to the incident power



Figure 1-3: Variation of the Fermi Energy Level as a function of carrier density

 $(W_i)$ :

$$W_i = \frac{1}{2} n_r c \epsilon_0 E_0^2 = \frac{1}{2} n_r c \epsilon_0 \omega^2 A_0^2$$
(1.17)

where  $n_r$  is the relative refractive index, c is the speed of light,  $\epsilon_0$  is vacuum permittivity of free space,  $E_0$  is the incident electric field strength,  $\omega$  is the frequency of light in radians, and  $A_0$  is the vector potential of the incident electromagnetic field.

In our calculation of absorbed power  $(W_a)$ , we assume only vertical transitions between the conduction and valence band states (Eq. 1.18).

$$W_a = \frac{d_{spin} d_{valley}}{V} \hbar \omega \sum_{\vec{q_i}} \sum_{\vec{q_f}} \frac{2\pi}{\hbar} |\langle f| H_{int} |i\rangle|^2 \delta(2\hbar v_f |\vec{q}| - \hbar \omega)$$
(1.18)

where, i and f are the initial and final states, respectively, near the Dirac point, and  $H_{int}$  is the interaction Hamiltonian due to light-matter interactions. To compute  $H_{int}$ , we follow the traditional convention for light matter interactions and we replace

momentum  $(\vec{p})$  in Eq. 1.11 by  $(\vec{p} - e\vec{A})$ , where e is the charge of an electron, and

$$H_q^{eff} = v_f \vec{\sigma} \cdot (\vec{p} - e\vec{A}) \tag{1.19}$$

$$\vec{A}(t) = \frac{1}{2}\vec{A}e^{-i\omega t} + \frac{1}{2}\vec{A}e^{+i\omega t}$$
(1.20)

Following standard light-matter interactions of a classical particle in an electromagnetic field, we can rewrite  $H_{int}$  in Eq. refch1eq:Wa for only absorption processes; therefore, we only use one of the two complex sinusoids in the vector potential (Eq. 1.21)

$$H_{int} = -v_f \vec{\sigma} \cdot \frac{1}{2} e \vec{A} = -\frac{e v_f}{2} \vec{\sigma} \cdot \vec{A}$$
(1.21)

Utilizing our eigenstates from Equation 1.12, we can compute the interaction term  $\langle f | H_{int} | i \rangle$ .

$$\langle f|H_{int}|i\rangle = -\frac{ev_f}{2}[\langle f|\sigma_x A_x|i\rangle + \langle f|\sigma_y A_y|i\rangle] = -i\frac{ev_f}{2}[A_x sin(\theta_{\vec{q}}) - A_y cos(\theta_{\vec{q}})] \quad (1.22)$$

$$|\langle f|H_{int}|i\rangle|^{2} = \left(\frac{ev_{f}}{2}\right)^{2} \left[A_{x}^{2}sin^{2}(\theta_{\vec{q}}) + A_{y}^{2}cos^{2}(\theta_{\vec{q}}) - 2A_{x}A_{y}sin(\theta_{\vec{q}})cos(\theta_{\vec{q}})\right]$$
(1.23)

where  $\vec{q} = \vec{q_i} = \vec{q_f}$ . Combining Eq. 1.23 and Eq. 1.18, we can integrate over all possible transitions (Eq. 1.24) to obtain

$$W_a = e^2 A_0^2 \frac{\omega^2}{8\hbar} \tag{1.24}$$

Finally, combining Eq. 1.24 for  $W_a$  with Eq. 1.17 for  $W_i$ , we can compute the fraction of optically absorbed power (Eq. 1.25),

$$\alpha = \frac{W_a}{W_i} = \frac{e^2}{4\epsilon_0 c\hbar} = 2.29\% \tag{1.25}$$



Figure 1-4: Broadband Optical Absorption of Graphene in units of the fine structure constant  $(\alpha = \frac{e^2}{4\pi\epsilon_0\hbar c})$  [1]

in which interesting enough, the dependence on the photon energies disappears, resulting in an optical absorption dependent only on fundamental constants equal to 2.3%. This relation was confirmed experimentally by Mak, et al. and reproduced in Figure 1-4 [1,44]. This analysis is valid as long as we are at low enough energies  $(E \ll V_{pzpz})$  so that Equation 1.11 is valid.

However, in our previous calculations, we have assumed that  $E_f = 0$ , when the Fermi energy level is located between the conduction and valence bands. Unfortunately, the Fermi energy level can be modulated very easily by doping or electrostatic gating which can lead to Pauli Blocking. Equation 1.26 takes into account both the location of the Fermi Energy Level as well as the finite temperature due to Fermi Dirac Statistics.

$$\alpha_{inter}(\omega,T) = \alpha \left[ tanh\left(\frac{\hbar\omega + 2E_f}{4k_BT}\right) + tanh\left(\frac{\hbar\omega - 2E_f}{4k_BT}\right) \right]$$
(1.26)



Figure 1-5: Interband and Intraband Optical Absorption (a) Intraband absorption process caused by free carrier absorption and Interband absorption processes caused by vertical transitions between the valence and conduction band. (b) Simulated optical absorption processes in graphene following Eq. 1.26 and 1.27, assuming  $E_f = 0.1$  eV and  $\Gamma = 0.1$  eV.

In addition, we can also model the free carrier absorption  $(\alpha_{intra})$  with a Drude-like model with a phenomological scattering  $(\Gamma)$  or dampening term (Eq. 1.27).

$$\alpha_{intra}(\omega, T) = \alpha \frac{16ln(2)}{\pi} \left[ \frac{\hbar \Gamma k_B T}{(\hbar \omega)^2 + (\hbar \Gamma)^2} \right]$$
(1.27)

Therefore, the total optical absorption of graphene is just the summation of both the intraband and interband processes (Fig. 1-5). While the 2.3% absorption per layer has made graphene a viable candidate for transparent optical applications, this value of 2.3% is actually quite high considering this is only a single layer of material.

#### **1.1.3** Electronic Properties

In addition to optical properties of graphene, this thesis will also explore the electronic transport properties of graphene. To begin, we start with the general expression (Eq. 1.28) for the electrical conductivity ( $\sigma$ ), derived from the Boltzmann Transport Equation assuming the relaxation time approximation [45]:

$$\sigma = \frac{e^2 v_f^2}{2} \int g(E) \tau(E) \frac{\partial f(E, E_f)}{\partial E} dE$$
(1.28)

where  $\tau(E)$  is an assumed scattering rate and  $f(E, E_f)$  is the Fermi Dirac distribution function which depends on the Fermi energy level. For simplicity, we assume low enough temperatures  $(E_f >> k_B T)$  such that the derivative of the Fermi Dirac distribution can be approximated by  $\delta(E - E_f)$ . Therefore, in Equation 1.29, we can express the electrical conductivity in terms of an assumed scattering or relaxation lifetime:

$$\sigma = \frac{e^2 v_f^2}{2} g(E_f) \tau(E_f) = q n_s \mu \tag{1.29}$$

$$\mu = \frac{e^2 v_f^2}{|E_f|} \tau(E_f)$$
(1.30)

In graphene there are two dominant scattering mechanisms that we choose to consider: (1) Point defect or short range scattering ( $\tau_{defect}$ ) and (2) charged impurity or Coulombic scattering ( $\tau_{imp}$ ) [46].

We begin again by following Fermi's Golden Rule in order to estimate the dependence of the scattering rate on the carrier concentration:

$$\frac{1}{\tau_{defect}(E_{\vec{q}})} = \frac{2\pi}{\hbar} n_{defect} \frac{|V_0|^2}{(2\pi^2)^2} \frac{1}{\hbar v_f} \int_0^{2\pi} [1 - \cos(\theta_{\vec{q},\vec{k'}})] d\theta \int_0^\infty \delta(|\vec{q}| - |\vec{k'}|) |\vec{k'}| d|\vec{k'}| \quad (1.31)$$
$$\frac{1}{\tau_{defect}(E_{\vec{q}})} = n_{defect} |V_0'|^2 \sqrt{n_s} \tag{1.32}$$

Where  $n_{defect}$  is the density of defects or point scatters,  $V_0$  is the Fourier Transform of the potential due to a point scatterer which can be approximated in real space by a delta function, resulting in a constant potential in Fourier space. However in equation 1.31, the scattering time due to point defects is inversely proportional to the energy, which results in equation 1.32, where we have lumped together all of the proportionality constants into the new term  $V'_0$ .

The situation is more complex when we take into account slowly varying potential functions due to a Coulomb scattering potential from charged impurities, as now the Fourier transform of the potential  $(V_1)$  has a momentum dependence. A more detailed

derivation can be found in Ref. [46], while in equation 1.33, we show only the result.

$$\frac{1}{\tau_{imp}(E_{\vec{q}})} = \frac{n_{imp}|V_1'|^2}{\sqrt{n_s}}$$
(1.33)

where  $n_{imp}$  is the density of charged scatterers,  $V'_1$  is the Fourier Transform of the Coulomb potential. Unlike the case for point defects, the scattering time for charged impurity scattering is proportional to the square-root of the carrier concentration in the case of graphene.

Since the scattering time or mobility of graphene is due to both types of scatterers, we can use Matthiessen's Rule to write the total mobility  $(\mu)$ 

$$\frac{1}{\mu} = \frac{|E_f|}{qv_f^2} \left[ \frac{1}{\tau_{defect}} + \frac{1}{\tau_{defect}} \right] = \frac{1}{\mu_{imp}} + \frac{1}{\mu_{defects}}$$
(1.34)

where we have defined  $\mu_{imp} = K_{imp}/n_{imp}$  and  $\mu_{defect} = K_{defect}/(n_{defect}n_s)$  and we have assumed a constant of proportionality,  $K_{imp}$  and  $K_{defect}$  respectively. To illustrate the importance of this, we have plotted in Figure 1-6 the mobility for various graphene samples from the literature, as well as values measured here at MIT, to show how the carrier concentration strongly affects the measured mobility of graphene. These data will be discussed in more depth in Chapter 2 on materials growth, but it strongly suggests that there are limitations to the ultra-high carrier mobility of graphene at high charge carrier densities.

Looking at Eq. 1.34, we see that at relatively low carrier concentrations near the charge neutrality or Dirac point, the mobility of graphene can be considered to be independent of carrier concentration. Moreover, Eq. 1.29 also suggests that at low carrier concentrations, the conductivity of the film should go to zero; however, this is traditionally not the case [47]. Instead, we model graphene's conductivity near the Dirac point as a finite minimum carrier concentration  $(n_0)$ , such that by using a square root model, we can write the total carrier concentration  $(n_{tot})$  as [48].

$$n_{tot} = \sqrt{n_s^2 + n_0^2} \tag{1.35}$$



Figure 1-6: Mobility versus carrier concentration for a variety of graphene samples. Blue squares denote low pressure chemical vapor deposition (LPCVD) graphene on copper, red crosses denote ambient pressure (AP)CVD graphene grown on thin film nickel, magenta triangles denote epitaxial graphene grown on SiC-Si face, open circles denote exfoliated highly-oriented pyrolytic graphite on h-BN, green closed circles denote LPCVD Cu-G + thin oxidized aluminium, the continuous solid and dotted lines are fitting lines utilizing Eq. 1.34



Figure 1-7: Electrical Properties of Graphene. The carrier concentration dependence of the (a) electrical conductivity ( $\sigma$ ) and (b) sheet resistance ( $R_{sh}$ ) taking into account non-idealities such as finite carrier concentration  $n_0 = 1 \times 10^{11}$  (blue line) and  $1 \times 10^{12}$   $1/\text{cm}^2$  (dotted-red line), assuming a constant value of  $\mu = 10,000 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ V}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$ .

where  $n_s = 0$  corresponds to the Dirac point. Therefore, the conductivity of graphene is now written as Eq. 1.36

$$\sigma = q n_{tot} \mu \tag{1.36}$$

To show the impact of the finite carrier concentration that is actually observed in real samples at the Dirac point, we plot in Figure 1-7,  $\sigma$ , as well as  $R_{sh} = 1/\sigma$ , to show the impact that these parameters have on the conductivity that is actually achievable in real graphene samples assuming two different levels of non-ideal behaviors.

## 1.2 Graphene Synthesis

While only recently has the physics of these layered compounds been revisited, the thin film growth of these materials has been an ongoing research topic for the past 30-40 years [49–51]. Recent developments have been focusing mainly on achieving atomic layer control, as well as, large single crystalline sizes over large areas. In addition, as we have shown earlier, the electrical conductivity of graphene is sensitive to both its surrounding environment due to charged impurities as well as intrinsic

defects. Both of these factors are strongly dependent on the graphene production or synthesis method. Therefore, we will review three of the most common synthesis techniques for graphene films for electronic applications: (1) Mechanical Exfoliation (2) Epitaxial Synthesis and (3) Chemical Vapor Deposition (CVD).

#### **1.2.1** Mechanical Exfoliation

Mechanical exfoliation by cleaving bulk layered compounds is the most straightforward method to obtain a high quality single crystalline monolayer of graphene. By applying a sufficient force perpendicular to the plane direction such that the weak van der Waals forces between sheets can be overcome and then repeating this process over and over again, eventually a single atomic layer can be isolated and deposited onto a substrate for characterization [27, 52]. Novoselov et al. used an adhesive tape to peel off graphene layers [27]. They first prepared square highly oriented pryolytic graphite (HOPG) mesas with 20  $\mu$ m to 2 mm in length and then attached such samples to photoresist. Using the adhesive tape, graphite sheets were peeled off from the photoresist, still leaving single to few-layered graphene. These layers were finally brought onto a Si substrate by releasing the photoresist from the tape by an acetone treatment. This method is highly remarkable since not only was the graphene one atomic layer and micron sized, but also it opened up a simple strategy for preparing other 2-D mono-atomic layers, such as hexagonal BN and  $MoS_2$ . This technique in its simplicity has proven very effective for many research groups around the world and has enabled the wide-spread availability of these materials today. What is most remarkable has been the ease of visual identification of monolayer sheets. Due to the optical interference of visible light between graphene and the underlying 300 nm  $SiO_2$ substrate [2], graphene can be easily found using a standard optical microscope.

Figure 1-8 shows a picture of an exfoliated graphene flake. Typically, the flakes are in-homogeneous in thickness, as indicated by the highly reflective or white regions in Figure 1-8; however, the faintest colors can eventually be identified and confirmed by Raman spectroscopy and electrical transport measurements as monolayer graphene. The quality of this type of graphene for electronic measurements can be quite good



Figure 1-8: Picture of Exfoliated Graphene on top of 300 nm silicon dioxide [2,3]

in terms of number of defects; however, the carrier transport properties are degraded due to the surrounding environment for the graphene sample and due to its transfer onto silicon dioxide (SiO<sub>2</sub>). Therefore, more recently, work on transferring these flakes onto other exfoliated flakes of h-BN have shown values of  $\mu > 50,000 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$  due to the flat and passivated surface structure of h-BN [53].

While exfoliated monolayer graphene has been used primarily for physics experiments, from Figure 1-8, one can see from the in-homogeneity in flake thickness, as well as, from the small flake size that other techniques are needed to generate a largearea scalable process for monolayer graphene. Currently there are two predominate methods for synthesizing large area graphene: (a) Epitaxial graphene grown on SiC and (b) chemical vapor deposition (CVD) of graphene on metal catalysts. Each of these methods has their own advantages and disadvantages depending on the final application.

#### 1.2.2 Epitaxial Graphene

A route towards wafer scale graphene synthesis is the large area, epitaxial growth of graphene on single crystalline SiC. Since the graphene is directly prepared on this wide bandgap semiconductor material, it is ideally compatible with industrial semiconductor processes. A number of different polymorphs of SiC, either 6H-SiC with AB-stacking or 4H-SiC with ABC-stacking can be used for this type of epitaxial graphene growth. Both of these hexagonal forms of SiC have two different topmost layers along the c-axis, Si-face SiC and C-face SiC, which affect the morphology and quality of the resulting graphene [54, 55].

Van Bommel et al. first developed this method of graphene synthesis through the high temperature-annealing of SiC [56]. They found thin graphite layers formed after heating SiC between 1000 and 1500 °C in ultrahigh vacuum (UHV) below  $10^{-10}$  Torr. The synthesis process involves three steps [54, 57-59] the desorption of Si atoms from the SiC surface at high temperatures, subsequent surface reconstruction to a C-rich surface, and the formation of a conformal graphene layer initiated from islands at step edges. The critical step in the synthesis process is controlling the desorption rate of Si from the SiC surface. A single crystalline graphite layer is typically observed on the Si-face SiC, while in contrast, the C-face SiC shows a poly-crystalline graphite layer with various in-plane orientations with respect to the lattice underneath. This difference between the two faces also results in changes in the electrical performance of the graphene [60]. While the C-face yields typically multiple graphene layers, the measured mobility of the graphene appears to be nearly intrinsic, limited by electron-phonon scattering rather than by defects and extrinsic factors. Si-face epitaxial graphene, on the other hand, can be only 1 to 2 layers, but due to the interfacial buffer layer, Si-face epitaxial graphene has lower mobilities than for the C-face, with mobility values similar to those of HOPG on silicon dioxide.

Epitaxial graphene growth on top of SiC has advantages in electronics applications by directly preparing high quality graphene on a semiconductor material at a wafer scale. In spite of this merit and high compatibility with the present Si-based process, there are some obstacles for industrializing this technique for graphene production. First, in terms of production cost, this process is expensive. Not only is the price of a single crystalline SiC wafer quite expensive, but also only specific versions of SiC, 4H-SiC (0001) or 6H-SiC (0001), are suitable for graphene growth [61–64]. To address this problems, much work has been done on growing graphene on thin films of



Figure 1-9: Surface Reconstruction of Epitaxial Graphene on a SiC surface.

SiC deposited on top of Si substrates as a cheaper alternative [65–71]. Furthermore, the epitaxial process usually requires either UHV or a very high process temperature (>1000 °C) which are not suitable for back-end integration. Furthermore, the formation of a buffer layer inbetween graphene and the SiC can have detrimental effects on the mobility of graphene, typically leading to relatively low mobilities  $\sim$ 1000 cm<sup>2</sup>V<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>; however, recent research on the hydrogen intercalation [72, 73] of graphene has shown that the buffer layer formed is actually a single monolayer of graphene that can be decoupled from the substrate resulting in both higher mobility and higher quality epitaxial graphene (Fig. 1-9).

#### **1.2.3** Chemical Vapor Deposition of Graphene

Another method for large area growth is the CVD method using transition metal surfaces like Cu or Ni foils. These transition metals have traditionally been used as a catalyst to mediate the formation of  $sp^2$  bonded carbon, such as graphite or carbon nanotubes (CNT) [23, 74–78]. The chemical structure of the metals contain partially filled d-orbitals which lower the activation energy for the formation of carbonaceous species [79–82]. The general process to synthesize CVD graphene includes four steps: (1) hydrogen annealing, (2) introduction of a carbon source (i.e. CH<sub>4</sub>), (3) carbon surface reconstruction or dissolution of C into the metal, and (4) cooling. The hydrogen annealing step aims to increase the metal grain size and to remove any native oxides. Subsequently, during the growth step at 800-1000°C, a graphene layer forms



Figure 1-10: CVD Graphene Growth and Transfer (a) Growth Kinetics of CVD graphene growth [4](b) Synthesis, etching and transfer process for CVD Graphene [5]

on the metal surface. The mechanism of formation depends strongly on the carbon solubility of the metal catalyst. When synthesizing graphene using high carbon solubility substrates, such as nickel, the nickel becomes saturated with carbon, which naturally precipitates out upon cooling as a thin graphene layer [83]. Conversely, utilizing a low carbon soluble metal, such as copper, leads to a surface-limited growth producing highly uniform monolayers [84]. Finally, after graphene is synthesized on the metal substrate, the graphene can then be transferred onto any target substrate by selectively etching away the metal catalyst.

Figure 1-10 shows a rough outline of the growth and transfer process. Due to the simplicity of this technique and the relative ease of integration with any arbitrary substrate, it is this type of graphene that is the focus of this thesis. More in depth details about the material synthesis, material quality, and transfer optimization will be discussed in Chapter 2. While the CVD process is much simpler than that of epitaxial graphene and has similar material quality to that of HOPG, the mobility of CVD graphene suffers not as much from the material synthesis as it does from the transfer process - the optimization of which will also be discussed later in Chapter 2.

	Si	AlGaAs/	InAlAs/	SiC	AlGaN/	Graphene
		InGaAs	InGaAs		GaN	
$E_{gap}$ (eV)	1.1	1.42	1.35	3.26	3.49	0 (MLG)
						0.25
						(BLG)
$\mu \ (cm^2 V^{-1} s^{-1})$	1500	8500	5400	700	1500	>100,000
$v_{sat}$ (×10 <sup>7</sup>	1.0	1.3	1.0	2.0	1.3	4
cm/s)						
$E_{breakdown}$	0.3	0.4	0.5	3.0	3.0	-
(MV/cm)						
$\kappa_{th}$	1.5	0.5	0.7	4.5	> 1.5	1.6-20
$(Wcm^{-1}K^{-1})$						

Table 1.1: Electronic Properties of Typical Semiconductors,  $E_{gap}$  is the electronic band gap,  $v_{sat}$  is the saturation velocity,  $E_{breakdown}$  is the breakdown electric field,  $\kappa_{th}$  is the thermal conductivity

# **1.3** Graphene Applications

#### **1.3.1 Radio-Frequency Applications**

As we have mentioned earlier, the extremely high mobility of graphene, while enabling long length ballistic transport at room temperatures [32], has attracted a lot of attention by device engineers looking towards new channel materials for the next generation of electronics. Table 1.1 shows a comparison between the electronic properties of graphene relative to other standard semiconductors. While much attention has been focused on graphene as a replacement material for silicon, the lack of a band gap prevents graphene from being used for digital switching applications. However, that does not preclude the use of graphene for other electronic applications such as radio frequency (RF) or analog electronics applications, where signal amplification does not require a clear off state. In addition, the large hole and electron mobility is also unique since in the case of many materials (such as InSb or GaAs), due to k-p coupling or band repulsion, the effective mass of electrons is typically smaller than the effective mass of holes due to the large density of states from the heavy and light hole bands.

As opposed to digital applications, where we examine the large signal analysis, for



Figure 1-11: (a) Basic Schematic of Graphene Field Effect Transistor (G-FET) (b) Small Signal Model for G-FET including parasitic capacitances.

utilizing graphene for high frequency RF applications, we first look at creating a small signal model for a graphene-based field effect transistor (FET). Utilizing Eq. 1.36 for the electrical conductivity in combination with the effect of electrostatic gates, we can express the drain-source current through the Graphene FET as

$$I_{DS} = q \frac{W}{L} \mu \sqrt{n_s^2 + n_0^2} V_{DS}$$
(1.37)

$$n_s = \left| \frac{C_{ox,t}}{q} V_{GS} - n_{Dirac} - \frac{C_{ox,b}}{q} V_{BS} \right|$$
(1.38)

where  $V_{DS}$  is the voltage between the drain and the source,  $I_{DS}$  is the current between drain and source,  $C_{ox,t}$  is the capacitance of the top gate oxide,  $C_{ox,b}$  is the back gate oxide capacitance, and  $V_{GS}$  and  $V_{BS}$  are the voltages between the gate and source and backgate and source respectively. The expression in Eq. 1.37 is assumed to be in the triode regime of operation, as is common for graphene. Due to the lack of a band gap, a high field region of depleted charge is difficult to form at the drain contact  $(V_{DS})$ . Using Eq. 1.37, we can derive a small signal model for a G-FET to analyze its use for high frequency applications.

Figure 1-11 shows the basic wiring for a graphene field effect transistor including

voltage terminals.  $V_D$  and  $V_S$  are the drain and source voltages. The  $V_G$  and  $V_B$  are the top gate and back gate voltages, while  $C_{ox,t}$  and  $C_{ox,b}$  are the top and bottom oxide capacitances. Typically, for RF devices,  $V_B$  is usually tied to  $V_S$ , such that we can ignore both the backgate transconductance  $g_{mb}$ , and the capacitances associated with  $C_{sb}$ . Therefore, the two main device small signal parameters to compute are the transconductance  $(g_m)$  and the output resistance  $(r_0)$  shown in Equations 1.39 and 1.40.

$$g_m = \frac{\partial I_{DS}}{\partial V_{GS}} = q \mu \frac{W}{L} V_{DS} \frac{C_{ox,t}}{q} \frac{n_s}{\sqrt{n_s^2 + n_0^2}}$$
(1.39)

$$\frac{1}{r_0} = \frac{\partial I_{DS}}{\partial V_{DS}} = q\mu \frac{W}{L} \sqrt{n_s^2 + n_0^2} \tag{1.40}$$

Therefore, if we look at a figure of merit such as the intrinsic short circuit current gain  $(f_T)$ , where we short the drain to source and bulk, we find that the maximum frequency that this device can operate at is written in Equation 1.41

$$f_T = \frac{g_m}{2\pi C_{tot}} = \frac{W}{L} \frac{C_{ox,t}}{C_{tot}} \mu V_{DS} \frac{n_s}{\sqrt{n_s^2 + n_0^2}} \approx \frac{W}{L} \frac{C_{ox,t}}{C_{tot}} \mu V_{DS}$$
(1.41)

where  $C_{tot} = C_{gs} + C_{gd} + C_{gb}$  is the total summation of gate to source, gate to drain, and gate to backgate capacitances. We also see that for large mobility materials for which high  $f_T$  can be achieved, since the frequency is directly proportional to the mobility of the channel material for long channel devices. As we scale the gate length of these devices to shorter dimensions, the speed of the device eventually becomes limited by the saturation velocity  $(v_{sat})$ , which for graphene is much higher than other conventional semiconducting materials.

The first GFET [27] was fabricated on a  $SiO_2/Si$  substrate. The 300-nm-thick  $SiO_2$  was used as a gate dielectric, and its thickness was chosen for imaging singleand few-layer graphene. At the same time, the heavily doped Si substrate underneath served as a back-gate to modulate the conductivity of the graphene channel. This structure is the most commonly used in physics experiments due to its simplicity,



Figure 1-12: The blue data represent frequency performance after de-embedding pad capacitances, while the red data denotes the extrinsically measured  $f_T$  plotted as a function of gate length for various reports including values from this thesis.

but it is certainly not ideal for RF applications because of the thick gate dielectric and large parasitic capacitances introduced by the conductive substrate ( $C_{gb}$ ). The first GFET with a top-gate was fabricated by Lemme [85] in 2007, and Meric [86] demonstrated the first GFETs with high frequency current-gain and 1/f dependence on frequency in 2008, basically starting the field of graphene RF devices. Since then, the performance of RF GFETs has quickly improved. IBM [15] demonstrated the first RF GFET with sub-micrometer gate length in late 2008. With an  $L_G$  of 150 nm, the device achieves an  $f_T = 26$  GHz after de-embedding the co-planar waveguide (CPW) parasitics. HRL reported RF GFET with an  $f_T = 4.4$  GHz with a gate length of 2  $\mu$ m using graphene grown on SiC in 2009 [16]. In 2010, researchers in IBM reported  $f_T$  of 100 GHz using graphene on SiC with a gate length of 240 nm [11], and in the same year, a UCLA group fabricated a GFET using a nanowire gate that gave an  $f_T$ of 300 GHz [12]. These results are summarized in Figure 1.12 showing work including our own as we will discuss later on in Chapter 3.

#### **1.3.2** Opto-electronic Applications

While work on graphene initially explored electronic applications, other applications, such as opto-electronic applications, have also begun to appear. Probably the most



Figure 1-13: Comparison of optical transmission of graphene and other transparent conductive materials versus sheet resistance [6]

significant impact has been that of graphene for transparent conductive electrode applications as a replacement for indium tin oxide (ITO).

#### **Transparent Conductive Electrodes**

Given our analysis previously, monolayer graphene absorbs a constant 2.3% of incident light spanning the visible and infrared spectrum.

Therefore, stacking various layers of monolayer graphene can achieve relatively transparent films with a high conductivity (Fig. 1-13). Sheet resistance ranges of 10-100  $\Omega$ -sq are shown in Fig. 1-13 and are expected to have a superior performance relative to other technologies, such as ITO or silver nanowire meshes. In addition, graphene's flexible nature, relative earth-abundance, and low cost are attractive reasons for pursuing graphene as a future replacement for ITO.

#### **Photodetectors** [6, 7, 87–91]

While graphene is considered to be relatively transparent compared to other materials, graphene is a material that can absorb 2.3% of the incident light across only a thickness of 0.35 nm, the actual optical absorption corresponds to an extremely high value of  $\sim 33.7 \times 10^4$  cm<sup>-1</sup> [92]. Coupled with its ultra-high carrier mobility



Figure 1-14: Graphene Photodetector utilizing asymmetric metal combinations demonstrating detection at 10 GBit/s (a) Schematic of Device (b) Measured Response - more details can be found in Ref. [7]

and broad band optical absorption, there has been a lot of interest in using graphene as a photodetector. Recently, by utilizing asymmetric metal contacts, to create a metal-graphene-metal Schottky junction, graphene has been demonstrated to have an internal quantum efficiency of 15%. Using the built-in field created by the metal junctions, IBM has demonstrated >10GBit/s data transmission utilizing >16 GHz detection at  $\lambda = 1.55 \mu m$  shown in Figure 1-14. While most work has focused on the visible, it is the longer wavelengths (i.e. the mid-IR), where less is presently understood, that is the topic of Chapters 4 and 5 of this thesis. However, while graphene's built-in field has been the source of charge separation, more recent work has also suggested that in addition to photo-voltaic effects, thermo-electric effects may also be occurring in graphene [90,91]. This source of ambiguity plays a critical role for evaluating the performance of graphene as a photodetector in the infrared and will be clarified in more depth in the physical detection mechanism in Chapter 4 of this thesis.

# 1.4 Thesis Overview

While there are numerous applications already identified and many new ideas for graphene, in this thesis, we will mainly be focusing on electronic RF applications and IR detection utilizing graphene-based detectors. The first half of this thesis is dedicated towards the development of the graphene itself and related technologies to provide a robust toolbox for graphene applications. In Chapter 2, we will focus mainly on the material quality and on the metrology of our starting graphene. The motivation and goal of this thesis is to develop a stable and robust fabrication technology, which after many trials and tribulations is only possible through careful material metrology of the starting material. Furthermore, we introduce device structures utilizing large area CVD h-BN, including again material characterization of h-BN as well as its integration with large area CVD graphene. Chapter 3 explores the device processing side of graphene with an emphasis of graphene field effect transistors for RF frequency applications. We will discuss some of the fundamental issues of processing graphene and our contributions related to contact resistance as well as an in-depth analysis of graphene-metal interactions. The second half of this thesis is devoted towards developing graphene as an infrared detector for thermal imaging applications. Chapter 4 discusses the fundamental physics and background of infrared detection presenting experimental work on clarifying the fundamental detection mechanisms in the infrared (IR) at  $\lambda = 10.6 \mu m$ . We discover that in the mid-infrared, thermoelectric effects are the dominant detection mechanisms making graphene a unique temperature sensor. Therefore, Chapter 5 is dedicated to estimating the performance of graphene based IR sensors and demonstrating improved sensitivities through thermal engineering of the device. In addition to improving the overall sensitivity of our detectors, we also demonstrate in Chapter 5 the development of a focal plane array of monolithography integrated graphene detectors onto a complementary metal oxide semiconductor (CMOS) chip and we discuss the fabrication and integration issues related to this back end of the line process. Finally, Chapter 6 briefly discusses future work as well as other exciting applications areas utilizing graphene for infrared imaging and thermal sensing applications that are beyond the scope of this thesis.

# Chapter 2

# CVD Graphene - Large Area Materials Development

While graphene's predominance amongst the scientific community is closely correlated with the simple sample preparation by exfoliation, the technological interest in graphene has really stemmed from the development of large area synthesis techniques. As mentioned earlier, two techniques have been developed for electronic applications: (1) Epitaxial graphene on SiC and (2) Chemical Vapor Deposition (CVD) graphene on metallic catalyst surfaces. While we have mentioned in Chapter 1 the advantages and disadvantages of both techniques, for this thesis, we focused primarily on CVD graphene for its ease of integration with a variety of substrates that will become more clear in the following sections and chapters. However, because the preparation of CVD graphene was still in its relatively nascent stages at the start of this thesis, a large amount of time was spent better characterizing and bench marking the large area CVD graphene before being able to develop a robust processing platform for device applications. This includes work, not only optimizing growth and synthesis of these films, but also controlling the Fermi energy level within graphene and minimizing external charged impurities.

Therefore, this chapter will cover various metrology techniques including scanning electron microscopy, Raman spectroscopy, and Hall effect measurements of our CVD graphene to better characterize our starting material. At the end of this chapter, we will also discuss the materials development of large area hexagonal boron nitride with our CVD graphene as a platform for high-carrier mobility substrates.

# 2.1 Graphene Synthesis

The graphene grown in this thesis primarily stems from graphene grown by chemical vapor deposition on copper foils following from X. Li, et al [93]. While previously, CVD graphene was grown utilizing thin films of Ni as a catalyst material [5,83], the lower solubility of carbon within Cu leads to a surface limited growth unlike Ni, where carbon and Ni form a solid-solid super-saturated solution that precipitates carbon or graphene upon cooling. Figure 2-1(a) shows a basic schematic of our low pressure growth chamber (<1 Torr). Graphene growth normally consists of 3 stages (Figure 2-1(b)): typically during the first stage, the metallic foil is pre-annealed at 1000 °C with H<sub>2</sub> to reduce any native oxides on the copper surface. After the pre-annealing stage, methane is introduced into the system to initiate the graphene growth process. Finally after the graphene growth reaches steady state conditions, the sample is then cooled down back to room temperature and the copper foil is removed and ready for transfer off of the copper surface.

#### 2.1.1 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

In order to rapidly identify the material quality before transfer of the film, scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was utilized to directly image the graphene on the surface of the Cu foil. This allowed for direct examination of the graphene nucleation density and verification that the graphene films had grown to full completion.

Figure 2-2 shows the growth and nucleation of graphene flakes on the copper surface after different durations of time. The graphene samples are grown for a specific amount of time inside of the furnace and then are rapidly cooled to suspend the growth process, thereby freezing the graphene structure in place. This is done traditionally when evaluating a new growth condition to determine roughly the domain size of the graphene (5-8  $\mu$ m), as well as, the necessary time to grow a sample to completion



Figure 2-1: (a) Basic Schematic of the CVD Growth Chamber, where mass flow controllers (MFC) for methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) and hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>) gas regulate the flow rates to control the total pressure within the quartz tube as the gas is being exhausted to a dry scroll pump. (b) Typical diagram of the graphene growth conditions. (1) Pre-Annealing occurs at 1000 °C under a hydrogen environment to remove any surface oxides, (2) Growth occurs when methane, introduced as the carbon source, decomposes to form atomic carbon on the copper surface. (3) After growth reaches steady state conditions, the sample is then rapidly cooled and taken out of the furnace for transfer.



Figure 2-2: Scanning Electron Microscopy of Graphene Growth on Cu Foil as a function of Time (t<sub>0</sub>): 1 min, 5 min, and 30 minutes, the black scale bar in the lower left hand corner is equal to 4  $\mu$ m. After 1 minute, the light gray background is the copper surface, while the gray flakes are graphene. The center of the graphene flake does show the formation of a bilayer in the center - represented by the darker center of the flake. After completed growth for 30 minutes, and cooling, wrinkles formed by the coefficient of thermal expansion mismatch between graphene and the copper begin to appear.



Figure 2-3: SEM image of continuous graphene after growth, showing how surface particles can prevent the proper completion of the graphene film, leaving behind gaps in the graphene film. Scale bar here represents 1  $\mu$ m.

(10-20 minutes). While we mentioned that carbon has a low solubility within Cu, yielding a surface dominated growth regime, there are still many nucleation sites that can actually yield bilayer graphene domains which are represented by the darker spots located in the center of the monolayer domain. Other sources of non-idealities during growth that can occur include the formation of wrinkles due to the coefficient of thermal expansion mismatch between graphene and the copper [93].

In addition to the previously mentioned imperfections, a lack of complete growth or discontinuous graphene was another common issue that often led to inconsistent material quality. As we will discuss in the next chapter on device fabrication, the graphene on the surface is often exposed to dilute bases commonly found in many photoresist developers, which can etch away the underlying substrate through any small defects or holes in the graphene thereby causing the film to delaminate. While normally etching <1 nm of the substrate material does not impede standard device



Figure 2-4: Variety of surface pre-treatments (30s each) to the copper foil to improve the uniformity of graphene growth on copper. (a) Acetic Acid (b) Hydrochloric Acid (c) Cr etchant (d) Nitric Acid

processing, for only van der Waals bonded materials, any substrate etching can automatically release the film causing it to peel off. Figure 2-3 shows an SEM image of some of these discontinuous regions where a collection of particles on the surface - possibly surface contaminates - appeared to agglomerate near the boundaries of the graphene growth front, resulting in an incomplete growth. To discover if these impurities were due to the copper or to the growth system, we implemented a series of copper pre-treatments on the copper foil prior to the growth of graphene to get rid of any surface contamination that might be present during the manufacturing of the copper foil, which was purchased from Alfa-Aesar (Fig. 2-4).

### 2.2 Graphene Transfer

As we have mentioned before, perhaps one of the greatest strengths of CVD graphene is its ability to be transferred onto any arbitrary substrate. However, this ability is also CVD graphene's greatest weakness. As we have shown earlier in Chapter 1,

the mobility of graphene ( $\mu$ ) is strongly affected by the density of charged impurities  $(n_{imp})$ . Unfortunately, the most reliable and reproducible transfer process has been that of wet transfer. An outline of the process is illustrated in Figure 2-5. (1)Graphene is first grown on flat copper foils. Since the copper foil is not sitting on a carrier during growth, graphene is actually grown on both sides of the flat copper foil. (2) poly(methyl methacrylate) or PMMA is spun (thickness  $\sim$  300-500 nm) on one side of the copper foil to serve as a mechanical support during transfer. The backside graphene is typically etched off by a reactive oxygen etcher to ensure rapid etching of the underlying copper, as well as, to prevent any re-adhesion between the bottom and top layers of graphene. (3) The copper substrate is then etched off in a wet chemical process using copper etchant typically composed of FeCl<sub>3</sub>; however, due to residual Fe nano-particles left over, the samples are then etched additionally in HCl to remove any residual metal particles. (4) Finally the graphene is then transferred onto a separate bath of  $Di: H_2O$  to rinse away any residual ions and acids before being scooped and transferred onto the target substrate, which for testing/visualization purposes is 300 nm of thermally grown silicon dioxide [2]. (6) Finally, the PMMA support layer is removed through a solvent clean, as well as, a high temperature (300-350 °C) annealing under forming gas  $(Ar/H_2)$  - (400/700 sccm) to remove any residual  $sp^3$  bonded carbon.

However, while the graphene basal plane is relatively inert and stable in this transfer process, the use of acids and ions can leave behind some amount of residual doping in the graphene sample due to adsorbed molecules. Therefore, chemical doping is often the root cause of non-intentional doping of the graphene sample, which can not only introduce a large number of  $n_{imp}$ , but also can affect the minimum carrier concentration or  $n_0$ . These effects will become more critical when we discuss the performance of electronic and opto-electronic devices in the following chapters. In this section, we will discuss a variety of transfer treatments and their impact onto residual doping of the graphene. For these experiments, we utilize Raman spectroscopy as a fast non-contact method for characterizing our graphene samples before device fabrication.



Figure 2-5: Wet Chemical Transfer Process for graphene (1) CVD graphene grown on copper grows on both sides of the foil. (2) A single side of graphene is protected using PMMA as a mechanical support layer. The backside graphene is often exposed to a reactive oxygen plasma to prevent the graphene on the backside from adhering to the PMMA protected graphene during removal of the Cu substrate. (3) The copper is etched away utilizing Transene Cu etchant and diluted with HCl:DIH<sub>2</sub>O leaving behind a graphene/PMMA stack floating on top of DI water. (5) This G/PMMA film is scooped out of water by the final target substrate and nitrogen dried to remove any excess water between the graphene and the substrate. The PMMA is heated to its glass transition temperature (150 °C) to ensure the proper bonding and relaxation of the graphene/PMMA film and to smooth out any imperfections or surface features in the copper foil during transfer. (6) Finally the PMMA is removed by acetone and IPA and if necessary can be thermally annealed in H<sub>2</sub>/Ar (400/700 sccm) at 350 °C to induce thermal decomposition of the PMMA into volatile carbon fragments. The final sample is a graphene layer on a SiO<sub>2</sub>/Si substrate.

#### 2.2.1 Raman Spectroscopy

Raman Spectroscopy is a nonlinear optical process where excited electron-hole pairs undergo scattering with phonons and recombine, resulting in a frequency shift (Raman shift) of the emitted light. This nonlinear optical process has proven to be a valuable tool for analyzing various materials, but especially important for carbon based nanomaterials such as carbon nanotubes or graphene [94]. While there are numerous Raman related papers exploring the physics and identification of various phonons modes within graphene, the three most commonly analyzed modes (D,G, and 2D shown in Figure 2-6) have become a gold standard for characterizing graphene quality. The Raman process associated with the D peak is shown in Figure 2-6 (a), where the transition consists of both a phonon  $(1350 \ 1/cm)$  and a defect in order to conserve momentum and energy. Therefore, the intensity of the D peak is often associated with point like defects  $(n_{defect})$  such as lattice defects or grain boundaries [95]. Another relevant peak for graphene metrology is that of the G peak. This process is associated with the  $\Gamma$  optical phonon ( $E_{ph} = 200 meV$ ) which exhibits a Raman shift of ~ 1580-1600  $\text{cm}^{-1}$ . This vibrational mode is extremely useful for quantifying the chemical doping within graphene as shown in Figure 2.7. Excess carriers within graphene can cause stiffening or softening of the carbon-carbon bond resulting in a shift of the peak position of the G peak. Finally, the 2D peak results from a double resonant process between the 2 Dirac Cones (K and K') within the Brillioun zone of graphene. For metrology purposes, the width or lineshape of the 2D peak can be used as a characterization tool for the differentiation between monolayer and Bernal-stacked bilayer graphene, as well as, another metric for identifying the doping level within graphene [96,97]. A typical Raman spectrum for graphene is shown in Figure 2-6(d) with the corresponding peaks (D,G, and 2D) labeled. While our interest is mainly in a rapid quality assessment of our graphene after transfer, we primarily investigate the G peak position as a metric of the doping level within graphene. The G peak position for undoped graphene is typically  $1585 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  [8].

As we have mentioned previously, there are a variety of factors that can dope



Figure 2-6: Dominant Raman Scattering Processes in Graphene: (a) D peak (b) G peak (c) 2D peak. The blue arrow signifies the incoming optical photon, the red is the photon shifted after scattering or interacting with a phonon within the material. Various transition can occur not only within a single Dirac cone, but can also occur between Dirac cones, such as the D and 2D peaks. The shift of the exciting light is dependent on certain phonon modes of graphene and lead to discrete peaks in the Raman spectra.[6] (d) Raman Spectra of graphene after background removal. Blue shows the measured data, and the red line shows the automatic Lorentzian fitting to the peaks.



Figure 2-7: Electrochemical gating of graphene and the resulting shift of the G peak position as a function of doping. The solid blue line is from theory, while the dots are experimentally measured values. [8]

graphene during transfer: the acid or etchant to remove copper, any substrate pretreatments, and the removal process for the PMMA. Any excess doping from these steps can dramatically impact our electrostatic control of the graphene channel. Therefore, to address these issues, we ran a series of experiments listed in Figure 2-8 looking at the average G peak position as well as the variation in the G peak position for a variety of transfer conditions.

As shown in figure 2-8, utilizing polycrystalline graphene (PCG) with a domain size typically of 5-10  $\mu$ m, we tried a series of experiments focusing on three main parameters: (1) Substrate Treatment of the SiO<sub>2</sub> (Bare, Asher (TRL-Asher 800 W for 1 Hour), OTS (octadecyltrichlorosilane) (dip coating), Pirahna/RCA (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>:H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> 1:3 for 10 minutes), (2) Type of Copper Etchant (FeCl<sub>3</sub>, ammonium persulfate (APS)), (3) PMMA removal process (Acetone or Annealing in H<sub>2</sub>/Ar environment for 2 hours). All Raman data was taken under ambient conditions utilizing a 532 nm excitation laser for 100 randomly chosen points across the sample. After all of these experiments, we find that the G peak position for almost all of the process conditions results in graphene relatively heavily doped (G pos ~ 1600 1/cm = 1 × 10<sup>13</sup> 1/cm<sup>2</sup>) except


Figure 2-8: All Samples were polycrystalline graphene (PCG), APS = ammonium persulfate, OTS = octa-decyltri-chloro-silane, RCA =  $H_2O_2:H_2SO_4$  1:3, FeCl = Iron Chloride (FeCl<sub>3</sub>), Ash = Oxygen Plasma 800W for 1 Hr. The square is the average G peak position, while the line is the variation in G peak position over 100 data points.

for the OTS treated substrate (G pos ~ 1590 1/cm =  $5 \times 10^{12}$  1/cm<sup>2</sup>). The main difference between the OTS treated substrate and the others is the increased hydrophobicity of the SiO<sub>2</sub> [98]. Traditionally, treatments such as Pirahna and reactive ion etching (Asher) are known to make silicon dioxide much more hydrophilic. While hydrophilic substrates are often much easier to transfer onto, the hydrophobicity of the substrate appears to be the dominant contribution to the extrinsic doping of the graphene.

This strongly suggests that the water during transfer may contain some residual ions or adsorbed material that might be trapped during transfer. Because of this possibility, we optimized our graphene transfer by increasing the rinse time of our samples in DI:H<sub>2</sub>O water to help wash away any chemical residues during step 4 of our transfer process (see Fig. 2-5). While Raman spectroscopy is an extremely useful tool for rapid characterization, in order to fully quantify our material quality, electrical characterization and device fabrication are still necessary.

### 2.2.2 Hall Effect

In addition to optical techniques, we also developed a rapid characterization process for electrically quantifying the graphene doping and mobility. Figure 2-9 shows the device process flow. (1) Utilizing pre-patterned Ti/Pt electrodes fabricated by photolithography, we can create an entire wafer of ohmic pads for contacting graphene. (2) While in the second step, we transfer graphene onto these electrodes. By utilizing a four point probe geometry, issues such as contact resistance can become nullified, since the probes injecting the current are no longer used to measure the voltage drop. (3) After graphene transfer, a combination of methyl-methacrylate (MMA) and photoresist (Fujifilm OCG-825) are utilized as an etch mask since the electron beam resists appear to leave behind less residues on the graphene surface than optical photoresists. (4) The photoresist (OCG) is patterned by photolithography on top of MMA/graphene stack. This serves as an etch mask as both the MMA/graphene are then etched by reactive oxygen etching. (5) The MMA/OCG stack is then removed by solvents (acetone and isoproponal). The greek-cross structure shown in the topdown profile in Figure 2-9 was chosen due to its scalability for smaller geometries as opposed to the standard square geometry which can often result in large errors due to ohmic alignment with the graphene mesa [99, 100].

The sheet resistance  $(R_{sh})$  of these devices is measured utilizing the van der Pauw (vdP) method [101,102], while the Hall voltage  $(V_{hall})$  is measured under a fixed magnetic field (B). Equation 2.1 and 2.2 show how from these two measurements both carrier concentration  $(n_s)$  and carrier mobility  $(\mu_{hall})$  can be extracted. Graphene devices were measured in ambient conditions on a custom built Hall-effect probe station with a permanent Neodynium Magnet ~0.3 T (shown in Figure 2-10). The injected current (I) was set to 0.1 mA and typical device dimensions ranged from 5-100  $\mu$ m in size. Hall characterization has an advantage over field effect characterization due to the ability to measure both the carrier concentration and Hall mobility simultaneously. In addition, field effect characterization requires good electrostatic control of the Dirac point, which is often limited by the breakdown electric field of the dielectric (solid gate dielectrics limit the maximum measurable doping to ~ 6 × 10<sup>12</sup> 1/cm<sup>2</sup>). However, as we have shown with our Raman spectroscopy estimates, values for doping can easily exceed 1 × 10<sup>13</sup> 1/cm<sup>2</sup>:

$$V_{hall} = \frac{IB}{qn_s} \tag{2.1}$$

$$R_{sh} = \frac{1}{q n_s \mu_{hall}} \tag{2.2}$$

To double check and confirm our Raman measurements, we fabricated devices based upon our previous Raman treatments (Fig. 2-11). As expected, only the OTS (self-assembled monolayer) treated substrates are able to achieve low doping  $(1-2 \times 10^{12} \text{ 1/cm}^2)$ . As a comparison, we also measured Hall devices fabricated from single crystalline domains (SCG) of graphene. Our polycrystalline domain size was only 5-10 microns and the device placement was completely random, whereas, large single domain graphene was grown following reference [103] to increase the domain size of the graphene to >100  $\mu$ m. SCG was chosen to ensure that each device was fabricated within a single domain of graphene, thereby avoiding any grain boundaries.



Figure 2-9: Hall Device Process Flow. (1) Ti/Pt (10 nm/20 nm) are deposited onto a thermally grown silicon dioxide substrate. (2) Graphene is then transferred ontop of these electrodes. (3) an MMA/OCG positive mask is spun on and then patterned by photolithography. (4) Reactive oxygen etching is performed to electrically isolate the graphene devices. (5) Solvent cleaning is used to remove the MMA/OCG mask. The figure in the bottom right hand corner shows a top-down diagram of the complete graphene device.



Figure 2-10: Solidworks Rendering of the home built Hall Effect Probe Station, utilizing a 0.3-0.4 T permanent magnetic. The fabricated Hall probe station allows for both +/- magnetic fields by easily flipping the magnet upside down.

However in the end, we did not find any correlation between the types of graphene (PCG or SCG) and doping level.

Previously in Chapter 1, we mentioned that for various types of dopants (defects vs. charge impurity scattering) the mobility of graphene can depend on the carrier concentration. Looking holistically at all of our devices that were tested and fabricated, we can fit equation 1.34 to our data plotted in Figure 2-12 ( $\mu$  vs  $n_s$ ) for various graphene samples including ambient pressure CVD graphene from Nickel [83], epitaxial Graphene Si-Face [60], HOPG on h-BN [53], LPCVD Cu Graphene + Al(ox) [10, 48], monolayer graphene on silicon dioxide [104] (Table 2.1). Unfortunately, due to the inhomogeneity in samples from CVD graphene grown from nickel, we were unable to fit equation 1.34 to this data set.

Figure 2-12 shows that our graphene quality is quite good as compared to epitaxial graphene from the Si-face; however, at high carrier concentration  $(n_s > n_{imp}/n_{defects})$  we begin to see a predicted roll off in the carrier mobility. This roll off at high doping



Figure 2-11: Hall Mobility versus Carrier Concentration for various sample treatments. PCG = polycrystalline graphene, SCG = single crystalline graphene, APS = ammonium persulfate, OTS = octa-decyltri-chloro-silane, hBN utilized in this experiment is monolayer hBN grown on copper by CVD [9]. The black dotted line denotes a slope of -1 which corresponds to  $\mu \propto 1/n_s$ 



Figure 2-12: (a) Mobility versus carrier concentration for variety of graphene samples. Blue squares are LPCVD-Cu graphene, red crosses are APCVD-Ni graphene, magenta triangles are SiC-Si face, open circles are HOPG on h-BN, closed green circles are LPCVD Cu-G + Al(ox). (b) Sheet resistance as a function of carrier concentration - however the magenta triangle is monolayer graphene on thermally grown silicon dioxide. The continuous black lines represent the fitting from Eq. 1.34.

Material	$egin{array}{c} \mu_{imp} \ (\mathrm{cm}^2\mathrm{V}^{-1}\mathrm{s}^{-1}) \end{array}$	$n_{imp}/n_{defect}$	$R_{lim} (\Omega$ -sq)
LP-CVD CuG	5000-10000	2-4	313-625
LP-CVD CuG + Al(ox)	4962	0.9	1449
HOPG-hBN	48000	2	62.5
SiC - Si Face	44828	0.02	-
APCVD NiG	-	-	-

Table 2.1: Fitting Parameters for Figure 2-12. Mobility due to impurity scattering  $\mu_{imp}$ , the ratio of  $n_{imp}/n_{defect}$ , and the sheet resistance  $(R_{lim})$  assuming only defect scattering as the carrier concentration  $(n_s)$  goes to  $\infty$ .

levels is perhaps better shown when plotting the  $R_{sh}$  vs.  $n_s$  of the samples. As we dope the sample more heavily, graphene's ultimate sheet resistance begins to saturate due to the short range scatterers caused by  $n_{defects}$ . This has great implications for applications requiring graphene for transparent conductive electrodes. While we can dope graphene very heavily, we eventually will be unable to lower  $R_{sh}$  indefinitely due to short range scattering events to which  $R_{lim}$  is sensitive.

However, after comparing our CVD graphene samples from copper to those of HOPG [104] and epitaxial graphene, we find that the carrier mobility of CVD graphene is quite comparable to that of HOPG. However, what does appear to make a large difference is the introduction of a thick hexagonal boron nitride layer [53]. Therefore, in addition to improving the intrinsic graphene itself and associated transfer techniques, work done in collaboration with Dr. Ki Kang Kim was carried out to find ways to integrate large areas of hexagonal boron nitride with our large area CVD graphene.

## 2.3 Hexagonal Boron Nitride

Since the initial demonstrations of hexagonal boron nitride as an ideal substrate for two-dimensional materials such as graphene [53], there has been a lot of interest in developing new synthesis techniques for large area hexagonal-boron nitride. Hexagonal boron nitride (h-BN) has a very similar crystal structure to that of graphene, except that instead of having a 2 atom carbon basis, the basis set now consists of a B and a N atom [105]. The strong dipole or ionic bond between B and N leads to the formation of a wide band gap material ( $E_{gap} \sim 5.78 \text{ eV}$ ). This material has many similar properties to graphene - amazingly high thermal conductivity and mechanical strength. In addition, due to its 2D nature and fully passivated surface, this insulator serves as a remarkable substrate for 2D materials [53], enabling higher quality carrier transport by providing an extremely flat and uniform surface, thus reducing any effects due to ripples or wrinkles in the graphene.

While high quality graphite or HOPG is readily available, the same cannot be said of boron nitride. Motivated by the direct wide band gap properties of h-BN, work done by Watanabe, et al. have explored various routes for synthesizing this material [106]. Initial work focused on utilizing high temperatures >1500 °C and 5.5 GPa to achieve the synthesis of cubic BN, as well as, recrystallized h-BN from h-BN powders utilizing barium [106]. However, continuing upon their work at high temperatures and pressures, they also found that nickel could serve to dissolve h-BN, leading to the formation of recrystallized h-BN [107]. Synthesizing high quality crystals at both high temperatures and pressures is obviously very difficult; therefore, work done by Kubota et al. [108], thus demonstrated a slightly more accessible process for the formation of high quality h-BN by adding molybdenum to the metal solvent (Ni) to increase its nitrogen solubility, thus allowing ambient pressure synthesis. Consequently they were able to recrystallize and precipitate h-BN domains typically hundreds of microns in size [108]. It is currently this sole method that has provided the h-BN for many reports in the literature [53].

Since then much work has been done to produce similar quality crystals over larger areas similar to graphene [109–111]. Shi et al, demonstrated a low temperature synthesis route utilizing ambient pressure conditions using a gas precursor borazine  $(B_3N_3H_6)$ , a similar precursor to benzene, to form polyborazylene, which upon annealing up to 1000 °C recrystallizes into h-BN on nickel thin films and then is transferred to a target substrate. Other chemical vapor deposition techniques have also been attempted, for example, utilizing ammonia borane  $(NH_3-BH_3)$  on copper results in the thermal catalytic decomposition of ammonia borane onto a copper surface forming h-BN thin films [110].



Figure 2-13: Scanning Electron Microscopy of Large Area hexagonal boron nitride synthesized on Iron foils from Dr. Ki Kang Kim.

### 2.3.1 h-BN Characterization

Recently, work still under investigation here at MIT has shown that high quality large area h-BN can be synthesized by CVD methods on iron foils. Utilizing a similar growth system as shown in Figure 2-1(a), and increasing the growth temperature up to 1100 °C, borazine ( $B_3N_3H_6$ ) is introduced with the iron foil at low pressures (~1 Torr). The striking feature is that after synthesis relatively large domains (>10  $\mu$ m) in triangular crystals are observable on the surface that completely cover the entire foil as shown in Figure 2-13 of an SEM image taken directly after synthesis of the h-BN, suggesting relatively thick hBN (>15 nm) which is advantageous as a substrate for graphene.

To better quantify the quality of our h-BN, we performed basic materials characterization of these h-BN films. h-BN has a Raman active mode that coincidentally sits very close to that of graphene's D peak ( $1350 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ ) caused by an in-plane optical phonon mode ( $1370 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ ) [24]. Therefore, similar to our graphene samples, we can



Figure 2-14: Raman Spectroscopy of Large Area CVD Hexagonal Boron Nitride (a) Optical Micrograph of CVD h-BN, (b) Raman Map of Peak Intensity of the h-BN peak. (c) Histogram of the h-BN Raman Peak Position. Scale Bar Indicates 10  $\mu m$  for both (a) and (b).

also examine the Raman active mode of our h-BN substrate as a first confirmation of its material quality.

Figure 2-14 (a) shows the optical micrograph of the h-BN transferred onto silicon dioxide substrates. For the transfer of h-BN off of the iron foil, we followed similar transfer procedures as for graphene. PMMA was used as a supporting material and the underlying Iron was etched off utilizing HNO<sub>3</sub>. The h-BN in Figure 2-14 (a) shows that there is some thickness inhomogeneity in our h-BN films. After performing a Raman scan over the same area, we automatically fit a Lorentzian peak to the Raman data and we plot the peak height in Figure 2-14 (b). The thicker regions show a much stronger Raman intensity, as to be expected. We can also plot the peak position of the Raman peak. If we look at the distribution of the data over the mapped region, we find that the average peak position for the in-plane Raman mode is 1366 cm<sup>-1</sup>, which agrees quite well with the bulk values of 1370 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The small discrepancy between our measured values and the bulk value in the literature could be attributed to strain due to the relatively thin films of h-BN. Unfortunately, unlike the D peak of graphene, the in-plane mode of h-BN does not provide us with much information about the defect density of the h-BN sample.

In order to quantify the quality of the large area h-BN, more sophisticated tech-



Figure 2-15: Cathodeluminescence of CVD h-BN taken at 5K using an Attolight integrated SEM + CL option. (a) Local CL data from the h-BN sample showing some high quality regions emitting light at an energy of 5.777 eV or 214.6 nm (b) Potentially some color centers exist within the hBN suggesting some trap states located at 3.837 eV, 4.262 eV, 4.981 eV, and 5.489 eV.

niques are necessary. Therefore, utilizing a modified scanning electron microscope for cathodeluminescence (CL) measurements, we can excite electron-hole pairs in large band gap materials by directly injecting electrons into the material and collecting the emitted light. For these experiments, we worked with a commercial CL-SEM tool from Attolight. Measurements were carried under vacuum conditions (<  $10^{-5}$  mbar) at both 5K and 300K utilizing a 5 keV electron beam with an emission current of approximately 120  $\mu$ A. Figure 2-15 (a) shows a localized CL (cathodeluminescence) spectrum measured from one of our CVD h-BN samples transferred onto silicon dioxide. Figure 2-15 (a) shows that high quality h-BN is achievable using this method as we see a relatively sharp peaks at 5.78 eV (or 214.6 nm) which agrees well with values in literature [106, 108]. However, we do find that in certain regions of the sample a much larger intensity and broader CL emission background is often measured. The peak positions are listed in Table 2.2. The emission peaks located near 4 eV have traditionally been associated with impurities and structural defects, perhaps due to nitrogen vacancies or carbon impurities [112]. As for the peaks near 5.5 eV associated with defects, the origin of these peaks is debatable. Due to the strong in-plane binding energy in two dimensional materials, the peaks at both 5.78 and 5.5 eV are often attributed to excitonic peaks in hexagonal boron nitride, suggesting an even larger

Peak Number	Energy (eV)	Wavelength (nm)
1	3.837	323.1
2	4.262	290.9
3	4.981	248.9
4	5.489	225.9
5	5.773	214.7

Table 2.2: Peak Positions from Figure 2-15 (b).

direct band gap energy than that measured by CL [106, 108, 112].

After basic confirmation by Raman and CL characterization of the material quality, our actual interest in the h-BN material is still for its electronic properties. Therefore, in order to evaluate the electrical performance of CVD h-BN synthesized by Fe, we first measure the vertical (normal to the planar direction) electrical transport properties of this material (1) relative dielectric constant ( $\epsilon_r$ ) and (2) Breakdown Electric Field  $(E_{MAX})$ . These properties not only provide further material characterization of the synthesized h-BN, but are also important for many groups that are interested in utilizing CVD h-BN not only as a substrate material for graphene, but also as a two-dimensional tunneling barrier or integrated gate dielectric for 2D layered materials [9, 53, 113-115]. To measure the electrical performance of our material, we fabricated Metal-Insulator-Metal (MIM) capacitors. Figure 2-16 (a) shows a schematic of the device we used. First non-oxidizing metal electrodes (10 nm Ti/ 20nm Pt) were patterned by lift-off using electron-beam lithography onto a  $1 \mu m$  thick thermally grown silicon dioxide wafer. Then CVD h-BN was transferred on-top as the gate dielectric through by protecting the CVD h-BN with PMMA and etching away the iron substrate using commercial iron etchants. The second metal electrode (50 nm Pd) is deposited on-top forming a cross-bar structure. 50 nm of Pd was chosen as the top electrode as a low stress metal to avoid delamination of the underlying h-BN. Furthermore, the thick 1  $\mu$ m thermally grown SiO<sub>2</sub> wafer was chosen to help minimize the parasitic capacitance between the pads and the silicon substrate underneath.

Figure 2-16 (c) shows the current density (J) versus applied electric field ( $E_{DS}$ ). Devices were measured at room temperature under vacuum conditions in a Lakeshore VPX Cryoprobe station utilizing an Agilent Semiconductor Parameter Analyzer (4155C).



Figure 2-16: h-BN Electrical Characterization (a) Schematic of Metal-h-BN-Metal Capacitor and Electrical Breakdown Measurements. (b) AFM of fabricated Devices showing etched regions used to determine the thickness of the h-BN. (c) J versus  $E_{DS}$  for the measured devices. Inset shows the  $E_{MAX}$  as a function of various thicknesses of h-BN.

The electric field was computed by measuring the thickness  $(t_{h-BN})$  of the h-BN for each device. The thickness was determined by atomic force microscopy (AFM) after patterning and etching the h-BN under a standard CF<sub>4</sub>/O<sub>2</sub> (40 sccm/4 sccm) at 198.8 W at 10 mtorr in a reactive ion etcher (NEXX-RIE). The lower Ti/Pt electrode served as a natural etch stop for the plasma etching. All devices measured for electrical breakdown consisted of a 1  $\mu$ m × 1  $\mu$ m overlap of electrodes. We defined a breakdown current at ~ 10<sup>-5</sup> A/cm<sup>2</sup>, which corresponds to a raw current of 0.1 pA, this current is seen in Figure 2-16 (c) as just being above the noise floor of our measurement system. In total, 20 devices were measured for breakdown. The inset in Figure2-16 (c) shows the  $E_{MAX}$  for varying thickness of the device. The typical thickness that we were able to achieve was ~8-15 nm of h-BN with a  $E_{MAX} \sim 2-4$ MV/cm. This value is within reasonable measurements for h-BN [116]. The lower breakdown value, as we will discuss later, we believe to be due to the wrinkles and defects in the h-BN after transfer.

Utilizing similar devices except for a larger 2  $\mu$ m × 2  $\mu$ m overlap ( $A_{device}$ ), we also measured the capacitance of the devices and utilized similar techniques for measuring the thickness ( $t_{h-BN}$ ) to convert the measured capacitance into a relative dielectric constant ( $\epsilon_r$ ). Utilizing, an Agilent Impedance Analyzer (4294A), we measured the small signal capacitance ( $C_{meas}$ ) as a function of input frequency (100 Hz to 100 kHz) utilizing a 50 mV input signal with zero DC applied bias (Fig. 2-17). For most devices, we found that the capacitance was relatively constant as a function of input frequency and for the data shown in Fig. 2-18, we chose to look at  $C_{meas}$  only at a fixed input frequency of 1 kHz. After measuring many devices (N=61), we actually compensated for parasitic capacitances ( $C_{par}$ ) by looking at the capacitance as a function of h-BN thickness. Following equation 2.3, where  $\epsilon_0$  is the vacuum dielectric permittivity, we obtained

$$C_{meas} = \frac{\epsilon_r \epsilon_0 A_{device}}{t_{h-BN}} + C_{par}$$
(2.3)

Therefore, looking at many of the relatively thick devices, we actually extracted



Figure 2-17: Capacitance as a function of Excitation Frequency. Left axis the is extracted capacitance per unit area, while the right axis is the ratio between a modeled series capacitance  $(C_s)$  and the measured parallel capacitance  $(C_p)$ . Low values of the ratio  $C_s / C_p$  imply a low current leakage in the devices.



Figure 2-18: h-BN Electrical Characterization (a) Capacitance as a function of the h-BN thickness  $(t_{h-BN})$  (b) Histogram of the dielectric constant for the 61 samples.

a typical  $C_{par} \sim 15$  fF. Since most of this parasitic capacitance is in parallel with our device, we subtracted this parasitic value from our data set before computing the relative dielectric constant. The extracted dielectric constant for 61 devices is shown in Figure 2-18 (b). The average range of relative dielectric constants range from 2-6, which is consistent with expected values [9]. The large range or distribution, we also believe is due to the varying thickness of hBN. This was seen previously in Figure 2-16 (b), which shows an AFM image of the capacitor, where wrinkles are clearly observable within the device. From the above electrical characterization (Capacitance and Breakdown Electrical Field), the CVD h-BN is sufficient for utilization as a gate dielectric material and has good vertical electrostatic integrity.

### 2.3.2 h-BN + Graphene Integration

However, a major application for h-BN is as a passivated surface for use in conjunction with graphene and other 2D materials. Recently, exfoliated h-BN [29] has resulted in high performance devices but only has a limited spatial coverage; therefore, we also measured the performance of large area CVD graphene integrated with our large area CVD h-BN over mm length scales. For this study, large area CVD h-BN was transferred onto standard 300 nm thermally grown silicon dioxide wafers. After transfer, large area single crystalline graphene (SCG) was grown with a typical domain size >100  $\mu$ m. As a control reference, the same CVD graphene was also transferred onto a reference  $SiO_2$  wafer. Multi-terminal devices were then fabricated from each sample to avoid any contact resistance artifacts in the measurements. Optical micrographs of the completed device are shown in Figure 2-19(a). The typical channel width (W) and length (L) are 1.5  $\mu$ m and 2  $\mu$ m, respectively. The inset shown in Figure 2-19 (a) is an AFM scan of the device after fabrication. The rough topology is believed to be due to the multiple transfer of films as has been seen for work done for multiple transfers of graphene used for transparent conductive electrodes. Utilizing a 4 terminal measurement of the devices, with a  $V_{DS} \sim 100$  mV, we measured the conductance  $(\sigma)$  of our channel as a function of applied backgate  $(V_{BG})$  to the conductive silicon at 300 K. Representative  $\sigma$  vs  $V_{BG}$  plots are shown in Figure 2-19 (b). The CVD

Substrate	$egin{array}{c c} n_{dirac} \ ( imes 10^{12} 1 / { m cm}^2) \end{array}$	${\mu_p \over ({ m cm}^2 { m V}^{-1} { m s}^{-1})}$	$\begin{array}{c} \mu_n \\ (\mathrm{cm}^2 \mathrm{V}^{-1} \mathrm{s}^{-1}) \end{array}$	Number of Devices
$SiO_2$	$1.31 \pm 0.41$	$6091 \pm 1252$	$5494 \pm 1256$	18
CVD h-BN/SiO <sub>2</sub>	$0.71 \pm 1.27$	$7490 {\pm} 4773$	$4407 \pm 3230$	44

Table 2.3: Table of Graphene Doping and Mobility comparing two substrates SiO  $_2$  and CVD hBN/SiO  $_2$ 

graphene on CVD h-BN shows a much sharper Dirac cone than for the CVD graphene samples on SiO<sub>2</sub>, which indicates a more uniform graphene sample with regards to charged impurities in the substrate. The hole and electron mobility ( $\mu_p$  and  $\mu_n$ ) was extracted from the peak slope following the equation 2.4:

$$\mu_{n,p} \cong \frac{1}{C_{ox}} \frac{d\sigma}{dV_{BG}} \tag{2.4}$$

where  $C_{ox}$  is assumed to be capacitance per unit area of the underlying substrate (300 nm SiO<sub>2</sub>). Due to the increased thickness of the substrate gate dielectric due to thin layers of h-BN, these extracted values are actually underestimates of the actual mobility values.

In addition, we also extracted the backgate charge neutrality point  $(V_{CNP})$  or the Dirac point for the device and converted it into a charge carrier concentration (Eq. 2.5) as a measurement of the intrinsic doping of the samples. The extracted hole mobility  $(\mu_p)$  and  $n_{dirac}$  for both of the substrates (CVD h-BN and SiO<sub>2</sub>) are plotted in Figure 2-19 (c). A summary of the device performance is included in Table 2.3.

$$n_{dirac} = \frac{C_{ox}}{qV_{CNP}} \tag{2.5}$$

Consistently, on average the doping of the CVD graphene on CVD h-BN is lower than the reference SiO<sub>2</sub> sample, which we believe is due to the low number of dangling bonds found on the CVD h-BN surface. This lower number of dangling bonds also appears to translate over to the mobility measurements ( $\mu_n$  and  $\mu_p$ ) of CVD graphene. While there is a large variance of CVD graphene quality, we are still able to find many devices with mobility > 10,000 cm<sup>2</sup>V<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>, with potentally a peak value of ~ 24,000 cm<sup>2</sup>V<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>. Due to the large variation in devices on h-BN, the average electron



Figure 2-19: Graphene and h-BN Integrated Devices (a) Optical Micrograph of CVD Graphene integrated on top of CVD h-BN (b) Conductance as a function of backgate voltage  $(V_{BG})$ . (c) Extracted Hole Mobility as a function of Shift of Dirac Peak  $(n_{dirac})$ 



Figure 2-20: AFM images of various devices showing the connection between the mobility and the uniformity. Scale bar is equal to  $1 \ \mu m$ .

mobility  $(\mu_n)$  of graphene on h-BN is actually lower than graphene on silicon dioxide; however, the achievable peak mobility value still remains higher on graphene on h-BN than SiO<sub>2</sub>. It is expected that the large distribution in values is related more to the quality of graphene transfer rather than the variations in the material quality of the h-BN. We investigated many of the high performance and low performance devices and find that large bubbles and non-homogeneity during transfer appear to smear out the conductance curves resulting in a lower extracted mobility (Figure 2-20). With improved transfer techniques in the future, we believe higher and more consistent mobility values can be achieved; however, the current h-BN is indeed already useful as a large area substrate for graphene electronics.

As an additional comparison, we also measured devices utilizing different transfer conditions (annealing vs. acetone), substrates (OTS vs. h-BN vs. SiO<sub>2</sub>) and various types of graphene (PCG vs. SCG), to see if there was any measurable effect. Figure 2-21 shows the extracted field effect hole mobility for a variety of devices as function of  $n_{dirac}$ . Similar to before, we see that the OTS treated substrates serve a similar role in reduction of doping; however, we do find that the doping after device fabrication and measured under vacuum at room temperature in a Lakeshore cryoprobe station show a significantly lower doping than our ambient measured Hall devices. Table 2.4

Type	Substrate	Transfer	$n_{dirac}$	$\mu_p$	$\mu_n$	Ν
			$(\times 10^{12} 1/cm^2)$	$(cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1})$	$(cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1})$	
PCG	$\mathrm{SiO}_2$	Anneal	$1.68 {\pm} 0.28$	$3690 \pm 1448$	$3102 \pm 1369$	30
SCG	${ m SiO}_2$	Anneal	$1.31 \pm 0.41$	$6091 \pm 1252$	$5494 \pm 1256$	18
SCG	CVD h-	Anneal	$0.71 \pm 1.27$	$7490 \pm 4773$	$4407 \pm 3230$	44
	$BN/SiO_2$					
PCG	$SiO_2$	Acetone	$1.50 {\pm} 0.13$	$4259 \pm 1816$	$3666 \pm 1660$	30
SCG	$SiO_2$	Acetone	$1.62{\pm}0.46$	$6397 \pm 1095$	$5301 \pm 1312$	24
SCG	CVD h-	Acetone	$1.07 \pm 1.30$	$7076 \pm 3647$	$4042 \pm 2849$	36
	$\mathrm{BN}/\mathrm{SiO}_2$					
SCG	$OTS/SiO_2$	Anneal	$0.60 \pm 0.19$	$7627 \pm 2490$	$4775 \pm 1822$	16

Table 2.4: Table of Doping and Mobility comparing  $SiO_2$  and  $CVD hBN/SiO_2$  substrates for graphene devices. All graphene samples were etched using  $FeCl_3$ 

shows the full compiled data set on extracted device parameters.

In conclusion, we have investigated many aspects of graphene synthesis and transfer. We have confirmed the trends we have seen from Raman spectroscopy with actual device transport data. The key factors appear to be related to the hydrophobicity of the substrate, as well as, the passivation of the silicon dioxide utilizing hexagonal boron nitride. The average achievable carrier mobility from copper grown CVD graphene ranges from 1000-6000 cm<sup>2</sup>V<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> on SiO<sub>2</sub>, with potential improvements through the improvement of uniformity of devices transferred onto CVD h-BN. In chapter 3, we will discuss the fabrication of transistors made from the graphene optimized in this chapter.



Figure 2-21: Field Effect Hole Mobilities  $(\mu_{FET})$  from back-gated devices

## Chapter 3

# **Process Optimization**

Much of the appeal behind 2D materials over other low dimensional structures, such as nanotubes, is their compatibility with conventional planar processing technologies. In Chapter 2, we have already discussed some of the issues related to the doping of graphene, as well as, the impact of substrate interactions (h-BN and OTS treated  $SiO_2$ ) on the mobility and carrier transport within graphene. In this chapter, we will focus on the primary technological issues for device integration, as well as, challenges for fabrication and control of these materials: (1) Contact Resistances and (2) Gate Dielectrics. With regards to contact resistances, this section will go more indepth on the fundamental interactions between graphene and metals by exploring the structural, chemical, and electronic modifications between these two materials when they are in contact. Finally, while our earlier experiments have involved the use of field effect devices - most of these devices were meant as test structures for materials characterization, as opposed to utilization as fully optimized radio frequency (RF) devices. When going from a test structure to a real device for high frequency operation, a variety of factors, such as contact resistance, can no longer be neglected. In addition, parastic capacitances can also no longer be ignored. Therefore, the last part of this chapter will focus primarily on high-frequency devices optimized for graphene-specific circuits.

## 3.1 Contact Resistance

Graphene devices show amazing promise for high speed applications due to their intrinsic ultra-high mobility; however, while their intrinsic materials properties are exciting, for many engineers looking at graphene for device applications, scalability is just as important as a material's intrinsic properties. One of the main issues with all device technologies is that of contact resistance. While the channel dimension and gate length of a transistor can continue to shrink in size, the transfer length  $(L_T)$ associated with the contact resistance  $(R_C)$  is a fixed quantity that determines the size of the contact region and thus the density of transistors. Currently in graphene devices, contact resistances range anywhere from 200-2000  $\Omega - \mu m$  [10,117–123]. Unfortunately, these values are still an order of magnitude higher than what is typically found in silicon  $\approx 20-50 \ \Omega - \mu m$  [124]. This excess source and drain resistance  $(R_s \& R_d)$  can also greatly decrease the maximum unity current gain frequency  $(f_T)$  in a transistor shown in Eq. 3.1 [125]:

$$f_T = \frac{g_m/(2\pi)}{[C_{gs} + C_{gd}] \cdot [1 + (R_s + R_d)/R_{ds})] + g_m C_{gd}(R_s + R_d)}$$
(3.1)

where  $g_m$  is the transconductance,  $C_{gs}$  and  $C_{gd}$  are the gate to source and gate to drain capacitances, respectively,  $R_s$  and  $R_d$  are the parasitic source and drain resistances, and  $R_{ds}$  is the output resistance  $(r_0)$  of the device.

Figure 3-1 illustrates the various factors that can influence  $R_c$ : (1) the interface quality ( $\rho_{int}$ ), (2) the sheet resistance of the material underneath the metal ( $R_{sh}$ ), and (3) the work function mismatch between the channel underneath the metal and the channel itself ( $R_{dep}$ ) [126]. Typically  $R_{dep}$  makes a much smaller contribution to  $R_c$  due to the lack of a band gap in graphene and is ignored in the following calculations [127]. Utilizing a distributed resistance network or a transmission line, we can separate the components of the contact resistance into two separate components: (1) a differential interface resistance  $R_{int}$  and (2) a differential sheet resistance underneath the contact  $\Delta R_{G/M}$  as shown in Equation 3.2 and 3.3:



Figure 3-1: Diagram of the Distributed Resistance of the Metal/Graphene Contact Resistance

$$\Delta R_{int} = \frac{\rho_{int}}{W} \frac{h_{int}}{\Delta x} = \frac{\rho_c}{W \Delta x}$$
(3.2)

$$\Delta R_{G/M} = R_{sh} \frac{\Delta x}{W} \tag{3.3}$$

where  $h_{int}$  is the vertical distance travelled, W is the width of the contact,  $\delta x$  is a incremental distance. Due to the uncertainty in  $h_{int}$ , often it is better to express the product of  $\rho_{int}$  and  $h_{int}$  as a specific contact resistance ( $\rho_c$ ) [128]. Equations 3.4 and 3.5 are the constitutive coupled differential equations for computing the voltage (V(x)) or current (I(x)) in the graphene underneath the metal. By solving equation 3.6, we can calculate the voltage distribution underneath the metal contact:

$$\frac{dI(x)}{dx} = \frac{W}{\rho_c} [V_0 - V(x)]$$
(3.4)

$$\frac{dV(x)}{dx} = \frac{R_{sh}}{W}I(x) \tag{3.5}$$

$$\frac{d^2 V(x)}{d^2 x} = \frac{R_{sh}}{\rho_c} [V_0 - V(x)].$$
(3.6)

where,  $V_0$  is the applied voltage at the contact metal. The second order differential

equation in Eq. 3.6 has a homogenous solution (second order polynomial) and a particular solution (hyperbolic sine and cosine). By matching boundary conditions such that V(0) = 0 and  $V(L) = V_0$ , we can express the contact resistance  $(R_C)$  in equation 3.7 as

$$R_C = \frac{\sqrt{R_{sh}\rho_c}}{W} \times \frac{1}{tanh(L/L_T)}$$
(3.7)

where, L is the length of the entire metal contact, and we define a characteristic length as the transfer length  $(L_T = \sqrt{\rho_c/R_{sh}})$ . Therefore, typically L »  $L_T$  to ensure negligible additional contact resistance; however, as devices shrink,  $L_T$  must also scale appropriately in order to ensure that while the gate of a device can become very small, if the contacts are physically large, then the device density is impeded. However, it is clear that to reduce the parasitic contact resistance, the quality of the graphene underneath the metal  $(R_{sh})$  is of critical importance, as well as, the transport resistivity vertically  $(\rho_c)$ . Unfortunately, little is known about the interaction between 2D materials and metals. Recently, theoretical and experimental work done by IBM has looked at the limit of graphene-metal junctions and the origins of this contact resistance [129]. They examined the anomalous temperature dependence of the contact resistances and noticed a 35 % reduction in contact resistance from 300 K to 6 K, which is the opposite trend to expect, assuming that the contact resistance is mainly dependent on the thermionic emission over a potential barrier. According to their analysis, they attribute this effect mainly due to a shift in transport from diffusive transport at room temperature (300 K) to ballistic transport at low temperatures (6 K) of the graphene underneath the contacts. This further suggests that the quality of the material underneath the metal may be crucial for lowering contact resistances. In addition, there are many other factors for achieving low contact resistances: metal wetting, graphene doping, interface quality, etc. Therefore in this section of the thesis, we will focus on addressing our understanding of graphene/metal interactions: first beginning with the optimization of graphene/metal processing for ohmic contacts and then finally discussing, in more microscopic detail, the interfacial

physics between graphene and various transition metals.

#### 3.1.1 Ohmic Device Processing

Due to our primary interest in utilizing graphene potentially for high speed radio frequency electronic applications, the first problem in working with graphene is how to process materials such as graphene utilizing standard organic photoresists to ensure a low contact resistance. Organic residues, due to the use of photoresist or e-beam polymers, often are hard to remove due to van der Waals forces; furthermore, the selective removal of the  $sp^3$  bonded carbon without damaging the 2D material is very difficult to integrate into a process flow [10, 121]. Generally, high temperature processing steps are usually used to further improve metal contacts [121], although the interaction of the graphene and the substrate at high temperatures may degrade the transport properties. Following standard lift-off processes, we typically measure  $R_C W \approx 2500 \ \Omega - \mu m$  (using Ti/Pd/Au and Ti/Au), from transmission line measurements on our CVD graphene. Due to the strong interaction between the photoresist and the graphene, we investigated the addition of an inorganic buffer layer placed between the graphene and the photoresist. By providing a separate layer in between the photoresist and the graphene, we can use wet chemical etching to restore a high selectivity between the developer of the photoresist and the inorganic buffer layer. For the interfacial buffer layer chosen, we utilized Al for 4 reasons: (1) Al oxidizes very strongly on a graphene surface [48]. (2)Al is already used in graphene technology as a seed layer for gate dielectric deposition [48]. (3) Thin layers of Al oxidize readily which can also serve as a gate dielectric without the need for additional atomic layer deposition. (4) Al can be selectively etched in tetra-methyl ammonium hydroxide (TMAH), which is found in many developers [130].

Figure 3-2 shows the resulting X-ray photoemission spectra (XPS) of 2.5 nm of Al electron beam evaporated onto the surface of graphene and onto the surface of SiO<sub>2</sub>. As intended, we find that the Al oxidizes more readily when deposited onto graphene then when deposited onto SiO<sub>2</sub>. As we will discuss later in this section, due to the low free surface energy of graphene, many metals do not appear to be wetting the



Figure 3-2: XPS Spectrum of 2.5 nm of Al deposited onto Graphene (red) and SiO<sub>2</sub> (blue). The XPS spectrum shows one peak corresponding to oxidized aluminum ( $E_B = 75.53$  eV). The metallic Al peak is located at ( $E_B = 72.68$  eV).

graphene surface, resulting in their island-like deposition on top of graphene. This porous configuration thus enhances the oxidation of Al at the Al/Graphene interface, as compared to the Al/SiO<sub>2</sub> interface. Therefore, we set out to evaluate the effect of introducing this inorganic buffer layer into our ohmic device processing.

The graphene films used in this work were also grown by CVD on copper substrates as described in the previous chapter. Films were then transferred using poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) onto polished Si wafers with 300 nm of thermally-grown SiO<sub>2</sub> on their surface. PMMA was removed with a forming gas anneal (H<sub>2</sub>/Ar) at 500 °C for 1 hour. Two samples were fabricated as shown in Figure 3-3. Sample #1 had a 5 nm Al cap layer deposited by electron-beam evaporation and oxidized under ambient conditions after transfer to the Si wafer (2.5 nm deposited/oxidized twice), while Sample #2 had no Al cap layer. Device fabrication starts with the patterning of the ohmic contacts. A 1.5 nm Ti/ 45 nm Pd/ 15 nm Au metal stack is deposited by e-beam evaporation and patterned by lift-off with AZ5214E photoresist and AZ422 developer. In Sample #1, the Al cap layer is etched simultaneously during the development of the Al(ox) by the AZ422 developer, which contains dilute tetramethyl ammonium hydroxide (TMAH). Device isolation is achieved by wet etching the Al(ox) and etching the graphene with an O<sub>2</sub> plasma for 30 seconds. Devices were measured in a Lakeshore Cryogenic Probe Station under vacuum ( $1.4 \times 10^{-4}$  Torr).

To confirm the presence of interfacial polymer residues at the surface, atomic force microscopy images of the ohmic lift-off regions immediately before metal deposition are shown for Sample #2 and Sample #1 in Fig. 3-4(a) and 3-4(b), respectively. Following standard lift-off processing procedures, Sample #2 results in a surface arithmetic mean roughness ( $R_a$ ) and root mean square roughness ( $R_q$ ) of 1.26 and 1.00 nm, respectively (Fig. 3-4(a)). However, in Sample #1, the photoresist residue is significantly reduced as 2-3 nm wrinkles (due to thermal expansion mismatches from growth and transfer) are clearly seen in Fig. 3-4(b), and  $R_a = 0.23$  nm and  $R_q = 0.20$ nm in this case. As a reference, CVD graphene on thermally grown SiO<sub>2</sub> immediately after transfer has  $R_a=0.25$  nm and  $R_q = 0.2$  nm. The increased surface roughness in Sample #2 is due to photoresist residue leftover after development. Similar poly-



Figure 3-3: Schematic Diagram of Ohmic Process. (1) Starting Graphene Samples -Sample #1 - 5 nm Al e-beam evaporated and oxidized. Sample #2 is as transferred CVD graphene. (2) Photoresist (AZ5214E) deposited, (3) Develop photoresist using AZ422, (4) Evaporate ohmic metal and lift-off.



Figure 3-4: AFM of the Graphene Surface After Processing: (a) AFM image (5  $\mu$ m × 5  $\mu$ m) of the graphene surface after standard processing (Sample #2). ( $R_a, R_q$ ) = (1.26,1.00) nm area shown in the dotted square. As reference, CVD graphene before processing on a SiO<sub>2</sub> surface is ( $R_a, R_q$ ) = (0.25,0.20) nm. (b) AFM of the graphene surface of Sample #1 is ( $R_a, R_q$ ) = (0.23,0.20) nm shown in dotted square. Raman data is shown in the inset for (a) and (b).

mer residues are observed using e-beam resists, such as PMMA during the transfer of CVD graphene. In conventional semiconductor processing, oxygen plasma is commonly used to remove these organic residues; however, there is only a weak selectivity between graphene and other organic compounds; furthermore, CVD graphene contains defects and wrinkles due to its growth and transfer, which make it more reactive than mechanically exfoliated graphene. A common procedure for removing organic residues is a forming gas anneal. Unfortunately, forming gas annealing at >200 °C is incompatible with lift-off technology due to photoresist reflow. Therefore, utilizing an Al(ox) buffer layer serves as a low temperature and low damage method of protecting the graphene surface. To ensure that this Al capping process does not damage the graphene, Raman characterization (inset Fig. 3-4(a) and 3-4(b)) shows no difference in the graphene quality between Samples #1 and #2 after Al etching.

Before deposition of any top gate contacts (but after the deposition of the  $Al_2O_3$  gate dielectric), 23 devices from each of the two types of samples were characterized using a doped silicon backgate at room temperature. As shown in Fig. 3-5(a), there



Figure 3-5: Electrical Characterization of Devices (a)  $I_D$  vs.  $V_{DS}$  for Samples #1 and #2.  $L_{DS} = 6 \ \mu m$ . Dirac point (symbol: \*) and  $n_p = 6 \times 10^{12} \ \mathrm{cm}^{-2}$  (symbol:  $\circ$ ). The inset shows  $R_{tot}$  for the two samples including the fitting from equation 3.9. (b)  $\mu_{FET}$  vs.  $L_{DS}$ , solid and dotted lines are fits from equation 3.8, (fit parameters,  $\mu_{Hall} = 1200 \ \mathrm{cm}^2 V^{-1} s^{-1}$ ,  $R_C^{\#2}/R_C^{\#1} = 5.2$ ). (c) Conductance as a function of back-gate voltage for three values of temperature measured using a van der Pauw (VdP) geometry. The inset shows mobility fitting for data at 10 K. The fit estimates mobility values due to Coulomb impurities ( $\mu_{imp} = 3,500 \ \mathrm{cm}^2 V^{-1} s^{-1}$ ) and short range scatterers ( $\mu_{sr} = 5.434 \times 10^{16}/n_p$ ) (d)  $\mu_{Hall}$  vs. temperature for various hole carrier densities in the range of 3 to 9  $\times 10^{12} \ \mathrm{cm}^{-2}$  (I= 0.1 mA, B = 0.3 T) for Sample #1

-	$R_C W (\Omega - \mu m)$	$n_{imp} \times 10^{12} \mathrm{~cm}^{-2}$
Sample $\#1$	132-573	1-1.2
Sample $#2$	1955-2440	0.9-1.0

Table 3.1: Extracted Contact Resistance  $(R_C W)$  and Charged Impurity concentration  $(n_{imp})$  using Eq. 3.9 for Sample #1 and #2. Fitting parameters for  $n_{imp}$  are obtained from Eq. 3.9;  $\mu_{Hall} = 1,200 \ (\text{cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1})$ 

is a clear reduction in total resistance  $(R_{tot})$  and in the drain-source current  $(I_D)$  of Sample #1 due to the cleaner interface. Two-probe peak field effect mobilities  $(\mu_{FET})$ are shown for both samples in Fig. 3-5(b) when varying drain source separations  $(L_{DS})$  at hole concentrations  $(n_p) \approx 3.0 \times 10^{12} \text{ cm}^{-2}$ . As the source-to-drain distance is reduced, the two-probe  $\mu_{FET}$  is likewise reduced due to the larger effect of the contact resistance. This effect of the contact resistances on  $\mu_{FET}$  can be seen in equations 3.8 and 3.9, where the variables are defined as drain/source width (W), the drain/source voltage  $(V_{DS})$ , gate voltage  $(V_G)$ , charge neutrality point  $(V_{dirac})$ , gate capacitance  $(C_{ox})$ , transconductance  $(g_m)$ , charged impurity concentration  $(n_{imp})$ , and sheet resistance  $(R_{sh})$ :

$$\mu_{FET} = \frac{g_m(V_G)}{V_{DS}C_{ox}} \frac{L_{DS}}{W} = \frac{\mu_{Hall}(V_G)}{\left(\frac{2R_C}{R_{sh}(V_G)} \frac{W}{L_{DS}} + 1\right)^2}$$
(3.8)

$$R_{tot} = \frac{V_{DS}}{I_D} = 2R_C + \frac{1}{q\mu_{Hall}\sqrt{n_{imp}^2 + C_{ox}/q(V_G - V_{dirac})}} \frac{L}{W}$$
(3.9)

The Hall mobility  $(\mu_{Hall})$  in both of the samples was measured between 1,800-3,000 cm<sup>2</sup>V<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> depending on the carrier concentration at 300 K (Fig. 3-5(c)- 3-5(d), for Sample #1). The improved contact resistance in Sample #1 allowed a better agreement between  $\mu_{FET}$  and  $\mu_{Hall}$  than in Sample #2. The contact resistance is estimated from fitting (R<sub>C</sub>,  $\mu_{Hall}$ ,  $n_{imp}$ ) the experimental  $R_{tot}$  (inset of Fig. 3-5(a)) with equation 3.9 [48]. The extracted parameters are listed in table 3.1. Contact resistances are reduced from 2000-2500  $\Omega - \mu$ m in Sample #2 to 200-500  $\Omega - \mu$ m in Sample #1 due to the cleaner graphene surface before ohmic metallization. The estimated contact resistance values for Sample #2 agree well with Transmission Line

Measurements (TLM); however, inhomogenities in CVD graphene limit the accuracy of this technique.

The effect of the Al(ox) on the carrier mobility of graphene is also studied through van der Pauw measurements in Fig. 3-5 (c) and 3-5 (d) at various temperatures. The weak temperature dependence in the mobility data indicates that charge impurity scattering limits the mobility at T < 100 K [46]. At low temperatures (10K), we assume the mobility is dominated by Coulomb impurities ( $\mu_{imp} \approx 20qh^{-1}n_{imp}^{-1}$ ) and short range scatterers ( $\mu_{sr} \approx C/n_p$ ). Following Matthiessen's rule, we can express  $\mu_{Hall}^{-1} = \mu_{imp}^{-1} + \mu_{sr}^{-1}$ . By fitting  $\mu_{Hall}$  (Fig. 3-5(c) inset) as a function of  $n_p$ , we can differentiate between Coulomb and short range scatters. Therefore, we estimate  $\mu_{imp} = 3500 \text{ (cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1})$  corresponding to  $n_{imp} \approx 1.2 \cdot 1.4 \times 10^{12} \text{ cm}^{-2}$  [46], which agrees well with the fitted estimates in table 3.1 for Sample #1. Short range scatters due to intrinsic defects or dislocations in the CVD graphene are the cause for the decreased mobility at high  $n_s$ , thereby limiting the mobility to the range of 1,000-2,000 (cm<sup>2</sup> V<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>). These carrier mobility values, while not ideal, are still sufficiently high enough for electronic applications.

#### Impact of Sample Variability on Transmission Line Methods

As an aside, while transmission line measurements (TLM) are the standard for characterizing the contact resistance in thin film devices, we have often found that material inhomogeneity can make this extraction method very prone to errors especially for low contact resistance samples. In typical Transmission Line Measurements (TLM), various channel length (L) devices are measured and their total resistance ( $R_{tot}$ ) is plotted as a function of L according to (Eq. 3.10):.

$$R_{tot} = \frac{1}{qn_s\mu} \frac{L}{W} + 2R_C.$$
 (3.10)

Typically  $n_s$  and  $\mu$  are assumed to be constant; therefore, measuring the slope and the y-intercept of the data ( $R_{tot}$  vs L) provides both the sheet resistance as well as the contact resistance for this technology. However for standard semiconductors (Si, GaN, etc) where the variability  $(\Delta \mu, \Delta n_s)$  is quite small, this is a valid method; however, when there are large variations in  $\mu$  and  $n_s$  from one sample to another, this type of linear extraction becomes much more problematic. This can be seen by inserting the effect of variability on mobility and carrier concentration in equation 3.10.

$$R_{tot} = \frac{1}{q(n_s \pm \Delta n)(\mu \pm \Delta \mu)} \frac{L}{W} + 2R_C$$
(3.11)

$$R_{tot} = R_{sh}(1 + \Delta_{var})\frac{L}{W} + 2R_C$$
(3.12)

where  $\Delta_{var} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{\Delta\mu}{\mu}\right)^2 + \frac{\Delta n_s}{n_s}\right)^2}$ . Unfortunately in Eq. 3.11 and 3.12, we see that the variability is actually multiplied by L in this problem such that longer devices will actually have a larger error in  $R_{tot}$  than that of shorter devices. While typically we use multiple sizes of devices, we analyze in equation 3.13 and 3.14 the simplest case where we only have two devices. So let us then look at the two data points where we have  $L_{min}$  and  $L_{max}$ :

$$R_{tot}^{min} = R_{sh}(1 + \Delta_{var})\frac{L_{min}}{W} + 2R_C$$
(3.13)

$$R_{tot}^{max} = R_{sh}(1 + \Delta_{var})\frac{L_{max}}{W} + 2R_C$$
(3.14)

In this simple case, the extracted y-intercept when L=0, results in equation 3.15:

$$R_{c,extracted} = \frac{R_{tot}^{min}L_{max} - R_{tot}^{max}L_{min}}{L_{max} - L_{min}} = 2R_C \pm \frac{L_{min}R_{sh}}{W(1 - L_{min}/L_{max})} \times 2\Delta_{var} \quad (3.15)$$

Therefore the error in the extracted contact resistance actually depends on both the size and the material properties of the device. However, it does point out that in order to use TLM measurements given the material variations found in the various samples used, one should choose a very large W, and a very small L for the TLM pattern. However,  $\Delta_{var}$  in some regards is also a function of W. As we increase the width of our devices, we integrate over more wrinkles, ripples, charge variations, defects, grain boundaries, etc., all of which can introduce larger variations in the measurement. Therefore, while explicitly extracting the contact resistance is useful, using the actual measured transconductance  $g_m$  is perhaps a more relevant parameter that takes into account any effects of the contact resistance especially in the case of constructing high frequency (>1 GHz) devices. While initially we have focused more on the processing side of the contact resistance problem, in the following section we further investigated the fundamental interactions between graphene and various contact metals (Au, Ni, Pd and Ti) to understand the physics of the interface between graphene and the metal.

## 3.2 Graphene-Metal Interactions

Since graphene is a two-dimensional (2D) material living in a three-dimensional world, graphene's interaction with various materials and surfaces is of paramount importance for new electronic device technologies. The most common interface to graphene is that of a metal, and in some cases - such as graphene nano-electronics - this interface rather than the intrinsic material properties themselves often limits the overall device performance [118, 119, 122]. Previously, in-situ angle resolved photoemission spectroscopy (ARPES) experimental measurements have revealed that drastic changes in graphene's linear band structure can occur when epitaxial graphene is synthesized directly on a single crystal transition metal substrate (Ni, Ir, Ru) [131–136], while Raman spectroscopy has shown that graphene's work function can be tuned by evaporating various metals (Au, Ni, Co, etc.) [137, 138]. However, there is still much unknown about both the structure and the impact on carrier transport that various metals can have on graphene.

While previous reports have investigated much about the direct synthesis of graphene on various metallic single crystals, for technological reasons, we study electron-beam deposited metals onto graphene due to the added availability of metals to choose from, as well as, the compatibility of electron-beam deposition with ohmic contact process-
ing. Therefore, we focus most of our work on common contact metals to graphene, specifically titanium and palladium. Various metrology techniques were utilized to explore the structural interaction (atomic force microscopy (AFM) and transmission electron microscopy (TEM) as well as chemical interaction (Raman Spectroscopy and X-ray Photo-emission spectroscopy (XPS)). Utilizing, density functional theory (DFT), we find that the titanium appears to result in a unique p-d orbital hybridization between the metal and graphene. Therefore, we also investigated any electronic modification between titanium and graphene through angle-resolved photo-emission spectroscopy (ARPES).

#### **3.2.1** Graphene-Metal Structure

In order to explore the interaction between the metal and graphene, we start with examining the interface quality between the two. Using atomic force microscopy (AFM), we can measure the metal wettability through the surface roughness of the films, while selected area electron diffraction (SAED) can confirm the crystal orientation between graphene and the metal. Chemical vapor deposited (CVD) graphene from a copper foil was synthesized following previously mentioned methods in Chapter 1. Annealing was performed at 350 °C in an H<sub>2</sub>/Ar ambient pressure environment to ensure a clean surface after transfer. Ti and Pd were then deposited separately onto the samples through e-beam evaporation at a base pressure of  $1 \times 10^{-6}$  Torr at 1 Å/s to ensure proper control of the film thickness.

#### Atomic Force Microscopy - Interface Wettability

Shown in Figure 3-6 (a) and (b) are the atomic force microscopy scans taken over a 5  $\mu$ m x 5  $\mu$ m scan region. The mean average surface roughness ( $R_a$ ) of the titanium deposited onto graphene is almost indistinguishable from that of intrinsic graphene ( $R_a \sim 0.18$ -0.25 nm), whereas the Pd deposited sample shows a much larger surface roughness ( $R_a \sim 0.63$  nm), indicating a strong clustering and a Volmer-Weber growth mode. The low surface roughness of Ti is maintained for films with a thickness < 10



Figure 3-6: Investigating graphene wettability using Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM). Images taken over a  $5\mu$ m x  $5\mu$ m scan area: (a) 25 Å of Titanium evaporated on top of Graphene, (b) 2.5 nm of Palladium evaporated on top of Graphene (c) Film Stress (MPa) versus thickness of Titanium. Inset shows AFM of titanium at various thickness of Titanium (2.5, 5.0, and 10.0 nm). Large hillocks or blisters (>30 nm) are observed after 10.0 nm of deposited Titanium.

nm. At films thicker than 10 nm, large hillocks begin to appear (>50 nm), as shown in Figure 3-6(c). The stresses of the titanium film cause a buckling or delamination of the film from the substrate. This delamination is attributed to the weak adhesion energy between the transferred CVD graphene and the SiO<sub>2</sub> substrate [139]. The deposition of thick Pd (< 50 nm), on the other hand, shows an overall much lower intrinsic stress (<500 MPa).

#### **Transmission Microscopy - Orientation Dependence**

To further identify the crystal orientation and structure between the metal and the graphene, we utilize selected area electron diffraction (SAED). Using now suspended graphene membranes and identical deposition conditions, we evaporate Ti and Pd onto TEM grids and record the selected area diffraction patterns from both the graphene and the metal. The total sampling area from SAED is approximately 100

nm in diameter. Agreeing well with our AFM data, we find that there is a drastic wettability difference between the two deposited films. Figure 3-7 (a) shows the electron diffraction pattern for graphene (red) and titanium (white). The diffuse diffraction spots correspond to a hexagonal closely packed (hcp) Ti lattice with a lattice constant ratio  $a_{Ti}/a_G = 1.19$  (Ideal = 1.199). The titanium lattice shows a distinct epitaxial ordering or alignment to the underlying graphene surface across the entire TEM sample. The palladium diffraction pattern in Figure 3-7(b), on the other hand, shows a much more disordered or random orientation of Pd clusters on the graphene surface. Surprisingly, the deposited orientation of the Pd is the [011] orientation of the facecentered-cubic (fcc) lattice as determined by the ratio of the diffraction rings. The lattice constant ratio between the palladium and graphene is  $a_{Pd}/a_G = 1.61$  (Ideal = 1.59). This lattice orientation is slightly unexpected as most simulations predict a [111] orientation between many fcc lattices such as palladium and graphene. [27] This same orientation is also seen for Au and Ni on graphene (Fig 3-8).

In both cases the underlying graphene lattice is still completely observable suggesting that the graphene has not been destroyed or severely damaged by the deposition. Figure 3-7 (c) and (d) are diagrams of the expected orientation of the deposited metal films relative to the graphene crystal lattice. The titanium domains are mainly oriented 30° relative to the graphene with a finite angular dispersion of  $\pm < 5^{\circ}$ . While in Figure 3-7 (d), the small crystalline domains of Pd are randomly rotated around their [011] zone axis. These structural morphologies agree well with the AFM morphologies of the two deposited films. The epitaxial orientation of the titanium suggests that the metal atoms wet the surface much more smoothly unlike palladium which appears to be depositing in small clusters (4-5 nm) on the graphene surface. This is further confirmed by plan-view TEM of the samples shown in Figure 3-9.



Figure 3-7: Selected Area Diffraction Patterns using Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) (a) Graphene/Ti (25 Å) showing a measured lattice constant ratio between  $a_{Ti}/a_G = 1.19$ . Red circles indicate graphene's first order diffraction spots. The white arrows indicate Titanium's diffraction spots. The zone axis of the electron beam [0001] and crystal orientation (hcp) is labeled in the lower right hand corner. (b) Graphene/Pd (25 Å) showing a measured lattice constant ratio between  $a_{Pd}/a_G$ is 1.61. Unlike Titanium where distinct diffraction spots can be identified, the random orientation of the palladium domains results in diffraction rings which are also labeled by white arrows. Diagrams of the electron beam orientation relative to the crystal orientation of the metal are included alongside (a) and (b). (c) Diagram of a schematic of the orientation between Titanium domains (domain shown schematically as a hexagon). A finite angular dispersion is included in the diagram due to the broadening of the diffraction spots in (a). The titanium domains are mainly oriented  $30^{\circ}$  relative to the graphene with a finite angular dispersion of  $\pm < 5^{\circ}$ . In contrast, (d) shows the formation of small nano-domains of randomly distribution Pd rotated around the [011] zone axis (domain shown schematically as a rectangle). Note that the domain sizes ( $\approx 4-5$  nm) are not drawn to scale.



Figure 3-8: TEM data of metals deposited on top of graphene. Selected Area Diffraction Pattern of (a) 25 Å of Au and (b) 25 Å of Ni. The green arrow indicated unidentified diffraction ring. There is an undefined diffraction ring located between the [200] and the [022] rings that we have not yet attributed to any particular [k l m] values.



Figure 3-9: TEM taken of suspended graphene samples transferred by direct a transfer method after deposition of (a) 25 Å of Ti and (b) 25 Å of Pd.

### 3.2.2 Graphene-Metal Chemical Modification

#### Raman Spectroscopy

Optical techniques, such as Raman spectroscopy, provide a unique opportunity to probe selectively the electronic properties of graphene in contact with a metal [138]. For Raman spectroscopy, we deposit an optically thin layer (25 Å) of different metals (Ti, Pd, Au, or Ni) onto separate CVD graphene samples (1 Å/s), using a shadow mask to create a thickness profile. After deposition, the samples are measured exsitu in a Raman microscope with a 532 nm laser light source. Figure 3-10 shows the resulting Raman spectra for the various graphene-metal combinations, as well as, the experimental schematic of the measurement Fig. 3-10 (b). The data for most of the metals (Au, Ni, and Pd) agrees well with previous reports in the literature [48, 137, 138]. However, what has not been reported before is the drastic quenching of the D and 2D peaks and the strong down shift of the G peak to  $\sim 1560\text{-}1570 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ after titanium deposition. Furthermore, while the 2D peak is completely absent in our sample, other Raman features such as the silicon substrate or G peak of the graphene are still observable, discounting electromagnetic shielding effects by the metal films. Some previous reports have shown an increased D peak due to titanium [140], but our spectra for titanium on graphene shows no experimentally identifiable D peak. The data across various regions, and thus across various film thicknesses, shows a ratio of the 2D peak position/G peak position of  $\sim 2$  (black line Fig. 3-10 (c)). This indicates strained graphene [141]. For the titanium sample, there is no 2D peak to be found, thus the random distribution of points along the y-axis is the result of the noise in the peak value of the background signal. The data along the x-axis shows a clustering of the G peak position around  $1570 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ , which is much lower than other metals, which might be partially caused by electron doping from the titanium to the graphene.

Assuming this effect originates through the interaction between graphene and metallic titanium, we ran further experiments to rule out artificial effects caused by (1) (hydro)-carbon residues from transfer (2) oxidized titanium and (3) destruction



Figure 3-10: Raman Spectroscopy of graphene underneath evaporated metal: (a) Raman spectra of graphene before and after various metals (25 Å of Au, Ni, Ti, or Pd) are evaporated on top. (b) A schematic of the sample during measurement. Raman laser excitation is done at  $\lambda = 532$  nm, (c) a plot of the fitted 2D peak position versus G position for the various metals deposited. Due to the absent 2D peak in the titanium data, the 2D peak position is simply represented by the peak intensity position found in the background noise of the spectra. The black solid line represents a slope of 2 for the expected strain effect on the 2D peak position versus the G position.

of the intrinsic graphene lattice. To address possible carbon residues after transfer, we repeated our Raman experiment utilizing other transfer techniques, such as mechanical exfoliation of highly oriented pyrolytic graphene (HOPG), as well as, direct synthesis of quasi-free standing monolayer graphene on a SiC surface (sample prepared by intercalating the buffer layer on a 6H-SiC(0001) surface with ultra-pure molecular hydrogen using the same process in the same experimental setup as was previously published by Speck et al. [73]). All samples showed the same drastic quenching of the 2D peak when Titanium was deposited (Fig. 3-11). Figure 3-11 (b) shows AFM of the surface before and after Titanium deposition. <sup>1</sup>

In addition, we also found (Fig. 3-12 (a)) that this effect could be purposely inhibited by introducing carbon residues at the surface (i.e. residues resulting from the exposure and development of a photoresist [10]). After discounting any effects due to carbon contamination, we next turned our attention to any possible titaniumoxygen effects at the interface. Since titanium naturally oxidizes upon exposure to air, we examined the Raman spectra of 5 Å of titanium (fully oxidized) on top of graphene and also found no observed quenching of the 2D peak (Fig. 3-12 (b)). Consequently, this Raman effect is not the product of oxidized titanium at the graphene interface, supporting our assumption that upon ex-situ Raman and oxidation of the titanium film, that the titanium in contact with the graphene is still metallic. Finally, to ensure that the graphene is still intact after deposition, we also measured the Raman spectra after the removal of the titanium by hydrofluoric acid (HF) in Figure 3-10(a). The resulting spectra clearly shows that the G and 2D line shapes can be recovered after HF acid treatment, thus suggesting the Titanium is not covalently bound to the graphene. There is, however, a small D peak present after etching which could be due to damage either through the delamination of the graphene from the underlying  $SiO_2$  or possibly some direct etching of graphene at defects or grain boundaries. In either case, the graphene's lattice has not been completely destroyed by the titanium deposition, indicating that the surface interaction between the two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We traditionally see less blistering of the titanium when deposited onto epitaxial graphene than CVD graphene. We believe this is the result of a stronger substrate adhesion between epitaxial graphene directly synthesized on SiC as opposed to transferred CVD graphene on SiO<sub>2</sub>.



Figure 3-11: Raman Ti effect on various other material sources HOPG, CVD graphene, Epitaxial graphene (a) Raman of 5 nm of Ti evaporated on various graphene sources as labeled, (b) AFM after Ti deposition on CVD graphene and SiC quasi-free standing monolayer graphene (QF-mLG). CVD graphene adhesion affects the puckering of the film due to the strain of CVD graphene, which is not as evident on QF-mLG.

materials interferes with the double resonant Raman process. The explanation for this effect will be described in further detail in Section 3.2.4.

#### X-ray Photo-emission Spectroscopy

To further investigate the chemical interaction between these metals and graphene, we performed in-situ deposition of titanium or palladium, with parallel acquisition of x-ray photo-emission spectra (XPS) on epitaxial quasi-free standing monolayer graphene (QFMLG) grown on SiC. This graphene substrate was chosen to ensure an in-situ clean graphene surface by avoiding any transfer processes [72]. Contaminations from the ex-situ transfer of the samples to the XPS chamber were removed by annealing the sample at 300°C in a chamber with a base pressure better than  $1 \times 10^{-10}$ torr for 5 minutes. The C1s peak of the pristine sample is plotted in Figure 3-13 (a). The XPS spectrum shows two distinct carbon chemistries: (1) the sp<sup>2</sup> bonded carbon



Figure 3-12: Raman spectrum of Titanium (50 Å) deposited on top of graphene for various conditions. Deposition conditions of (6 Å/s) of Ti as compared to Titanium deposited when photoresist (PR) residue is in between the graphene and titanium. (b) Raman spectra comparison of pristine graphene and pristine graphene with an ultra thin layer of titanium (5 Å) after exposure to ambient conditions.

from the graphene ( $E_B = 284.3$  eV, fitted using a Doniach-Sunjic lineshape) and (2) the chemistry of the SiC substrate ( $E_B = 282.6$  eV, fitted using a Voigt lineshape). As reported by Riedl et al. [72] and Speck et al. [73] no interface layer contribution is observed in the C1s core level confirming we have only a monolayer of graphene. After the deposition of two monolayers (ML) of metal (Ti or Pd) (deposition was performed inside an ultrahigh vacuum (UHV) chamber using electron-beam evaporation from a rod at a deposition rate of 0.1 Å/min for Ti and 0.85 Å/min for Pd. The pressure during evaporation was kept below  $2 \times 10^{-10}$  Torr.), we find that titanium causes a chemical modification to the C1s (Fig 3-13 (a)) peak unlike Pd (Fig 3-13 (b)). The graphene peak after Ti deposition (3-13) is now split into two contributions; 54 % of the graphene peak is now shifted to a binding energy ( $E_B$ ) of 285.2 eV. Furthermore, this new contribution is substantially broadened (FWHM ~ 0.8 eV). Moreover, we observe a very small amount of TiC ( $E_B = 282.2$  eV) during the evaporation. This TiC component increases with evaporated titanium thickness, whereas the modified graphene component is attenuated with the same rate as the graphene and silicon



Figure 3-13: In-situ synchrotron X-ray Photoemission Spectroscopy (XPS) spectra for the C1s core level taken at a photon energy of 600 eV: (a) Pristine quasi-freestanding graphene (QF-mLG) on SiC(0001) (bottom), the carbon chemistry is divided into two peaks (1) sp<sup>2</sup> bonded carbon due to graphene (red) and the carbon bonded to Silicon (light blue) from the substrate and in-situ XPS of 2 ML of Ti evaporated on QF-mLG. The carbon bonded in graphene undergoes a chemical modification shown by the arrow which is labeled in green (G-Ti). A small Ti-C peak at ~282 eV also appears in purple, while the intensity of the SiC substrate peak does not change. (b) in-situ XPS spectra of pristine graphene (bottom) and after 1.2 ML of Pd evaporated on QF-mLG (top).

carbide contributions during evaporation. Therefore, in contrast to other reports in literature such as Gong et al. [142], we can attribute the TiC to contamination of titanium from residual gas during and after the evaporation. Furthermore, the oxygen content within the film is also quite low as compared to a completely oxidized Titanium film on graphene (Fig 3-14 (b)). After complete oxidation of the titanium film (600L  $O_2$ ,  $2 \times 10^{-6}$  torr, at 400°C for 5 minutes) the XPS spectrum of the C1s almost returns to its pristine shape (Fig 3-14 (a)) suggesting a decoupling of the titanium from the graphene, which is consistent with our Raman experiments.



Figure 3-14: In-situ XPS spectra of (a) C1s (b) O1s and (c) Ti 2p energies of titanium on QF-mLG after deposition as well as after oxidation . Oxidation of the titanium was achieved by in-situ exposing the sample to 600L oxygen at a pressure of  $2 \times 10^{-6}$  torr and subsequent annealing at 400°C for 5 minutes. Note the binding energies of the metallic titanium (c) are much lower than that of the oxidized titanium, thus supporting our assumption that the titanium deposited in-situ is in-fact mostly metallic Ti.

## 3.2.3 Density Functional Theory

We performed density functional theory (DFT) simulations with Perdew-Burke-Ernzerhof (PBE) semi-local exchange and correlation [143] to understand the interaction of titanium and palladium atoms deposited on graphene (simulations conducted by Mitchell Ong and Professor Evan Reed) [143, 144]. TEM images from experiments indicate that titanium crystals deposit in a [0001] orientation on graphene (Fig. 3-7). Based on these results, we construct a supercell arrangement of Ti atoms on graphene, shown in Figure 3-15 (a), that is consistent with the orientation from the TEM experiments. Six metal atom layers are used, corresponding to a ~1.2 nm thick slab of metal on graphene. A similar arrangement of Pd atoms, in Figure 3-15 (b), is also considered, which corresponds to the Pd(111) surface with cubic symmetry AB-CABC stacking as opposed to hexagonal symmetry ABABAB stacking for Ti(0001). We calculate the adsorption energies ( $E_{ads}$ ) for the two structures in Figure 3-15 (a) and (b) by using the expression:

$$E_{ads} = E_{graph+metal} - E_{graph} - E_{metal} \tag{3.16}$$

Here,  $E_{graph+metal}$  is the total energy for the graphene-metal complex,  $E_{graph}$  is the total energy of graphene and  $E_{metal}$  is the total energy of the metal slab. These energies correspond to optimized lattice parameters for each structure which minimize the stress. As shown in Table 3.2, the adsorption energy between Ti(0001) and the graphene lattice is negative, while  $E_{ads}$  for Pd(111) on graphene is near zero. These results indicate that titanium binds more favorably to graphene than palladium in this orientation. This result is consistent with the observation that the layers of Ti atoms are much closer to graphene than Pd, as shown in Figure 3-15 and Table 3.2. The observed trends in the adsorption energies and graphene-metal distance (h) are in agreement with trends of previous DFT calculations performed using the local-density approximation (LDA) exchange correlation functional [145, 146].

While the hexagonal symmetry of the Pd(111) surface on hexagonal graphene may be expected to result in the highest adsorption energy, our TEM measurements



Figure 3-15: Density functional theory simulation of optimized equilibrium geometries. Top-down and side views of (a) 6-layer Ti(0001) on graphene, (b) 6-layer Pd(111) and (c) 5-layer Pd(110) on graphene. The primitive cell in each figure is highlighted in yellow. The equilibrium separation distance between the metals and graphene is represented by h. The dimensions of the unit cell are represented by a and b. For Ti(0001) and Pd(111), a = b, unlike the rectangular unit cell of Pd(110).

	$E_{ads}$	h (Å)	% Strain	% Strain	% Strain	% Strain
			$a_{lat}$	$a_{lat}$	$b_{lat}$	$b_{lat}$
			(Graphene)	(Metal)	(Graphene)	(Graphene)
6L-Ti(0001)	-0.258	2.08	2.00	-0.55	-	
6L-Pd(111)	0.014	4.04	-1.05	1.20	-	-
5L-Pd(110)	-0.003	2.50	-0.24	2.31	0.62	-3.88

Table 3.2: Calculated Adsorption energies  $(E_{ads})$ , height above graphene surface (h), and % strain on metal and graphene for 6L-Ti(0001), 6L-Pd(111), and 5L-Pd(110) on graphene  $(a_{lat}, b_{lat})$ .

suggest that Pd binds to graphene on the (110) surface. We have constructed a Pd(110) orientation surface shown in Figure 3-15 (c), which consists of five layers. A supercell of Pd[110] on graphene was created by recognizing that a 3x2 supercell created from an orthorhombic unit cell for Pd[110] had very similar lattice matching to a 2x3 supercell created from an orthorhombic unit cell of graphene. This Pd-graphene complex consists of 5 layers, containing 24 carbon atoms and 30 Pd atoms, and was optimized such that no stress acted on the cell. From the adsorption energies calculated in Table 3.2, we can see that the Pd(110) case is 0.02 eV per C atom lower in energy than the (111) case. The lower adsorption energy of Pd(110) is consistent with TEM observations, which also observe a preference for the deposition of Pd(110) rather than Pd(111).

These adsorption energies also contain information about the wetting properties of Ti and Pd on graphene. Since the adsorption energy of Ti on graphene is negative for the (0001) configuration, it is energetically favorable for Ti atoms to completely wet the surface of graphene in a uniform fashion, consistent with experimental results [147]. For Pd, the adsorption energies in both orientations are near zero suggesting a very weak driving force for forming an ordered system. However, the energy resolution of our calculations may not be high enough to confidently predict the nature of Pd on the surface. The side profile of Pd(110) on graphene in Figure 3-15 (c), shows that the graphene sheet exhibits an out of plane curvature. While simulations for computationally tractability assumed a periodic supercell, the level of strain is sufficiently large so that this configuration is unlikely to exist over many unit cells of graphene; this conclusion is perhaps related to our observations from TEM that many small Pd clusters are observed in the diffraction pattern. Larger scale structure search calculations assuming metal clusters could shed light on this possibility in the future. These results may also be influenced by the use of the generalized gradient approximation (GGA)/PBE exchange correlation functional. Van der Waals functional (vdW-DF) studies and RPA-based studies of metal adsorption on graphene have been performed that suggest the GGA/PBE approach underestimates the binding energy of physisorbed metals by up to several tens of meV [148-150]. Therefore, the relative



Figure 3-16: Difference between the projected density of states (PDOS) of interacting and isolated configurations indicating the contributions of individual p and d atomic orbitals near the Fermi level for (a) 6-layer Ti(0001), (b) 6-layer Pd(111), and 5-layer Pd(110) on graphene. Atomic orbital contributions from the metal are computed only for the metal layer adjacent to graphene.

energies of the Pd(111) and Pd(110) surface binding may be sensitive to the choice of the exchange and correlation approach used in the calculation. We also performed LDA calcultions and included van der Waals corrections (DFT-D) for dispersion interactions and found that Ti is still predicted to bind more favorably to graphene than Pd(111).

In Figure 3-16, we show the calculated change in the projected density of states  $(\Delta PDOS)$  with respect to the individual metal and graphene layers for all three structures given in Figure 3-15. Here, we consider only the metal atoms in the first layer and the graphene sheet in the calculation of  $\Delta PDOS$ . We observe in the chemical bonding a small increase in the p character from the graphene and a large decrease in the d character from the metal near the Fermi energy (between -1 to 1 eV) for 6L-Ti(0001). This suggests that the p orbital of graphene and the d orbital of the metal hybridize, thereby providing evidence that the metal covalently interacts with graphene. This p-d hybridization is believed to be the observed chemical modification as seen in Ti by XPS measurements in Figure 3-13 (a). For the 5L-Pd(110) and the 6L-Pd(111), there is not as large an effect as seen with 6L-Ti(0001). Even inclusion of van der Waals corrections or using LDA for 6L-Pd(111) still show little p-d hybridization. For 6L-Pd(111) the metal and graphene might simply sit too far away for there to be any sizeable hybridization, while the 5L-Pd(110) case suggests some small hybridization assuming a complete sheet. However, the large levels of strain

should reduce the effective contact area with the graphene and likewise should reduce this hybridization effect on the macro-scale, consistent with our XPS measurements.

## 3.2.4 Raman Analysis

Our XPS experiments and the DFT simulations suggest that a strong p-d hybridization occurs between the titanium and graphene interface. Moreover, the intimate and epitaxial nature of the graphene-titanium film appears to be the cause for the drastic changes in the Raman spectra. Due to the Lorentzian nature of graphene's Raman features, the intensity of the 2D peak is also directly proportional to the lifetime of the 2D peak ( $\gamma_{2D}$ ), which can be separated into two components: (1) the intrinsic electron phonon lifetime ( $\gamma_{e-ph}$ ) and (2) the electron-defect lifetime ( $\gamma_{defect}$ ) shown in Eq. 3.17:

$$\gamma_{2D} = \gamma_{e-ph} + \gamma_{defect} \tag{3.17}$$

Traditionally, most Raman papers studying this intensity have investigated how  $\gamma_{e-ph}$  is affected by doping. Recent work, however, from Mauri et al. investigates the theory of the double-resonant Raman spectra in graphene by incorporating additional lifetime broadening effects ( $\gamma_{defect}$ ) due to defects including charged impurity, on-site, and hopping defects [97]. At small defect concentrations, the intrinsic electron-phonon matrix element dominates the electronic broadening of the 2D peak, and the intensity of the D peak is linearly dependent on the defect concentration. However for large defect densities ( $N_{defect} > 10^{12} \text{ cm}^{-2}$ ) eventually the intensity of the D and 2D peak becomes inversely proportional with respect to defect density, explaining in part the lack of both a clearly defined D and 2D peak in the Raman spectra of amorphous carbon as well as in our sample [95,151,152]. When  $\gamma_{defect} > \gamma_{e-ph}$ , this implies that the mean free path for an electron or hole is less than the mean free path due to only optical phonon scattering. From XPS measurements, we have shown that the fraction of chemically hybridized carbon is > 50%, which strongly suggests that we are well within the regime of large defect densities. Therefore, we believe that the chemical

modification due to p-d hybridization serves as a "defect-like" perturbation to the graphene lattice, resulting in a new scattering mechanism. However, we point out that this "defect-like" perturbation is not caused by the destruction of the underlying graphene lattice and is a strong function of the interface as seen by the recovery of the Raman intensity of the 2D peak after removal of the Titanium.

## 3.2.5 Graphene-Metal Electrical Modification

#### Angle Resolved Photo-emission Spectroscopy

In addition to the unique structural and chemical properties of graphene and titanium, we are explored any modification of graphene's electronic band structure due to the titanium. Therefore, working again with our collaborators, Roland Koch and Professer Thomas Seyller, we also measured the electronic band structure of graphene after titanium deposition, utilizing Angle Resolved Photoemission Spectroscopy (ARPES). Our samples are measured in the identical chamber as utilized for our previous XPS measurements (3.2.2); however, our samples were now cooled down to 150K to prevent thermal broadening of the ARPES data. Before any deposition, ARPES spectra are taken for the pristine sample. Figure 3-17 (a) shows the ARPES data of the pristine sample, where the wave vector component  $k_x$  at the x-axis is perpendicular to the  $\Gamma$ -K direction of the surface Brillouin zone (SBZ) and cuts through the  $\Gamma$ -K direction at the K-Point (see red line in Figure 3-17). Neglecting many body effects, this figure shows the linear band structure of graphene around the K-Point of the SBZ with a Fermi-energy  $(E_f)$  level of 0.28 eV below the Dirac point corresponding to a Fermi radius of  $0.042 \ 1/\text{Å}$ . On this surface we evaporate titanium while continuously monitoring the graphene bands. After deposition of 0.05 ML of titanium in Figure 3-17(b), we begin to find a strong electron doping as well as a distinct lack of electronic states near the Fermi energy level attributed to the formation of a band gap  $(E_g)$ . In Figure 3-17(c), the top of the graphene valence band is now located 400 meV below the Fermi level.

In Figure 3-18 (a), the energy distribution curves (EDC) taken at the K-Point of



Figure 3-17: Photoelectron intensity maps of graphene during titanium deposition onto quasi-free standing monolayer graphene (QFMLG) at 150 K (d) 0 ML of Ti, (e) 0.05 ML of Ti, (f) 0.12 ML of Ti. The diagrams (a),(b), and (c) are to show the Dirac cone that we are probing during the ARPES measurement as well as the expected modification to graphene's band structure during the deposition. The diagram in the upper left hand corner shows the surface Brillouin zone (SBZ) and the coordinate axis for  $k_x$  and  $k_y$ 

the surface Brillouin zone (SBZ) are shown as a function of the titanium deposition. Before the titanium deposition, the Dirac point is 0.28 eV above the Fermi level (p type  $\sim 5 \times 10^{12} \text{ cm}^{-2}$ ). When the evaporation starts, we see the valence band maximum begin to appear below the Fermi energy level. At a titanium film thickness of about 0.25 ML, the effect saturates and the valence band maximum stays at the same binding energy  $(E_B)$ . Upon further deposition of titanium, up to 1.5 ML, the bands become broader and finally disappear due to elastic/inelastic scattering of photoelectrons by the titanium layer [153]. As verification of our results from before (3.2.2), we also simultaneously monitor the XPS spectra as a function of titanium thickness. Figures 3-18 (b) and (c) show the binding energy of the Ti2p and C1s peaks. The graphene C1s core level shifts from 284.25 eV to 284.76 eV, which indicates an n-type doping of 0.50 eV (Figure 3-18 (a)) (n type  $\sim~5\times10^{12}~1/{\rm cm^2}).$  Assuming a symmetric band gap opening, this would give us an undistorted Dirac point position of 0.2 eV below the Fermi level and a band gap of 0.5 eV. This indicates that the conduction band minimum is directly above the Fermi level. Interestingly enough, both the chemical modification of the C1s peaks and the electronic modification of graphene occur at a particular titanium thickness. In Figure 3-18 (d), we fit our C1s spectra assuming three main carbon contributions: (1) SiC (2) Graphene (3) Graphene + Ti during the deposition, to further illustrate this saturation effect on the graphene as a function of titanium thickness. The saturation of all observed effects (ARPES and XPS) at low titanium coverage (0.25 ML) suggests a limited availability of adsorption sites for titanium on the graphene sheet.

While investigations and experiments are still on going to explain this electronic modification to the epitaxial graphene, we did explore through DFT calculations a possible explanation for the modification to the electronic structure. Due to the low Titanium coverage observed in our previous experiments, some educated guesses had to be made with regards to the possible crystal structure of this hybrid system. Therefore, comparing the lattice mismatch between titanium (a=2.95 Å) and graphene (a=2.46 Å), it is very unlikely that titanium is depositing with a commensurate crystal structure over the entire SiC sample. This is confirmed by low



Figure 3-18: ARPES and XPS during Titanium Deposition (a) Energy Distribution Curves taken at the K-point of the BZ (b) XPS of Ti2p peak (c) C1s peak (d) Fitted Carbon Distribution: Graphene, SiC, Ti-graphene

energy electron diffraction (LEED) which does not show a clear diffraction pattern contributed from the titanium. However, from our previous TEM results, we do know that there is a strong epitaxy associated with the titanium to the underlying graphene lattice. Therefore, given the potential epitaxy between graphene and titanium, we investigated various theoretical structures that have been predicted for other alkali metals [154–156] to induce a band gap in graphene. Specifically the symmetry of  $(\sqrt{3} \times \sqrt{3})$ R30° as well as (3×3) can induce band gaps in graphene. Initial single titanium atom simulations sitting on a graphene surface show a preferential binding energy to the interstitial hollow sites in graphene ( $E_{bind} = -1.683$  eV). Therefore, if we assume a mostly hollow site configuration, the closest relaxed structure would be the ( $\sqrt{3} \times \sqrt{3}$ )R30° structure, which could locally induce a Kekule distortion [157] breaking the sublattice symmetry. Figure 3-19 (a) shows the simulated structure as well as the resulting band structures as computed by DFT. Due to the change in the unit-cell due to the titanium, the K-point of graphene is now mapped to the  $\Gamma$  point



Figure 3-19: DFT Calculations of Ti  $(\sqrt{3} \times \sqrt{3})$ R30° adatom configuration on top of graphene surface (a) schematic of configuration (b) Energy versus crystal momentum - due to the supercell the Dirac point is now located at the  $\Gamma$  point. (c) Density of States as a function of energy - decomposed into the C(2p) and Ti(3d) orbitals.

(Fig. 3-19 (b)), which shows pretty good agreement between the simulated band gap  $(E_g = 0.59 \text{ eV})$  and our experimentally measured value  $(E_g = 0.5 \text{ eV})$  Furthermore, unlike other previous reports of induced band gap such as hydrogen, while it is agreed that the introduction of hydrogen on top of graphene induces an insulating state, the same cannot be said of the introduction of titanium. Further work through other DFT simulations and experiments are still on going to verify this effect; however, it does pose an interesting question of the possibility of chemically modifying the bandstructure of graphene.

## **3.3 Gate Dielectrics**

To complete our graphene technology, we also require the ability to deposit materials and top gate dielectrics on top of graphene. However, directly depositing a high quality gate dielectric on 2D materials, especially graphene, is much more challenging than silicon. Unlike silicon, which has a native oxide, 2D materials have no bulk to contribute to an oxide layer. Therefore thermally grown or oxidized surfaces are not a viable solution. However as we have shown from our metal evaporation experiments, the low free surface energy and lack of available binding sites limits the types and quality of gate dielectrics available on graphene, as well as other two dimensional materials. For example, a standard technique of creating thin gate dielectrics is



Figure 3-20: ALD of  $Al_2O_3$  on CVD graphene (a) using  $H_2O$  as the oxidizer at 250 °C and (b) using isoproponal (IPA) as the oxidizer at 300 °C.

that of atomic layer deposition (ALD). This method utilizes alternating pulses of an oxidizing agent and a metallic-organic precursor to create a thin metal oxide film. Generally the chosen oxidizing agent is that of water. Unfortunately, graphene has a very low free surface energy leading to a hydrophobic surface [158]; water, when absorbed onto the surface of these materials, nucleates like droplets at either defects, wrinkles, or any chemically active region. The resulting deposition thus yields a very non-uniform coverage as shown in Fig. 3-20 (a) when depositing  $Al_2O_3$  on graphene. To address this issue, a variety of seed layers have been implemented: self-assembled organic monolayers, spin coated polymer buffer layers, oxidized thin films, gas phase functionalization, etc. [15,48,159,160]. In our own work, we have examined modifying the free surface energy of the oxidizer by utilizing isopropanol which contains extra hydrocarbons for better surface adhesion to graphene than water. As shown in Figure 3-20 (b), proper control of the surface energy of the oxidizer does play a critical role; however at high temperatures for ALD, the films appear to always nucleate in an island-like growth formation. ALD on other 2D materials such as h-BN and  $MoS_2$  have shown that physical adsorption for these materials dominates nucleation rather than a chemical adsorption, due to the lack of chemically active bonds on the surface [161]. Therefore to avoid these nucleation related issues on graphene, we attempted three alternatives: (1) direct transfer of h-BN, (2) embedded gates, and (3) Al(ox).

#### 3.3.1 Direct Transfer of h-BN

The main effort in this section is to evaluate the use of h-BN films as a dielectric layer for graphene field effect transistors (FET). The h-BN films in this case are synthesized by the deposition of borazine on top of copper substrates [9]. These films were chosen mainly for their improved uniformity and our ability to control the thickness. In order to evaluate the dielectric quality of these h-BN films, we perform similar vertical electrostatic experiments, as shown previously in Chapter 2. We fabricated metal-h-BN-metal capacitor structures to evaluate the dielectric constant  $(\epsilon_r)$  and breakdown electric field  $(E_{MAX})$  of these materials. The bottom Ti/Pt (2 nm/20 nm) "M1" electrodes (Fig. 3-21 (a) inset) were patterned using standard photolithography and a lift-off process. Large area h-BN films (typically 15-19 nm thick) were then transferred onto pre-patterned substrates following our standard PMMA transfer process. Finally, top electrodes (5 nm Ti/90 nm Au) "M2" were again patterned using photolithography and lift-off. Capacitance was measured from 50-450 kHz using an Agilent 4294A impedance analyzer. The typical device size measured was 150  $\mu$ m. The extracted average dielectric constant ( $\epsilon_r$ ) was 2~4 with a breakdown electric field of 1.5-2.5 MV/cm, as shown in Fig. 3-21(b). The lower breakdown field ( $\sim 8 \text{ MV/cm}$  for single crystalline h-BN [116]) is most likely due to the polycrystalline nature of the h-BN films synthesized on copper, providing a leakage pathway through grain boundaries.

In addition, we fabricated top-gated graphene FETs with transferred h-BN as a top-gate dielectric on top of CVD grown graphene transferred from copper substrates (inset of Fig. 3-21 (c)). To study the impact of h-BN on the transport of graphene, we fabricated van der Pauw structures to measure the Hall mobility before and after transfer of the h-BN. Using a magnetic field of B=0.30 T, I = 1 mA, and an area of graphene of 100  $\mu$ m x 100  $\mu$ m, we measured a room temperature Hall hole mobility before integrating the h-BN of 2455 cm<sup>2</sup>V<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> with  $n_s = 3.60 \times 10^{12}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> and after integrating the h-BN of 2141 cm<sup>2</sup>V<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>, with  $n_s = 4.81 \times 10^{12}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> for the same device. Five other devices also showed similar Hall hole mobility values before and

Parameter	Unit	Back gate (BG)	Top gate (TG)
		before h-BN in-	after h-BN inte-
		tegration	gration
$R_C$	$\Omega - \mu m$	7338	12130
$\mu_{Hall}$	${\rm cm}^{2}{\rm V}^{-1}{\rm s}^{-1}$	1338	1404
$n_{imp}$	$1/\mathrm{cm^2}$	$8.08 \times 10^{11}$	$9.23 \times 10^{11}$
n <sub>Dirac</sub>	$1/\mathrm{cm}^2$	$3.25 \times 10^{12}$	$5.90 \times 10^{12}$
$C_{BG}$	$nF/cm^2$	11.5	-
$C_{TG}/C_{BG}$	-	-	11.5
W	$\mu \mathrm{m}$	5	5
$L_G$	$\mu\mathrm{m}$	6	3
$L_{DS}$	$\mu\mathrm{m}$	6	6

Table 3.3: Fitting parameters for the top and back gated h-BN/graphene devices shown in Fig. 3-21 (d)

after the integration of h-BN. The increase in charge doping is most likely due to the wet transfer process that might trap water at the h-BN/CVD graphene interface. Figure 3-21 (c) shows the measured  $I_{DS}$  (drain-to-source current) vs. normalized electrostatically gated carrier concentration  $(n_G - n_{Dirac})$  of one of the transistors before and after h-BN integration. The fabrication technology for the graphene transistors is similar to the one used in our metal-h-BN-metal capacitors, except that the bottom electrode in Fig. 3-21 (c) is replaced with graphene. To extract the carrier mobility from the transfer curves, we used a simplified model to fit the device data including the effects of parasitic resistances as done previously in Chapter 2 and Equation 3.9. Here the gate dielectric capacitance for the bottom gate  $(C_{BG})$  can be calculated based on the SiO<sub>2</sub> thickness (11.5 nF/cm<sup>2</sup>), and for the top gate,  $C_{TG}$  is obtained by comparing by the ratio of the Dirac voltage between the bottom and top gate measurements (115-184 nF/cm<sup>2</sup>), which agrees well with our estimated dielectric constant as measured before.

The related extracted device parameters are presented in Table 3.3. Back-gated measurements before h-BN integration and top-gated measurements after h-BN integration are included. The reduced on-state current in the top gated devices is mostly attributed to increased access resistances due to the un-gated graphene regions. This can be easily explained due to the device geometry of our transistor. During back



Figure 3-21: h-BN dielectric constant and graphene devices. (a) Average dielectric constant of an h-BN film depending on frequency, (b) Representative breakdown voltage measurement, (c) Schematic diagram of graphene device after h-BN integration. (d) I-V characterization of Bottom-gated (BG) and top-gated (TG) graphene device before and after h-BN integration. The dotted and solid lines indicate the experimental data and fitted data, respectively.  $V_{DS}$  for all measurements is 1 volt.

gate measurements, the entire channel is modulated (L = 6  $\mu$ m, W = 5  $\mu$ m), while during top gate measurements only a fraction (L = 3  $\mu$ m) of our channel is modulated. The more pronounced sub-linear dependence of  $I_D$  with respect to  $V_G$  in the top-gated case is encompassed within the model as a contact resistance term including any parasitic resistances such as access resistances and any additional resistances due to any Schottky or p-n junctions. The field effect transistors also show a slightly increased p-type doping, agreeing well with Hall measurements. The discrepancy between the Hall hole mobility and the field effect hole mobility is due to the sample and transfer variations since different samples were used for Hall measurements and field effect mobility measurements. While, we have explored transferred dielectrics as a possibility, due to transfer related complications, we continued to explore other avenues for top gate dielectric integration.

## 3.3.2 Embedded Gates

Another alternative for forming a gate contact is to deposit graphene onto prepatterned gate electrodes/gate oxide [162]. While deposition of materials onto graphene requires careful control of the free surface energy, as well as a limited range of operating temperatures, transferring graphene onto pre-patterned local substrate gates similar to the global back gate of silicon can leverage CVD graphene's easy integration with any arbitrary substrate. This greatly simplifies the device processing while enabling standard lithography and techniques that are CMOS compatible with only a final stage of graphene integration. While we introduce the concept here, this integration issue will be addressed in more detail in Chapter 5 where we show high levels of CMOS/Graphene integration utilizing this strategy, as well as MEMS based devices. This strategy avoids the issues of stress management of deposited films that might otherwise delaminate the underlying graphene. While this is an attractive structure, unfortunately, for RF devices, this process flow requires a high accuracy of alignment between the ohmic metal and graphene to avoid any parasitic overlap capacitance. Therefore, deposition techniques on top of graphene are still necessary for self-aligned structures or processes.

## 3.3.3 Oxidized Aluminum

Other methods to circumvent issues related with ALD is to utilize physical vapor deposition techniques, such as ebeam-evaporation of metal oxides or PECVD deposition of SiN [163]. However, with many of these methods, the impact on carrier transport and mobility degradation is still assumed to be present, since many of these amorphous materials are not fully passivated at the surface. The impact of these seed layers is generally charge mobility degradation and doping, as discussed in Chapters 1 and 2. In our earlier work in Chapter 2, Figure 2-12 and Figure 3-5, we show the effect of PVD Al deposited on top of graphene, which has shown a decrease in p-type doping; however, accompanied by a small decrease in mobility [48, 164]. This method so far has yielded, in terms of process reliability and reproducibility, our most consistent gate dielectric. This is seen in our top-gated high frequency devices utilizing Al(ox) as our gate dielectric in Figure 3-22, with 7.5 nm of  $Al_2O_3$  is deposited by e-beam (all films deposited in 2.5 nm increments) [48]. The top gate contact is patterned using photolithography and a gate stack of 120 nm Al/ 10 nm Ni/ 7.5 nm Au is deposited by e-beam deposition. Top-gate DC performance for these transistors are shown in Fig. 3-22 for gate length  $(L_G)$  equals 2  $\mu$ m at 300K. Ohmic contacts for these devices and all devices discussed in this chapter utilize our clean ohmic processing discussed at the beginning of this chapter. The measured DC top-gate capacitance  $(C_{TG})$  is 279 nF/cm², which corresponds to a top gate p-type  $\mu_{FET}$  (V\_{DS}{=}0.85 V) = 1,307  $m cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1}$ . A maximum transconductance  $(g_m)$  of 200 mS/mm at  $V_{DS}=2$  V is achieved without substrate bias corresponding to  $\mu_{FET} = 717 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ . To note, these values are close to the actual operating values for the transistor. Unlike standard measurements, for evaluating material quality as in Chapter 2, the large  $V_{DS}$ bias is actually close to the bias necessary for measuring high frequency RF devices. This high electric field might be the cause for the lower reported mobility values.



Figure 3-22:  $I_D$  vs  $V_{TG}$  (Top Gate Voltage) at various  $V_{DS}$  (0.85, 1.6, 3.1 V). The right axis shows the DC  $g_m$  ( $g_{m,max} \sim 205 \text{ mS/mm}$ ). Device dimensions are  $L_{DS} = 2\mu \text{m}$ , W = 10  $\mu \text{m}$  [10].

# 3.4 Radio Frequency Device Technology and Characterization

Given the tremendous interest in the high carrier mobility of graphene, the motivation for our process technology was to develop a robust platform for RF devices. For our graphene based devices, utilizing photolithography, our most robust platform for device fabrication consisted of our Ohmic Device Processing (Al(ox)) in conjunction with Al(ox) gate dielectric and metal gate. This work led to the first demonstration of RF graphene devices constructed from Chemical Vapor Deposition graphene. However, much work has been done on graphene on thermally grown silicon dioxide wafers, which is where most of our own device processing started from. The thermally grown SiO<sub>2</sub> wafers enabled not only optical identification of graphene, but also served as an initial test gate structure due to the conductive silicon backgate for process debugging and optimization. However, utilizing a conductive silicon backgate structure has limitations due to parasitic pad capacitances. The extrinsic RF device performance for our devices on SiO<sub>2</sub> are shown in Fig. 3-23 at 300K. Using Short-Open calibration structures, we de-embed the pad capacitance resulting in an extrinsic  $f_T$ 



Figure 3-23: RF Measurements on SiO<sub>2</sub> (a)  $I_D$  vs  $V_{TG}$  at various  $V_{DS}$  (1, 1.5, 2, 2.5 V). Measured  $f_{T,ext}$  is plotted simultaneously on the right, (b)  $|H_{21}|^2$  vs frequency before and after pad de-embedding. The bias conditions are  $(V_{DS}, V_{TG}) = (2,1.5)$  V. Dimensions are W = 25  $\mu m$ ,  $L_{DS} = L_G = 2\mu m$  with a mis-alignment error of 0.5  $\mu m$ .

of 2.4 and 12 GHz before and after de-embedding [165]. The main reason for the large difference between  $f_{T,ext}$  and  $f_{T,de-embed}$  is the use of a conductive silicon substrate. The estimated geometric parasitic pad capacitance is 4.56 pF, whereas the geometric capacitance of our gate to channel is only 270 fF. These large parasitic capacitances are currently the main limitation in our extrinsic device performance. However, our  $f_{T,de-embed}L_G$  product (24 GHz- $\mu$ m) is similar to the best devices reported on SiC (using similar de-embedding techniques) [11].

#### 3.4.1 **RF GFETs on Sapphire**

Therefore, to reduce the coplanar waveguide (CPW) capacitances that limit the directly measurable  $f_T$  of the device, we fabricate RF GFETs on a sapphire wafer (500  $\mu$ m thick), with a resistivity above  $10^{16} \ \Omega - cm$ . For comparison, the resistivity of conductive Si is less than  $1 \ \Omega - cm$  and about  $10^3 \ \Omega - cm$  in high-resistivity Si. This highly resistive substrate can help eliminate most of the capacitances due to the coupling between the CPW metals and the charge carriers in the substrate. CVD graphene films grown by Cu were then transferred to both 300 nm thermally grown SiO<sub>2</sub> and sapphire substrates. The SiO<sub>2</sub> sample is used as a reference sample for device fabrication due to the poor optical contrast of the graphene on sapphire. Ambient carrier mobilities were in the range of  $2234 \pm 95 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$  ( $n_s = 6 \pm 0.4 \times 10^{12} \text{ cm}^{-2}$ ) as measured through van der Pauw structures (B = 0.3 T, I = 0.1 mA). As reference, values of graphene transferred on to 300 nm silicon dioxide are typically  $2220 \pm 174$  $\text{cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$  ( $n_s = 5.5 \pm 0.6 \times 10^{12} \text{ cm}^{-2}$ ). To fabricate graphene transistors, the ohmic contacts of the GFETs are first formed by depositing a 2.5 nm Ti/45 nm Pd/15 nm Au metal stack by e-beam evaporation using a pre-Ohmic aluminium capping process discussed at the beginning of this Chapter. Device isolation is achieved by O<sub>2</sub> plasma etching. The gate dielectric of 13 nm Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> is then formed by naturally oxidizing e-beam evaporated Al. The top gate is a 20 nm Ni/200 nm Au/10nm Ni metal stack deposited by e-beam evaporation.

Figure 3-24(a) shows the schematic of the fabricated device, which has a gate length  $L_G=2 \ \mu m$ , and Figure 3-24(b) shows its transfer characteristic. The minimum conduction point is at 1.8 V. The peak transconductance for holes and electrons is 200 mS/mm and 150 mS/mm, respectively. Fig. 3-24(c) shows the RF characteristics of the same device. For a gate length of  $L_G=2 \ \mu m$ , the current-gain cut-off frequency,  $f_T$ , is 7 GHz before de-embedding the CPW effects and 8 GHz after deembedding, giving a de-embedding ratio of only 1.14. The de-embedding procedure follows the well-established standard open-short method [11, 12, 166]. The layouts of these open and short structures are strictly identical to that of the active device except in the graphene channel. Figure 3-24(c) also shows the S-parameters before and after de-embedding the CPW effects. It is clear that the de-embedding process only introduces small changes to the S-parameters, which is consistent with the low de-embedding ratio in the  $f_T$  and confirms that the CPW capacitance is at a minimum in these devices. Furthermore, we see that the RF performance of these devices already surpasses our previous devices in Figure 3-23.

To increase the device frequency performance, we scale the device gate length to the sub-micrometer range. Figure 3-25 (a) and 3-25 (b) show the scanning electron microscopy (SEM) images of a device with  $L_G=300$  nm and  $L_{DS}=1.5 \ \mu\text{m}$ . Figure 3-25 (c) shows its transfer characteristic, which has a minimum conduction point at 1.3 V. The peak transconductance for holes and electrons is 160 mS/mm and



Figure 3-24: RF Device Characterization of Graphene Devices on Sapphire. (a) Structure of the fabricated devices. Ohmic metal: 2.5 nm Ti/45 nm Pd/15 nm Au; Gate dielectric: 13 nm Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (naturally oxidized Al deposited by e-beam evaporation); Gate Metal: 20 nm Ni/200 nm Au/10 nm Ni; Channel Width W=2×25  $\mu$ m. (b) DC characteristics of a GFET with  $L_G = 2\mu$ m and  $L_{DS} = 2\mu$ m for  $V_{DS}=2$  V. The hole conduction mode has a slightly higher transconductance than the electron conduction mode. (c) RF characteristics of the same device. DC bias:  $V_{DS}=2$  V and  $V_{GS}=1$  V. S-parameters before and after de-embedding CPW capacitances are also shown.

140 mS/mm respectively. Figure 3-25 (d) shows the  $V_{DS}$ - $V_{GS}$  characteristic of the device. The  $V_{DS}$ - $V_{GS}$  characteristic is measured by driving a constant current density of 250 mA/mm through the device using a current source, and then measuring the drain voltage as a function of the gate voltage. Figure 3-25(d) shows that the device has a signal voltage gain of about 0.2 for low-frequency voltage swings around the minimum conduction point. In this device, the current-gain cut-off frequency,  $f_T$ , is 24 GHz before de-embedding and 28 GHz after de-embedding (Figure 3-25(e)). The de-embedding ratio is about 1.2. Comparing the electron and hole branches, the peak current gain cut-off frequency without de-embedding CPW effects is  $f_{T,hole}=24$  GHz for hole conduction and  $f_{T,electron}=20$  GHz for electron conduction (Figure 3-25(f)).

As a frame of reference for these devices, Figure 3-26 compares the  $f_T$  value before and after de-embedding for the state-of-the-art graphene transistors published in the literature [11–16], as well as the 90 nm silicon-on-insulator (SOI) CMOS technology [17]. Firstly, the device with  $L_G$ =300 nm fabricated in this work shows the highest before-de-embedding  $f_T$  values ever reported. In addition, the devices on sapphire substrate show a very low de-embedding ratio compared to other devices in the literature, mainly due to a highly insulating sapphire substrate that eliminates most of the CPW capacitances. The variations in de-embedding ratios amongst various groups is highly dependent on CPW layout and substrate parameters. The ultimate motivation for targeting the extrinsic  $f_T$ , is primarily for circuit applications. While de-embedding performance allows us to understand the channel material, the actual circuit application of these devices requires proper optimization of the extrinsic frequency performance, which we demonstrate in Figure 3-27.

Figure 3-27 (a) illustrates the basic test circuit for our RF graphene devices as a frequency doubler [167]. Under the test conditions, the gate of the GFET is biased at its minimum conduction point. As a sinusoidal signal is superimposed to the DC bias at the gate electrode, it modulates the conductivity in the channel. Due to the inductor in the bias-tee, the current through the device remains stable while the drain voltage swings in response to the change in channel conductivity. Due to the ambipolar behavior of the transistor, the output signal as measured from the drain



Figure 3-25: RF Device Characterization of Graphene Devices on Sapphire with submicron gates (a) and (b) SEM images of a device with  $L_G=300$  nm and  $L_{DS}=1.5$  $\mu$ m. This device is used for the frequency multiplier demonstration. (c) Transfer characteristics ( $I_{DS}$  vs.  $V_{GS}$ ) of the device. (d)  $V_{DS}$ - $V_{GS}$  characteristic of the device measured by keeping  $I_{DS}$  at a constant value of 250 mA/mm. (e) Peak current gain cut-off frequency  $f_T$  of the device before ( $f_T=24$  GHz) and after ( $f_T=28$  GHz) deembedding the CPW capacitances.  $V_{DS}=2$  V.  $V_{GS}=0.5$  V. (f) Peak current gain cutoff frequency  $f_T$  (before de-embedding the CPW capacitances) for both the electron and hole branches of the device. For the electron branch,  $f_{T,electron}=20$  GHz; and for the hole branch,  $f_{T,hole}=24$  GHz. The lower of  $f_{T,electron}$  and  $f_{T,hole}$  limits the frequency doubling performance of the device.



Figure 3-26: Comparison of current gain cut-off frequency  $f_T$  before and after deembedding CPW capacitances for the devices fabricated in this work and other devices reported in the literature [11–17]

and source current is always read in the positive direction, which performs a similar analog function as the absolute value of  $V_G(t) - V_{Dirac}$ , resulting in a rectified output signal (Figure 3-27 (b)). Figure 3-27 (c) shows the power spectral density, where a larger fraction of RF power is actually present at the output at the doubled frequency (6 GHz) as opposed to the input frequency (3 GHz), showing the improved conversion efficiency of this non-linear operation. Figure 3-27 (d) shows the power conversion efficiency; however, because of the low measured voltage gain of our device, the overall power gain is still negative. This device performance, due to the improved  $f_{T,ext}$  of our devices, actually operates up until ~17 GHz, where performance of the circuit is actually limited by the external cabling in the system (Fig. 3-28). However, while many interesting nonlinear operations can leverage graphene's ambipolar transport (binary phase shift keying or modulators), the issue of power gain or signal gain inside of these devices is still a problem. The reason for this is due to the low output resistance of the graphene based devices. Due to the lack of a band gap inside a graphene channel, the graphene transistor operates in the linear or triode



Figure 3-27: Graphene Circuit (a) Principles of ambipolar frequency doubling and schematic of the measurement circuit for the demonstration of graphene frequency multipliers. The inductor in the bias-tee at the drain isolates the DC power supply  $+V_S$  from the RF power at the drain by keeping the supply current relatively constant. The capacitor in the bias-tee blocks the DC voltage component at the drain and only allows RF power to be transmitted to the measurement equipment, which is either an oscilloscope or a spectrum analyzer. (b) Experimental demonstration of frequency doubling measured by an Agilent DSA90604A oscilloscope. The input is at 3 GHz. The output fundamental frequency is 6 GHz. DC bias:  $V_{DS}=2$  V. The gate is biased at  $V_{GS}=1.25$  V, slightly below the minimum conduction point (1.3 V), to compensate for the small asymmetry in the transfer characteristics and, hence, to improve the symmetry between the electron and hole conduction at the output. (c) Power spectrum of the output signal from the graphene frequency multipliers measured by an Agilent N9010A spectrum analyzer. The input is at 3 GHz. Frequency doubling is clearly visible. The signal power at frequency component  $f_{out} = 2f_{in} = 6$  GHz is about 10 dB higher than the signal power at frequency component  $f_{out} = f_{in} = 3$  GHz without any filtering. (d) Output power at the doubled frequency component  $f_{out} = 2f_{in}$ is plotted against the input power that has a frequency of  $f_{in}$ . The output power at  $2f_{in}$  increases with the input power with a slope of 2 when plotted on a logarithmic scale. Conversion  $Gain = P_{out, 2f_{in}}/P_{in, f_{in}}$  increases with input power up to 2 dBm.


Figure 3-28: Frequency Performance of Graphene-based Multiplier(a) Power spectrum of the output signal from the graphene frequency multiplier when an 8 GHz input signal is applied to the gate of the device. The signal power at  $f_{out} = 2f_{in}=16$  GHz is about 11 dB higher than the signal power at  $f_{out} = f_{in}=8$  GHz without filtering. More than 93% of the total RF power in the output signal is at 16 GHz. (b) Frequency dependence of gain. The -3dB cut-off point is at 17 GHz. Bandwidth is not limited by the carrier transit time, but mainly by the RC constant of the device and the measurement setup.

regime. This unfortunately, leads to a very small output resistance  $(dV_{DS}/dI_{DS})$ since the transistor still operates as a resistor as opposed to a current source, when the transistor saturates. This small output resistance thus shunts the internal current gain and reducing the measured signal. Therefore, the demonstration of current saturation in graphene based transistors is still an area of ongoing work [168–170]; however, as we have shown earlier, perhaps inducing an electronic band gap by chemical modification such as titanium might be a future route for improving the power gain from these devices.

### 3.5 Summary

Therefore, in this chapter we have investigated many of the process-related and fundamental issues for graphene based RF devices. We developed improved processing techniques for making ohmic contact to graphene based devices, which enabled us to demonstrate high-speed transistors for RF applications. However, we have also investigated the fundamental interactions between graphene and various metals specifically titanium. Unlike contacting a standard 2D electron gas, the entire channel material is self-contained within the graphene itself. By observing both the structural nature of Ti and Pd on top of graphene, as well as the chemical modification to graphene by these metals, one can gain more insight into optimizing graphene contacts. On one hand, titanium forms an intimate conformal contact to graphene. On the other hand, the titanium-graphene p-d hybridization also appears to interfere with carrier transport as seen from Raman spectroscopy. Conversely, palladium and even other metals (i.e. gold and nickel) due to poor wetting, form a far worse interface to graphene, but the graphene properties underneath the metal appear intact. While many external factors play a role in ohmic contacts to graphene, including the fabrication process, stresses, and delamination, the microscopic interface between these metals and graphene appears to be far from ideal, shedding new light towards improving ohmic technology for carbon electronics. Leveraging this chemical modification to titanium, we also investigated the electronic modification to graphene's bandstructure due to titanium, which suggests the formation of a small band-gap. These findings may have a lot of significance for our RF devices; as we have mentioned, the lack of a band-gap in graphene also prevents graphene devices from demonstrating current saturation, which limits the voltage gain of these devices. Potentially, chemical modification by titanium at the drain side of the transistor may enable high voltage gain transistors. Finally, while the graphene technology was developed for RF transistors, this knowledge and understanding will be recycled in the following chapters, when we discuss optical devices made of graphene for thermal sensing applications.

## Chapter 4

# Infrared Graphene Detection Mechanisms

While in the previous chapters, we have been focusing on the device processing technology and its implications on the electronic properties of graphene, in the next half of this thesis, we would like to discuss graphene's optical properties specifically focusing on the electromagnetic spectrum in the mid-infrared (5-15  $\mu m = 0.248$  - 0.0826 eV), a range of energies below the detection capabilities of the human eye. This relatively low energy range corresponds with many low energy vibrational modes found in molecules and covalent bonds, which makes this range especially attractive for chemical detection applications. Furthermore, this range overlaps with the emitted blackbody radiation of objects at 300K, which makes it an interesting range for thermography or active night vision systems. While emission and detection technologies in the visible (390-700 nm or 3.17-1.77 eV) and near-infrared ( $1.55 \, \mu \text{m} = 0.8 \text{ eV}$ ) are commercially mature technologies for imaging and communications, detector technologies in the mid-infrared still span a wide gamut of physical detection mechanisms, such that no one technology, as of yet, is able to provide the trifecta of an ideal detector: (1) high speed, (2) high sensitivity, and (3) low cost. Therefore, due to the already large optical absorption demonstrated within graphene as discussed in Chapter 1, for this thesis, we explore the potential applications of graphene as another option as a thermal imaging technology. However, before discussing potential applications of graphene's for infrared detection, we first review some background and theory of blackbody radiation and infrared detectors.

## 4.1 Theory - Blackbody Emission

While there are many interesting spectroscopic applications in the infrared, our main interest for this thesis is specifically in active thermal imaging applications of roughly room temperature blackbodies. Following standard blackbody theory, we can express Planck's blackbody radiation law for the spectral radiant emittance ( $W_{\lambda}$ ) in equation 4.1 [171]:

$$W_{\lambda}(\lambda,T) = \frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda} \frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial A \partial t} = \frac{2\pi hc^2}{\lambda^5} \frac{1}{e^{\frac{hc}{\lambda k_B T}} - 1}$$
(4.1)

where, U is the radiant energy, A is the surface area, t is time,  $\lambda$  is the wavelength of light, c is the speed of light and  $k_B$  is Boltzmann's constant, and T is the temperature. This distribution of energy for a given temperature of a blackbody is plotted in Figure 4-1, which near room temperature is mainly centered around 10  $\mu$ m.

If we integrate the spectral radiant emittance over  $\lambda$ , we arrive at the total emitted power (W<sub>0</sub>(T)), which results in the Stefan-Boltzmann law assuming an emissivity of one (Eq. 4.2):

$$W_0(T) = \int_0^\infty W_\lambda(\lambda, T) d\lambda = \frac{2\pi^5 k_B^4}{15h^3 c^2} T^4 = \sigma T^4$$
(4.2)

where  $\sigma$  is the Stefan-Boltzmann constant. Therefore, infrared detectors designed for active thermal imaging must span a relatively wide range of photon energies ~4-20  $\mu$ m as shown in Fig. 4-1.

## 4.2 Comparison of Infrared Detectors

Unlike the visible range, where we traditionally think of visible detectors operating as solely photon detectors, many variety of detection schemes are possible in the



Figure 4-1: Spectral Radiant Emittance for Room Temperature blackbodies at 290 K, 300 K, and 310 K.

infrared. At longer wavelengths, this range is traditionally associated with radiative heat transfer as well as optical photons. This strange mix between thermal engineering and optical engineering leads to a wide variety of infrared detectors.

### 4.2.1 Figure of Merit - D\*

Before discussing the actual detection mechanisms, it is useful to define a figure of merit for infrared detectors: Detectivity (D\*). This figure of merit is useful for not only understanding the fundamental limitations of these detectors, but also as a point of comparison to discuss the performance of various infrared sensing technologies. Detectivity (cmHz<sup>1/2</sup>/W) can often be thought of as the equivalent of a normalized version of signal to noise:

$$D * (\lambda) = \frac{R(\lambda)}{V_N} \sqrt{a_0 b_0 \Delta f}$$
(4.3)

where R is the responsivity (V/W), while  $V_N$  is the total voltage noise source present in the detector within the frequency band  $\Delta f$ , and  $a_0$  and  $b_0$  are the lateral dimensions of the detector element. Thus a higher D\* implies a higher intrinsic signal to noise ratio for the detector. D\* is useful for evaluating the intrinsic sensitivity of a detector material, while being independent of the physical imaging system. Table 4.1 and Figure 4-2 compare a variety of infrared detector technologies in terms of operating temperature and detectivities. Later in chapter 5, we will introduce factors dependent on the imaging system and discuss another type of figure of merit, that of the Noise Equivalent Temperature Difference (NETD). While there are many different detectors to choose from, the various available detectors can often be classified by the method of detection they employ: (1) Thermal or (2) Optical.

#### 4.2.2 Thermal Detectors

Thermal detectors are perhaps the oldest form of infrared detector. While we typically think of light as being composed of photons and directly detecting those photons in the visible, the infrared spectrum is traditionally associated with heat. As we have



Figure 4-2: Various Infrared Detection Technologies [18]

Type	Detector	Spectra Re-	Operating	D*
		sponse $(\mu m)$	Temperature	$(\mathrm{cmHz^{1/2}/W})$
			(K)	
Thermal	Thermocouple-thermopile	Window	300	$6 \times 10^{8}$
Thermal	Bolometer	Window	300	$1 \times 10^{8}$
Thermal	Golay cell, condenser-microphone	Window	300	$1 \times 10^{9}$
Thermal	PZT, TGS, $LiTaO_3$	Window	300	$2 \times 10^8$
Photoconductor	PbS	1-3.6	300	$1 \times 10^9$
Photoconductor	PbSe	1.5 - 5.8	300	$1 \times 10^{8}$
Photoconductor	InSb	2-6	213	$2 \times 10^9$
Photoconductor	HgCdTe	2-16	77	$2 \times 10^{10}$
Photovoltaic	Ge	0.8-1.8	300	$1 \times 10^{11}$
Photovoltaic	InGaAs	0.7-1.7	300	$5 \times 10^{12}$
Photovoltaic	Ex. InGaAs	1.2 - 2.55	253	$2 \times 10^{11}$
Photovoltaic	InAs	1-3.1	77	$1 \times 10^{10}$
Photovoltaic	InSb	1-5.5	77	$2 \times 10^{10}$
Photovoltaic	HgCdTe	2-16	77	$1 \times 10^{10}$

Table 4.1: Comparison of D\* for various infrared detection technologies [18]. The spectral response of thermal detectors is determined by the window material (ZnSe, Si, Ge, etc.)

mentioned before, hot blackbodies emit incoherent infrared radiation corresponding to their temperature. Therefore by properly designing a thermal system and isolation for the system, infrared detection can be thought of as a radiative heat detector, where incident infrared photons are absorbed and transformed into a temperature gradient. The temperature increase is proportional to the incident power and the amount of thermal isolation  $(R_{th})$ , which can then be read off utilizing a number of transduction mechanisms. However, since this type of detector is a thermal device, the time constant of the device is limited mainly by the thermal time constant rather than the electronic time constant, which places a trade-off with regard to speed and sensitivity. The general form of D\* for thermal devices follows from equation 4.4, where we assume a signal transduction mechanism  $K_{conv}$  (V/K), that converts optical power into temperature:

$$D^* = \frac{\epsilon K_{conv} R_{th}}{\sqrt{1 + \omega^2 \tau_{th}^2}} \frac{\sqrt{a_0 b_0 \Delta f}}{\sqrt{V_j^2 + V_{th}^2 + V_{1/f}^2}}$$
(4.4)

$$V_j^2 = 4k_B T R_e \Delta f \tag{4.5}$$

$$V_{th}^2 = \frac{4k_B T^2 \Delta f}{1 + \omega^2 \tau_{th}^2} K_{conv}^2 R_{th}$$

$$\tag{4.6}$$

$$V_{1/f}^2 = k_{1/f} \frac{I^\delta}{f^\beta} \Delta f \tag{4.7}$$

in which  $\epsilon$  is the emissivity,  $\tau_{th}$  is the thermal time constant,  $\omega$  is the modulation frequency,  $R_{th}$  is the thermal resistance,  $V_j$  is the Johnson thermal noise,  $V_{th}$  are the thermal fluctuations noise, and  $V_{1/f}$  is the flicker noise in the system,  $R_e$  is the electrical resistance of the material,  $k_{1/f}$  and  $I^{\delta}$  are phenomological fits for the flicker noise. While Eq. 4.4 is a general expression for thermal detectors, what differs amongst the various technologies is the contributions of these various noise sources, as well as the method of transduction from temperature to an electrical signal. There are three main technologies for the direct conversion of temperature into a measurable electrical signal: (1) Bolometers (2) Thermoelectrics and (3) Pyroelectrics.

#### **Bolometers**

These detectors utilize the temperature dependent change in resistivity which can be expressed as

$$V_{total} = I_{meas} R_0 (1 + \alpha_{TCR}) \Delta T)$$
(4.8)

$$K_{conv} = \frac{\Delta V}{\Delta T} = \alpha_{TCR} I_{meas} R_0 \tag{4.9}$$

where  $\alpha_{TCR}$  is the temperature dependent change in resistivity (TCR) of a material. Since a bolometer is a passive resistor  $(R_0)$ , the detection mechanism requires inputting a current or voltage to measure the actual change in temperature. Therefore the measured voltage out from the device is simply the measurement current  $(I_{meas})$ multiplied by  $R_0$  and  $\alpha_{TCR}$ , which can be increased by increasing the measurement current. Obviously, in this approach, there are always issues with self-heating effects that limit the largest  $I_{meas}$  one can achieve. The current state of the art, in terms of materials with a large TCR, are amorphous silicon with 2.5 %/K and vanadium oxide with >4%/K [172]. Typically these devices can have responsivities of well over 10,000 V/W; however, due to the need for biasing these devices, in order to measure the resistance change, they often can have additional noise due to 1/f noise.

#### Thermopiles

Thermopile detectors operate on a different transduction mechanism, where as opposed to a passive system, a thermopile detector operates on the thermo-electric effect, where temperature gradients ( $\Delta T$ ) can induce a voltage through the Seebeck effect (S) and

$$V = S\Delta T \tag{4.10}$$

$$K_{conv} = \frac{\Delta V}{\Delta T} = S. \tag{4.11}$$

A Thermopile is similar to thermo-electric power generation where by introducing a temperature gradient, power can be generated; however, in the case of a detector, we are not concerned with power generation but rather with the signal to noise ratio. The advantages with thermopiles are their large dynamic range and linearity of these detectors, which is why they are often used for astronomical applications [173–175]. Furthermore, since they are self-powered without the need for an input bias, they are traditionally only Johnson or thermal noise limited. Unfortunately, while in bolometers the signal can be amplified by a larger input current, the signal from these devices is limited by the magnitude of the Seebeck coefficient (S ~ 10-100  $\mu$ V/K), which requires the need to place many thermo-couples in series in order to increase the total measured voltage. This unfortunately places a larger constraint on the thermal isolation of these devices. A wide variety of materials (metals and semiconductors) can be chosen for thermo-electric detectors. However, in order to create a large thermal voltage, two materials of different carrier type (p-type or n-type) are required.

#### **Pyro-electrics**

Unlike the previous two devices which can operate under DC conditions, pyro-electric detectors are inherently AC detectors. Because of this requirement, the input radiation must be modulated, not only to decrease 1/f noise, but also to ensure a time dependent change in temperature rather than a static change in temperature. Two modes of operation are possible with a pyro-electric detector: (1) A rapid change of temperature disrupts the spontaneous polarization of a material and this effect depends on the pyro-electric coefficient (p) or (2) the change in temperature alters the dielectric constant of a material, thereby changing the amount of stored charge on a capacitor. However, in both cases the device still requires a modulated input source (optical chopping). Equation 4.10 shows the signal response due to a temperature change; however, traditionally for pyroelectric detectors, the output signal is treated

as a current signal  $(i_p)$  due to the capacitive nature of the device [172, 176, 177]:

$$i_p = Ap \frac{dT}{dt} = Ap \omega \Delta T \tag{4.12}$$

$$K_{conv} = Ap\omega \tag{4.13}$$

#### 4.2.3 Optical Detectors

Optical detectors, on the other hand, operate by the direct conversion of incident photons into excited charged carriers, which either generate a measureable photovoltage or generate a change in conductivity. However, in order for this to occur, the material's electronic structure must allow for direct optical transitions between the conduction and valence band in the mid-infrared. Therefore, materials that have an appropriate band gap (0.024-0.3 eV) are traditionally part of the InSb or HgCdTe family [178–181]. In addition, instead of an interband processes, also intraband quantum well infrared photodetectors (QWIPS) can be used, where electrons can be excited between intersubband quantum well transitions [182–184]. However, because carriers require excitation by low energy photons, thermal energy from the ambient environment can lead to excess carriers within the sample; therefore, while unlike thermal detectors which operate at room temperature, photon-based detectors are often chilled to liquid nitrogen temperature (77K) in order to suppress the thermal generation of carriers that are not induced by incoming photons. This is expressed by the figure of merit D\* for optical detectors in equation 4.14.

$$D_{pc}^* = 0.31 \frac{\lambda}{hc} \sqrt{\frac{\alpha_{opt}}{G}}$$
(4.14)

where,  $\alpha_{opt}$  is the optical absorption,  $G = G_{opt} + G_{th}$  is the total carrier generation rate which is composed of noise sources due to the optical excitation of carriers from environmental blackbody radiation  $(G_{opt})$ , and thermally generated carriers  $(G_{th})$ .

#### 4.2.4 Comparison between Thermal versus Optical Detectors

Each type of detector has various advantages and disadvantages for different applications. To illustrate these differences, we look at the fundamental sensitivity of these two detection approaches, where we assume that the noise is always limited by the noise due to heat transfer between the detector and the surrounding environment. However, even though one can try to eliminate heat transfer due to conduction and convection, radiative heat transfer is always present, which sets the fundamental lower bound for thermal-based detectors shown in Equation 4.15:

$$D_{th}^{*} = \left(\frac{R_{t}h\epsilon^{2}A_{0}}{4k_{B}T^{2}}\right)^{1/2} = \left(\frac{\epsilon}{8k_{B}\sigma(T_{d}^{5}+T_{b}^{5})}\right)^{1/2}$$
(4.15)

Therefore, assuming a room temperature thermal detector viewing a room temperature background, the figure of merit  $D_{th}^*$  is limited to around  $1.98 \times 10^{10} \text{ cmHz}^{1/2}/\text{W}$ , even upon cryogenic cooling. However, in the case for photon-based detectors, a similar fundamental limit also applies. While unlike thermal detectors which can be operated at room temperature, photon-based detectors are noisy due to thermally generated carriers, which is why these detectors must always be cooled down to cryogenic temperatures. However, even under cryogenic temperature operation there is always noise due to background blackbody photons emitted from the surrounding environment (Eq. 4.16) [185]:

$$D_{BL}^* \approx \left[ sin^2 \theta_0 \frac{4\pi (k_B T)^5}{c^2 \hbar^3} x_c^2 (x_c^2 + 2x_c + 2) e^{x_c} \right]^{-1/2}$$
(4.16)

where  $\omega_c$  is the lower cutoff frequency, and  $\theta_0$  is the cutoff viewing angle of the detector. This fundamental limit is plotted in Figure 4-2 for both photovoltaic and photoconductive devices assuming materials with various wavelength cutoffs and a viewing angle of  $\theta_0 = \pi/2$ . In addition, thermal detectors are limited by the thermal time constant of the detector, whereas photon-based detectors are limited in speed by carrier transport, such as the drift or diffusion velocity within a sample.

## 4.3 Graphene for Infrared Detection

While we have discussed the inherent differences between photon versus thermal-based detection, we return to the original problem of applying graphene for the detection of infrared radiation. In atomically thin monolayer graphene (MLG), broad band photodetectors and optical modulators have been demonstrated in the near-infrared range  $(E_{ph}$  =0.8-1.6eV), and have been shown to be capable of ultra-fast response times (>10 GHz) [89, 186]. However, these experiments focused on photon energies that are much larger than the intrinsic energies of the system, such as the optical phonon energy ( $E_{op}$  = 0.2eV) or the electrostatically controllable Fermi Energy of MLG (  $E_f$ 0.5eV) [89–91,187]. For MLG photo-excited in the MIR, very recent work has shown active modulation due to Pauli blocking [33, 188] as well as interesting plasmonic effects [189–191]. Many experiments have begun to explore MLG's unique optoelectronic properties while attempting to make use of its unusual broadband optical absorption from the far-infrared all the way to the visible [6, 192-196]. However, more recently, experiments in the visible on graphene have begun to show that not only are optical effects possible within graphene, but thermal effects as well [90, 91, 187]. Therefore, distinguishing the dominant physical photo-detection mechanisms at low energies is critical for illuminating MLG's potential role as a MIR photodetector.

Unlike photovoltaic detectors where only photons absorbed by the active material (MLG) can generate a signal, here we find that MLG acts as the key element in a novel hybrid ambipolar infrared thermocouple, converting a temperature gradient into a voltage signal at the thermocouple junction. We experimentally identify the energy conversion mechanism of the electrostatically controlled device and the key parameters for engineering the MIR ( $E_{ph} = 0.117 \text{ eV}$ ) photo-response. We measure the photovoltage response of these devices as a function of carrier density ( $n_s$ ), carrier density difference ( $\Delta n_s$ ), substrate material, and temperature, and find that MIR detection is well described within a thermoelectric framework. Of key importance, extrinsic properties of the surrounding environment must be included to fully understand the photovoltage response. To locally photo-excite MLG at low photon energies below 0.2 eV, we constructed a CO<sub>2</sub> ( $\lambda = 10.6 \ \mu m$ ,  $E_{ph} = 0.117 \ eV$ ) scanning laser microscope capable of measuring the spatial photo-response of our devices as a function of temperature and gate bias (Figure 4-3(a)). All measurements (optical and electrical) were done using an AC lock-in technique.

#### 4.3.1 Infrared Scanning Photovoltage System

The light source was a temperature stabilized  $1W CO_2$  laser (Access Laser Company) providing a collimated light source at a wavelength ( $\lambda$ ) of 10.6  $\mu$ m. After mechanical chopping, the laser power on the sample was typically 8 mW as determined by a reference thermal power meter (Thor labs). A beam combiner optic (ULO optics) was used to add a collinear laser(632 nm laser diode) for alignment (not shown in Figure 4-3(a)). A set of galvanometer controlled mirrors produces angular deflections centered at the focal point of lens 1 (L1 in Figure 4-3(a)). These deflections were then mapped through a relay of confocal optics (L1 and L2) onto the back focal plane of the objective. The confocal optics directs the beam to strike the objective (L3) at the same position, but at a variable angle set by the galvanometer mirrors, producing distortion free scanning over a large  $(>1 \text{mm}^2)$  area. The beam was then passed through a ZnSe anti-reflection coated window into an optical cryostat (Janis) allowing measurements to be done under vacuum and at low temperatures (77 K <T < 300 K). To reduce the noise in our measurements, the laser is modulated with an optical chopper wheel operating at 368Hz before it is sent to the galvo mirrors. A lock-in amplifier operating in a differential voltage mode is connected across the two contacts of the device (M1 and M2) and synced to the output reference from the chopper wheel. The surface reflectance image of the chip was simultaneously recorded as a function of laser position by the reference thermal power meter. The metallic bond pads (M1 and M2) provide high contrast features on the chip to orient our device and to align our laser spot to the junction signal. The reflected signal also provides feedback on the stability of the laser power and alignment during scanning. Laser power attenuation was achieved by utilizing a Brewster window attenuator (ULO optics) and by feeding the input beam through a series of cross polarizers. We also

measured the response of the device purely as a function of laser polarization and saw no change in the signal, ensuring that we measured the effect of only the power dependence using the attenuator.

#### 4.3.2 Device Fabrication and Characterization

Figure 4-3(a) shows the structure of the ambipolar graphene infrared thermocouple, composed of a large area MLG p-n junction device supported on top of an aluminum oxide  $(Al_2O_3)$  gate dielectric. The underlying substrate consisted of 300nm of thermally grown oxide on heavily doped p+ silicon. Two independent titanium-platinum gate electrodes  $(V_{G1} \text{ and } V_{G2})$  were then patterned by electron beam-lithography and encapsulated by the gate dielectric (60nm ALD  $Al_2O_3$ ). The gap between the gate electrodes was designed to be 300-500 nm (sub-wavelength across all photon energies used). MLG grown on copper foils, using a chemical vapor deposition (CVD) technique, was then transferred on top using poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) [84]. Atomic force microscopy (AFM) confirmed that the sample was a uniform monolayer while Raman spectroscopy confirmed that there was minimal sample doping due to the high 2D-band ( $\omega_{2D}$  2680 cm<sup>-1</sup>) to G-band ( $\omega_G$  1580 cm<sup>-1</sup>) intensity ratio  $(I_{2D}/I_G = 8.5)$  and a low concentration of defects by the low D-band to G-band intensity  $(I_D/I_G \approx 0)$ . Finally, electron beam lithography and reactive oxygen etching defined the titanium-gold ohmic contacts (M1 and M2) and the graphene channel, respectively (Figure 4-3(b)).

We first characterize the ambipolar graphene infrared thermocouple by measuring the gate voltage dependent resistance (R) and the photovoltage  $(V_{PH})$ . We measured R (shown in Figure 4-3(c)) by applying  $25\mu$ V between M1 and M2 while simultaneously measuring the current. The voltage  $V_{G1}$  and  $V_{G2}$  were kept equal during the resistance sweep ( $V_{G1} = V_{G2}$ ). The maximum transconductance ( $g_m$ ) calculated from Figure 4-3(c), allows us to estimate the hole carrier mobility ( $\mu_p$ ) of our MLG to be  $800\pm 100 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$ . To form an ambipolar thermocouple in our device, the gates were then biased oppositely ( $V_{G1} = 10\text{V}$ ,  $V_{G2} = -10\text{V}$ ) to create a p-n junction. Figure 4-3(d) shows the photovoltage  $V_{PH}$  measured between M1 and M2 while the laser is



Figure 4-3: IR Confocal Microscopy (a) Schematic of the scanning mid infrared laser microscope. The CO<sub>2</sub> laser beam is scanned across the sample using a galvo-mirror and the beam is fed into a cryostat through lens L1 to L3. A schematic of the ambipolar graphene infrared thermocouple is shown in the lower left hand corner. (b) Optical layout of the fabricated device. M1 and M2 are the ohmic contacts to the MLG; G1 and G2 are the local electrostatic gates. (c) Resistance-Gate Voltage measurements of the device, where  $V_{G1} = V_{G2}$ , are shown in red. Shown in blue is the conductance versus gate voltage using the right axis. (d) Spatial map of the photovoltage response from the device. The MLG is outlined by a dotted green line, while the local electrostatic gates are outlined in grey. The contacts are outlined by a dotted gold line. The gate voltages are biased to form a p-n junction ( $V_{G1} = +10$ V and  $V_{G2} = -10$  V).

scanned over the device. Due to the diameter of our laser spot ( $\approx 20\mu$ m), we chose the dimensions of our device ( $L = 200\mu$ m,  $W = 30\mu$ m) to allow us to spatially resolve the photoresponse. Figure 4-3(d) shows that the photoexcitation in the region near the p-n junction results in a large, positive photovoltage, while the contacts contribute negligible signal.

The photovoltage mechanism can be identified by measuring the response as a function of charge carrier density  $(n_s)$  and carrier density difference  $(\Delta n_s)$  at the p-n junction. Figure 4-4 (a) shows the dual gate resistance map of our devices. The red cross shape in Figure 4-4 (a) indicates that the two gates are independent and can electrostatically control each half of the MLG channel. The peak or maximum resistance occurs when both gates are biased at the charge neutrality point  $(V_D)$  at approximately  $V_{G1} = -3V$ ,  $V_{G2} = -3V$ , while the resistance of the device decreases as the number of charge carriers increases due to electrostatic doping. Due to the long geometry of our device and small lateral gap between gates, the resistance of the p-n junction itself is negligible compared to the bulk resistance of the MLG channel [197–199]. Figure 4-4(b) shows  $V_{PH}$  when we fix the laser spot at the p-n junction and sweep over the same gate voltages as in Figure 4-4(a). The four distinct charge carrier configurations in each half of the device are labeled in Figure 4-4(b): p-n, n-n', n-p, p-p'. A distinctive 6-fold pattern of alternating photovoltage polarity is observed due to the sign change when  $V_{G1}$  or  $V_{G2}$  crosses either a charge neutrality point or the diagonal where  $\Delta n_s = 0$  [90, 187].

We can use the inherent symmetry of the photovoltage gate map to extract line cuts of the data set that contains the most relevant information. While previously in Figure 4-3(c), we plotted the line cut where  $V_{G1} = V_{G2}$ , which corresponds to  $\Delta n_s = 0$ , in Figure 4-4(c) we plot the line cut  $V_{G1} = -V_{G2}$  cutting through the charge neutrality point in both the resistance map and the photovoltage map. This line cut corresponds to fixing the junction's carrier density at the charge neutrality point, while the MLG to the left and the right is doped so that  $\Delta n_s$  varies from negative to positive. As mentioned before, the resistance line cut (shown in red in Figure 4-4(c)) looks quite similar to our previous line cut in Figure 4-3(c), thus confirming



Figure 4-4: Photovoltage and I-V maps of Graphene Devices (a) Dual gate resistance map of the ambipolar graphene infrared thermocouple. The dashed line indicates the position of the line cut shown in (c) that corresponds to increasing  $\Delta n_s$ . (b) Dual gate photovoltage map of the ambipolar graphene infrared thermocouple with  $\lambda = 10.6\mu$ m photoexcitation. The gate voltage range between the arrows is where transitions are not Pauli blocked. The four carrier quadrants are labeled p-n, n-n', p-p', n-p. (c) Line cuts through the resistance and photovoltage maps in the positions indicated by the dashed line in (a) and (b). (d) and (e) Dual gate photovoltage maps of the ambipolar graphene infrared thermocouple with a  $\lambda = 1.55\mu$ m and  $0.83\mu$ m excitation. The photovoltage at 1.55  $\mu$ m is smaller due to lower power transmitted to the sample. All measurements taken at 300 K.

that the p-n junction makes only a small contribution to the resistance of our devices. Furthermore, the line cut (shown in blue in Figure 4-4(c)) through the photovoltage map shows a roll off at large  $\Delta n_s$  and a positive and negative maximum located near the charge neutrality point. Also in Figure 4-4(c), under MIR photoexcitation of the p-n junction, we observe no noticeable transition between the Pauli allowed (high absorption  $E_f < 1/2E_{ph}$ ) and the Pauli blocked (suppressed absorption  $E_f > 1/2E_{ph}$ ) regime. The threshold gate voltages where Pauli-allowed transitions can occur at 10.6 $\mu$ m (0.117eV) are indicated in Figure4-4(b) and(c). While these experiments were done to probe very low photon energies, we also took the same device and repeated the experiments (photovoltage maps) at  $\lambda = 1.55 \ \mu$ m ( $E_{ph}=0.8 \ eV$ ) and at  $\lambda = 0.83 \ \mu$ m ( $E_{ph}=1.49 \ eV$ ) shown in Figures 4-4(d) and 4-4(e), respectively. The data sets at both higher photon energies also show the distinctive 6 fold pattern that indicates a thermoelectric mechanism.

#### 4.3.3 Device Model

In the ambipolar graphene infrared thermocouple, the incident radiation is absorbed near the p-n junction and increases the local temperature  $(T_{hot})$  relative to the contacts  $(T_{cold})$ . The thermal gradient is established across both the MLG and within the infrared absorber (Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>). Photons are absorbed optically and are converted into a thermal bath composed of both phonons and electrons. The thermal gradient  $(\Delta T = T_{hot} - T_{cold})$  between the p-n junction and the contacts results in holes and electrons near the Fermi energy level diffusing away from the junction, thereby establishing a photo-induced voltage via the thermoelectric effect (Figure 4-5 (a)) [200]. The difference between MLG's Seebeck coefficients ( $S_1$  and  $S_2$ ) on each side of the junction results in the six fold symmetry observed in previous work [90, 187]. The gate dependence of the photovoltage signal can be written as:

$$V_{ph}[V_{G1}, V_{G2}] = [S_1(V_{G1}) - S_2(V_{G2})]\Delta T$$
(4.17)

The gate tunable Seebeck Coefficient  $(S(V_G))$  of the MLG follows from Mott's

relation [200, 201], and exhibits a sign change as  $V_{Gi}$  crosses the charge neutrality point (embedded in the term  $dR/dV_G$ ) in the following equation:

$$S_{i1}(V_{Gi}) = \left. \frac{\pi^2}{3} \frac{k_B^2 T}{q} \frac{1}{R_i} \frac{dR_i}{dV_{Gi}} \frac{dV_{Gi}}{dE} \right|_{E_f}$$
(4.18)

Here,  $k_B$  is the Boltzmann constant, T is the temperature, q is electron charge,  $E_f$  is Fermi energy and  $V_{Gi}$  (i=1,2) is the bias on the left and right gate embedded in the infrared absorber. The magnitude of the Seebeck coefficient can be increased by decreasing the disorder near the charge neutrality point, leading to a larger derivative term. Optical absorption deposits power in the device and creates a thermal gradient, which we can write as:

$$\Delta T = \frac{1}{\kappa_{eff}} P_{in} \left[ 1 - e^{-\alpha t} \right]. \tag{4.19}$$

Here  $P_{in}$  is the incident laser power,  $\kappa_{eff}$  is the effective thermal conductance between the p-n junction and the contacts, taking into account the parallel thermal paths, t is the thickness of the material at the device junction, and  $\alpha$  is the optical absorption of the material. As evidenced by the absence of Pauli blocking, optical absorption through the formation of electron-hole pairs is not the dominant mechanism for establishing a temperature gradient  $\Delta T$ . We note that the length of our devices (L=200  $\mu$ m) is much longer than the estimated electronic cooling length ( $\approx 2\mu$ m), allowing us to neglect hot-carrier mechanisms that have been reported previously [90]. Based on this physical understanding, we can make several predictions to validate our model and engineer improved sensitivity.

We first compute the expected gate-dependent Seebeck coefficient  $(S_1 \text{ and } S_2)$ purely from the resistance map using equation 4.18. Independently, we also extract the two Seebeck coefficients from our photo-voltage map using a Fourier transform (FT) of equation 4.17 with respect to  $V_{G1}$  and  $V_{G2}$  [90]. This is possible since the two Seebeck coefficients in equation 4.17 are assumed to be linearly independent with respect to gate bias ( $V_{G1}$  and  $V_{G2}$ ). Filtering the data along the x and y axis in Fourier space and then inverting the FT, we can find the experimentally measured Seebeck



Figure 4-5: Model of Graphene IR detection mechanism (a) Schematic of our thermoelectric device. Hot carriers at the junction (solid circle represents electrons, empty circle represents holes) diffuse away from the local heat spot generated by the laser. The temperature difference between the junction temperature  $(T_{hot})$  and the ambient temperature  $(T_{cold})$  is controlled by the optical absorption ( $\alpha$ ) and thermal conductance ( $\kappa_{eff}$ ) of the substrate. (b) Seebeck coefficients calculated from the resistance map in Figure 4-4(a) using Mott's relation (solid lines) and independently extracted from the photo-voltage map in Figure 4-4(b) using a Fourier transformation analysis technique (dashed lines). The inset shows the photo-voltage as a function of incident optical power ( $P_{in}$ ) at  $\lambda = 10.6 \ \mu$ m. The fit line is  $log(V_{PH}) = \beta log(P_{in}) + c$  with a coefficient ( $\beta$ ) of 0.9.

coefficients from Figure 4-4(b) (shown in the main panel of Figure 4-5(b) as dotted lines). The agreement between extracted and calculated coefficients further supports our thermoelectric model since these coefficients are responsible for the multiple sign reversals (6 fold pattern) observed in our map, as opposed to single sign reversal expected from photovoltaic effects [201]. Furthermore, the inset of Figure 4-5 (b) shows the photovoltage response as a function of incident power ( $P_{in}$ ). The linear power dependence that we observe in the slope of this plot ( $\beta$ =0.9) is consistent with Fourier's law (equation 4.19) in this range of optical power levels.

#### 4.3.4 Substrate Interactions

Given its limited thickness, the MLG is an excellent thermal conductor as well as a broad band absorber [202–204]; however, the infrared absorber material has an absolute bulk thermal conductance and optical absorption that can be equally important, depending on the geometries involved. Within our model, the thermal conductance  $(\kappa_{eff})$  and the optical absorption ( $\alpha$ ) are central to the photo-response mechanism of our devices. However, two questions naturally arise: (1) does the laser primarily heat up the MLG (optical free carrier absorption) or instead the infrared absorber around the MLG (substrate optical absorption, etc.), and (2) which thermal conductance dominates our device (the MLG's or the infrared absorber's thermal conductance)?

Our model predicts that increasing the optical absorption in our devices should lead to an increased photovoltage signal. To test this prediction, we fabricated identical devices as previously shown in Figure 4-3(b); however, we replaced the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> infrared absorber with SiN, which has a larger optical absorption ( $\alpha = 1.3 \mu m^{-1}$ ) than Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> ( $\alpha = 0.34 \mu m^{-1}$ ) at  $\lambda = 10.6 \mu m$  [205]. Figure 4-6(a) shows the transport behavior ( $V_{G1} = -V_{G2}$ ) of the SiN devices compared to the previously discussed Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> devices, taken at temperatures ranging from 100K to 300K. The resistance curves of both devices exhibit a weak temperature dependence and the calculated Seebeck coefficients (equation 4.18) are similar in magnitude for both devices (Figure 4-6 (b)).

In contrast, the measured photovoltage signal is twice as large at room temperature for the ambipolar graphene infrared thermocouple supported on SiN (with larger



Figure 4-6: Substrate and Temperature Dependence (a) Resistance-Gate Voltage measurements of the ambipolar graphene infrared thermocouple utilizing different infrared absorbers (ALD  $Al_2O_3$  on the left and PECVD SiN on the right) at various temperatures (100 K-300 K) (b) The Seebeck coefficients computed from the transport data in (a); for simplicity, we plot the dependence on one gate only, due to the symmetric behavior of the resistance maps. (c) The measured photo-voltage response for 5 values of temperature for each infrared absorber. The insets on the lower right corner show schematically where the line cuts were taken in the complete dual gate response at 300K.

MIR absorption), compared to Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (Figure 4-6(c)), even though the transport behavior is highly similar in both devices. From this result, we conclude that the optical absorption mainly occurs in the infrared absorber ( $\alpha \approx \alpha_{SUB}$ ).

As heat is deposited and diffuses away, the magnitude of the temperature gradient (equation 4.19) will be determined primarily by the highest thermal conductance. To study this effect we measure the temperature dependence of both devices, and find distinct trends for each infrared absorber material. Our model (equations 4.17, 4.18, 4.19) states that the temperature dependence follows  $V_{ph} \propto T/\kappa(T)$  , where  $\kappa(T)$  is the temperature dependent thermal conductance and  $\alpha$  is temperature independent (no thermo-optic effect). In Figure 4-7, we plot comparatively the normalized maximum photovoltage  $(V_{PH}^{MAX})$  and the quantity  $< \kappa_{eff} > \propto T/V_{PH}^{MAX}$  (normalized effective conductance) as a function of temperature for both  $Al_2O_3$  and SiN. As a function of temperature, the photovoltage increases with decreasing temperature, but at a much larger rate for devices with an SiN infrared absorber. Within that temperature range (100-250 K), the quantity  $< \kappa_{eff} >$  exhibits a decreasing trend with distinct slopes for  $Al_2O_3$  vs. SiN, regardless of the illumination wavelength in the designated range. Fitting this data to a power law  $< \kappa_{eff} > \propto T^{\gamma}$ , we find that  $\gamma \approx 1$  for Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> ( $T^{1.14}$ at 0.83  $\mu$ m and  $T^{0.99}$  at 10.6  $\mu$ m) and  $\gamma \approx 1.5$  for SiN ( $T^{1.41}$  at 0.83  $\mu$ m and  $T^{1.55}$  at 10.6  $\mu$ m). These values show excellent agreement with thermal conductivity measurements for amorphous dielectric solids in the regime where strong phonon scattering limits thermal conductance [206, 207].

By integrating the electrostatically controlled MLG with carefully chosen infrared absorbers, we construct a highly sensitive ambipolar graphene infrared thermocouple. The device sensitivity can be engineered by choosing substrate materials with a high MIR absorption and low thermal conductance. A thermoelectric description captures important aspects of the device response for a wide variety of conditions: temperatures (100-300K), photon energies (0.117-1.49eV), and substrate materials. While the MLG can exhibit a Seebeck coefficient ( $\pm 50\mu$ V/K) similar to a variety of other standard thermoelectric detectors, such as poly Si, Sb, and Bi [172], the MLG embedded into a hybrid thermal device has one major advantage: an atomic layer of graphene



Figure 4-7: Extracted Thermal Conductivity Data (a) The maximum  $V_{PH}$  normalized with respect to the maximum  $V_{PH}$  taken at 300 K as a function of temperature under 4 conditions. The solid lines represent measurements taken for SiN while the dotted lines represent the data for Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>. The color indicates the excitation source for the measurements (red is  $\lambda$ =10.6  $\mu$ m, while blue is  $\lambda$ =0.83  $\mu$ m). (b) Temperature dependence of the normalized effective thermal conductance  $\langle \kappa_{eff} \rangle$  for both the SiN and Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> substrates plotted on a log-log scale. The grey lines show the power law ( $T^{\gamma}$ ) fitting to the data:  $\gamma$  is 1.1 and 1.5 for SiN and Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> respectively.

adds a negligible thermal mass, yet generates a significant MIR photovoltage signal. This work provides a significant step forward towards engineering MLG devices that extract energy from thermal gradients, a technology that may have applications in human positioning detectors, passive sensors, such as nanoscale monitors of chemical reactions, as well as transparent and flexible thermal sensors and energy harvesting devices. Therefore given this insight, in the following chapter, we further explore the potential application of graphene as a thermal based imaging technology.

## Chapter 5

# Graphene-based Infrared Thermal Detectors

In this chapter, we examine and demonstrate some potential applications, as well as technology based upon graphene infrared thermal detectors. We will begin by examining the fundamental sensitivities of graphene-based thermopiles and examine the effect of a tunable Seebeck coefficient on D<sup>\*</sup>. Based upon these estimates, we integrate graphene into micro-electro-mechanical system to provide improved thermal isolation. Finally, as we look towards the future, we will conclude this chapter by investigating some technology development of a monolithic process to integrate graphene with standard silicon CMOS for potential applications for graphene based infrared cameras.

## 5.1 Performance Analysis

While initially, graphene's broadband optical absorption was an interesting property for infrared detection, the previous chapter suggests that the more dominant detection mechanism at infrared energies is actually thermo-electric in nature. Given this understanding of the infrared detection mechanisms in graphene, we can now better evaluate the potential applications and performance of this graphene-based technology. Starting with the transduction method that we modeled in Chapter 4, we rewrite here the expression for Mott's relation:

$$S_{i1}(V_{Gi}) = \frac{\pi^2}{3} \frac{k_B^2 T}{q} \frac{1}{R_i} \frac{dR_i}{dV_{Gi}} \frac{dV_{Gi}}{dE} \Big|_{E_f}.$$
(5.1)

In addition, in Chapter 1, we also constructed a square root charge model to take into account charge puddles near the Dirac point, also employing

$$R_{sh} = \frac{1}{q\mu\sqrt{n_s^2 + n_0^2}} \tag{5.2}$$

where  $n_s = \frac{C_{ox}}{q}(V - V_D)$ . If we combine equations 5.1 and 5.2, we can derive an explicit relationship for the Seebeck coefficient in terms of  $n_s$ :

$$S = \frac{\pi^2}{3} \frac{k_B^2 T}{q} \frac{2}{\hbar v_f \sqrt{\pi}} \frac{-n_s^{3/2}}{n_s^2 + n_0^2}$$
(5.3)

As we have shown before, the Seebeck coefficient is a tunable value; however, S has a maximum and minimum value located at  $n_{SMAX} = \pm \sqrt{3}n_0$ . When computing the maximum Seebeck coefficient  $(S_{MAX})$  in equation 5.4, we find that interestingly enough, this quantity does not depend on the mobility of the graphene, but only on the density of charged puddles  $(n_0)$  within the sample:

$$S_{MAX} = \pm \frac{\pi^2}{3} \frac{k_B^2 T}{q} \frac{2}{\hbar v_f \sqrt{\pi}} \frac{3^{3/4}}{4} \frac{1}{\sqrt{n_0}}.$$
(5.4)

Equation 5.4 is plotted in Figure 5.1 as a function of charge puddle density  $(n_0)$ , which as discussed in Chapter 1 and 2 and is primarily dependent on the graphene transfer and substrate interaction.

However, while in our analysis of graphene's Seebeck coefficient, we find that the maximum Seebeck coefficient is independent of mobility, the mobility is still an important factor when looking at the main figure of merit, which is the detectivity  $(D^*)$ . If we return back to our general expression for the detectivity for thermal detectors (Eq. 4.4), and include thermo-electric mechanisms (signal generation and noise sources), we can rewrite the previous expression (Eq. 5.5)



Figure 5-1:  $S_{MAX}$  as a function of  $n_0$ 

$$D_{thermopile}^{*} = \frac{\epsilon S R_{th}}{\sqrt{1 + \omega^2 \tau_{th}^2}} \frac{\sqrt{N a_0 b_0}}{\sqrt{4k_B T R_e \Delta f}}.$$
(5.5)

Unlike other types of detectors such as bolometers which require active biasing and thus contain 1/f noise, thermo-electric based detectors are often noise limited by Johnson noise. Due to the low voltage response of a single junction (~  $\mu$ V), typically many thermopile detectors are often placed in series to create a large array of thermopiles, which increase the signal by N; however, due to the limitation of Johnson noise, this also increases the amount of noise in the signal; however, for graphene the decrease in signal is only by  $N^{1/2}$ . Therefore overall, there is an increase in the net D\* by only  $\sqrt{N}$ . Therefore, we express the electrical resistance ( $R_e$ ) and Seebeck coefficient (S) as only one branch of a thermocouple. However, assuming similar geometries and thermal isolation of the devices, the only material dependent component of Equation 5.5 is just the Seebeck coefficient (S) and the resistivity ( $\rho_{sh}$ ). Therefore, in figure 5-2, we plot the Seebeck coefficient versus resistivity for a variety of common thermo-electric materials.

Graphene, for a given resistivity ( $\rho_{sh}$ ), has some potential advantages over other thermoelectric materials. Furthermore, in Figure 5-2, we plot both the positive and negative values of graphene's Seebeck coefficient to highlight the unique tunable dynamic range. This will be important later on in this chapter and when we will leverage some of graphene's other unique physical properties for some new applications. However, Figure 5-2 does show that while improvements in mobility do not make a large change in the overall Seebeck coefficient, they do have an important role in the conductivity or resistivity of graphene. Therefore, given these calculated values of Seebeck coefficient and sheet resistance, we can actually make some estimates for the achievable ranges of D\*.

In order to estimate values for D<sup>\*</sup>, we have to make some assumptions about the geometry of our detector (Figure 5-3). In an idealized thermal detector, we can assume a detector absorber area similar to before with a respective length and width of  $a_0$  and  $b_0$ . Assuming perhaps applications for focal plane arrays, we assume the



Figure 5-2: Comparison of Seebeck Coefficient of Various Thermoelectric Materials compared to Resistivity. The model assumed for graphene  $n_0 = 5 \times 10^{-11} \ 1/\text{cm}^2$ 



Figure 5-3: Schematic of ideal thermal detector

absorber geometry is an infrared pixel approximately 100  $\mu$ m x 100  $\mu$ m in length and width. We also assume that thermal the conduction is the dominant term in the thermal resistance  $(R_{th})$ :

$$R_{th} = \frac{L}{t_{SiN}\kappa_{SiN}W}$$
(5.6)

where L and W are the length and width of the thermal isolation legs,  $t_{SiN}$  is the thickness of the silicon nitride bridge, and  $\kappa_{SiN}$  is the thermal conductivity of the SiN. In addition, since electrical signals have to be wired on and off of the absorber region, we also assume that the electrical resistance of the device is dominated by the aspect ratio of the thermal isolation leads. In addition, we assume that we are able to lower the sheet resistance of the detector by increasing the number of layers of graphene ( $N_{layers}$ ):

$$R_{sh} = \frac{1}{qn_s\mu} \frac{1}{N_{layers}},\tag{5.7}$$

so we assume  $\omega=0$  in Equation 5.5. For a thermoelectric device, because the device requires a branch to go back and forth between the hot and cold zone, which affects the total thermal insulation, there need to be 2 leads for each electrical and thermal connection. We define  $N_j$  as the total number of junctions in the device and assume an emissivity of 1, so that the figure of merit of the thermopile is given by.

$$D_{thermopile}^{*} = 2N_{j}S\frac{L}{2N_{j}\kappa_{th}t_{SiN}W}\frac{\sqrt{a_{0}b_{0}}}{\sqrt{4k_{B}T2N_{j}\frac{R_{sh}}{N_{layers}}\frac{L}{W}}} = \frac{S(n_{s})}{\sqrt{R_{sh}(n_{s})}}\frac{\sqrt{a_{0}b_{0}}}{\kappa_{th}t_{SiN}}\sqrt{\frac{N_{layers}\beta}{8k_{B}TN_{j}}}$$

$$(5.8)$$

where  $\beta = L/W$ . In equation 5.8, we see that there are no bounds on L/W, and therefore L/W is determined by external factors; for example, a larger L/W increases the output impedance of the device such that it does not effectively couple into the input stage of an amplifier or L/W is limited by mechanical issues or by the layout area of the device. We have also assumed that one is able to dope multiple sheets of graphene to help reduce the overall sheet resistance. Finally, we also make the

Parameter	Value	
$\kappa_{th} \; (\mathrm{Wm^{-1}K^{-1}})$	8-12	
$N_j$	1	
$t_{SiN}$ (nm)	250	
N <sub>layers</sub>	1	
$a_0 ~(\mu m)$	100	
$b_0 ~(\mu { m m})$	100	
$\beta$	5	
$c_{SiN} ({\rm Jg^{-1}K^{-1}})$	0.17	
$ ho_{SiN}~({ m kg/m^3})$	2500	

Table 5.1: Estimated parameters for  $D^*$ .

approximation that  $t_{SiN}/\kappa_{th} \gg N_{layers}t_G/\kappa_{G,th}$  such that we do not have to consider the thermo-electric material thermally shorting the device. The parameters that we used for calculating D\* are presented in Table 5.1 where we utilize SiN as our supporting material layer.

Utilizing our calculations from Figure 5-2 and Equation 5.8, we plot our calculated D\* as a function of carrier concentration (Fig. 5-4). Interestingly enough, even though the sheet resistance and the Seebeck coefficient are both functions of carrier concentration, the product of  $S/\sqrt{R_{sh}}$  actually results in a constant value determined only by mobility (Eq. 5.10)

$$\frac{S}{\sqrt{R_{sh}}} = \frac{\pi^2}{3} \frac{k_B^2 T}{q} \frac{2}{\hbar v_f \sqrt{\pi}} \frac{-n_s^{3/2}}{n_s^2 + n_0^2} \times \left[ q \mu \sqrt{n_s^2 + n_0^2} \right]^{1/2}$$
(5.9)

$$\frac{S}{\sqrt{R_{sh}}} = \frac{\pi^2}{3} \frac{k_B^2 T}{q} \frac{2\sqrt{q\mu}}{\hbar v_f \sqrt{\pi}}, n_s >> n_0.$$
(5.10)

In addition to calculating D<sup>\*</sup>, we also calculated the thermal capacitance  $(C_{th})$  in Equation 5.11.

$$C_{th} = c_{SiN}\rho_{SiN}a_0b_0t_{SiN} \tag{5.11}$$

where  $c_{SiN}$  is the specific heat of silicon nitride, and  $C_{th}$  is calculated from the values from Table 5.1 yielding  $C_{th} = 2.656 \times 10^{-10}$  (J/K) and a corresponding  $\tau_{th} = 1.06$  ms.



Figure 5-4: D\* as a function of  $n_s$  assuming various mobilities

Figure 5-4 shows that for graphene, detection levels similar to other thermopile materials and even standard bolometer structures can be achieved when only a single sheet of graphene and appropriate thermal isolation are utilized. While this device may not, as of yet, be at the same performance level as conventional micro-bolometers (a-Si and VOx), the self-powered signal from thermopile sensors has intrinsic advantages for radiometry and other consumer and industrial applications where passive sensors or calibrated sensors are required [174, 208]. The simplicity of the device and fabrication may also tend to make it an attractive low-cost thermopile based material for large area applications, where scanning many large arrays of bolometers may not be as efficient as a self-powered thermo-electric. Furthermore, the integration aspects of CVD graphene and compatibility with roll to roll process may suggest a low cost stamping method for creating thermally isolated devices. Therefore motivated by these performance metrics, the following section mainly explores the potential applications for graphene-based thermal sensors. The first demonstration is the development of a graphene integrated microelectronic electrical mechanical system (MEMS).

## 5.2 Micro-electrical-mechanical Graphene Thermopile

Understanding that graphene-based infrared detection relies on thermal effects, we re-examine our original device structure in Chapter 4. In the previous experiments, the silicon substrate that the device is sitting on acts as a heat sink, which drastically reduces the  $T_{hot}$  at the junction since most of the heat generated by the laser is transported to the substrate. This heat loss mechanism is the predominate reason that the measured responsivities were only ( $\sim mV/W$ ). Therefore, to alleviate this problem, the process flow for the original device structure was modified to include additional etch release steps in order to construct a thermally suspended bridge structure. Figure 5-5 shows the new process flow for fabrication.

(1) Starting with a bare silicon wafer, we deposit a dielectric stack by high frequency plasma-enhanced (PE) CVD of 80 nm  $SiO_2/500$  nm SiN/80 nm  $SiO_2$ . This serves as our starting substrate with the  $SiO_2$  chosen as a protective cap for the SiN



Figure 5-5: MEMS Device Process Flow, blue - represents the SiN, red is silicon dioxide, orange are ohmic pads, gray - graphene sheet, green is  $XeF_2$  passivation.

to protect it during our XeF<sub>2</sub> silicon release process (Step 9). The SiN deposited by PE-CVD is not fully densified, which is both good and bad. The lack of densification leaves the SiN chemically reactive with XeF<sub>2</sub>; however, this also implies a lower thermal conductivity. Gate electrodes are also patterned by ebeam-lithography. (2) Release vias are cut through the entire dielectric stack exposing the underlying silicon substrate. To reduce plasma etching time on the structure, the etch vias are exposed to a short buffered oxide etch (BOE) to help thin down the membrane structure. This process was chosen to deliver more flexibility due to poor photoresist selectivity in our dielectric plasma etch recipe. (3) The entire structure is then recoated with another layer of PE-CVD SiO<sub>2</sub> ~80 nm thick, that serves as a gate dielectric as well as a sidewall coating for the SiN. (4) An additional etch is performed to selectively etch away the underlying silicon to re-expose the silicon underneath. (5) Graphene is then transferred onto the chips. Due to the rough topology, some regions of the graphene can delaminate; however, most of the graphene that tears is located near the exposed silicon regions. (6) Ohmic metals are patterned by ebeam-lithography (1 nm Ti/ 30


Figure 5-6: MEMS Diagram of Completed Membrane Structure. (a) Diagram and electrical schematic of device (b) SEM of device structure. Scale bar is 100  $\mu$ m, inset shows a zoomed in region of the membrane

nm Au). (7) Reactive oxygen etching and a PMMA hard mask are used for electrical isolation. (8) As a passivation layer to protect the graphene from the XeF<sub>2</sub>, PMMA is spun onto the sample and then rexposed for the etch vias for suspension. This PMMA slightly dopes the graphene, but it does not appear to significantly degrade the electrical properties. (9) Finally the chip is exposed to XeF<sub>2</sub> for 2 cycles for 30s each to undercut the membrane bridge.

Figure 5-6(a) shows the schematic of the device structure and Figure 5-6 (b) shows an SEM image of the completed device after suspension. The inset in Figure 5-6 (b) shows a zoomed-in image of the suspended bridge structure and the two embedded electro-static gates.

We characterized our devices in a similar fashion, as described previously in Chapter 4, measuring both the resistance of the device (Fig. 5-7 (a)) as well as the photovoltage response of the device (Fig. 5-7 (b)). However, unlike previous measurements, the measured responsivity is now ~ 1 V/W as compared to our original responsivity of ~ mV/W. Therefore simply by thermally engineering the substrate, we are indeed able to enhance the responsivity of this device by almost 3 orders of magnitude. Using our measured responsivity at 10.6  $\mu$ m, we can estimate the potential D\* of this device in Equation 5.12:

$$D_{thermopile}^* = \frac{R\sqrt{a_0b_0\Delta f}}{\sqrt{4k_BTR_e\Delta f}} = \frac{R\sqrt{a_0b_0}}{4k_BTR_e}$$
(5.12)



Figure 5-7: Electrical and Optical Characterization of MEMS device (a) IV measurement utilizing  $V_{M1-M2} = 25\mu V$  (b) measured photovoltage response. Input laser power was 1.6 mW. All measurements taken at 300 K

so that the responsivity (R) is approximately 1 V/W at 10.6  $\mu$ m. The area of the device is 16  $\mu$ m by 30  $\mu$ m in size. The resistance ( $R_e$ ) of our device is approximately 50 kΩ. This results in a calculated  $D^* = 7.6 \times 10^4 \text{ cmHz}^{1/2} \text{W}^{-1}$ , whereas the ideal calculated from Equation 5.8 is  $D^* = 1.32 \times 10^6 \text{ cmHz}^{1/2} \text{W}^{-1}$ . The lower value of D\* is due to a couple of factors. The largest effect in our device is the fact that the incident power on the device is not fully absorbed. This can be seen from the device structure. For electrostatic gating of our graphene device, the location of the incident absorbed power is mainly in the PE-CVD  $SiO_2$  gate dielectric. To quantify this, we measured the infrared optical transmission spectra through various layers of material. The measured transmission through 10 nm Ti/20 nm Pt is essentially zero across the entire infrared spectrum. Therefore, this implies that some of the incident light is absorbed by the metal gates; however, most of the incident light is actually reflected back through the  $SiO_2$  gate dielectric. To estimate the fraction of absorbed light in the Ti/Pt electrode, we can compute the complex reflectivity of Pt at 10.6  $\mu$ m. The real  $(n_R)$  and imaginary  $(n_I)$  part of the refractive index of Pt is 11.13154 and 39.670, respectively [205]. Utilizing Equation 5.13, we can compute the magnitude of



Figure 5-8: IR transmission of various device materials: PMMA, PE-CVD SiO<sub>2</sub>, Substrate Material (PE-CVD SiO<sub>2</sub>/SiN/SiO<sub>2</sub>).

Layers	Percent Absorption	
10 nm Ti/ 20 nm Pt	2.6 %	
$143 \text{ nm SiO}_2$	2.5 %	
205 nm PMMA	0.23~%	
Total	5.33 %	

Table 5.2: Optical Absorption at  $\lambda = 10.6 \ \mu m$ 

the reflectivity of the gate electrodes.

$$R = \frac{(1 - n_R)^2 + n_I^2}{(1 + n_R)^2 + n_I^2} = 97.4$$
(5.13)

Therefore, only 2.6% of the incident laser light is absorbed by the metal. The rest must be reflected and then absorbed by the  $SiO_2$  and PMMA coating on top. Therefore, we measured, using a Fourier Transform Infrared Spectrometer (FTIR), the percent transmission of infrared light for various thickness of materials including the PMMA coating, the PE-CVD SiO<sub>2</sub> and the substrate PE-CVD SiO<sub>2</sub>/SiN/SiO<sub>2</sub> (Fig. 5-8).

Table 5.2 shows the measured optical absorption for each of the different layers. At  $\lambda$ =10.6 µm, we are only absorbing approximately 5% of the incident light in our MEMS device, suggesting that potentially, much larger responsivities are achievable



Figure 5-9: MEMS Graphene Thermopile before suspension(a) Schematic of MEMS device version 2 (b)Optical Micrograph of fabricated device before suspension

with proper optical absorption. Therefore, while we have addressed the fundamental issue of thermal isolation, there is still much to be done to improve the optical absorption of our devices. This could be accomplished through the inclusion of carbon nanotubes, carbon black, optical cavities, etc. For simplicity, we chose to redesign the device structure in order to utilize the inherent substrate underneath, which has a much larger and broader infrared absorption (Fig. 5-8).

## 5.2.1 MEMS Graphene Thermopile version 2

Therefore, we modified the device layout of the MEMS device, as shown in Figure 5-9 (a). The gates are placed at the periphery, leaving the center of the substrate SiN open as a passive absorber. In addition, this structure can be combined with other approaches, such as (1) deposition of amorphous carbon or (2) utilizing a back optical cavity between the SiN and the substrate. With only a change in layout, MEMS devices were fabricated identical to the process flow listed in Figure 5-5. Figure 5-9 (b) shows the device structure before suspension. The center absorber area in Fig. 5-9(b) is 100  $\mu$ m by 100  $\mu$ m. Figure 5-10 shows optical microscope and SEM images of the device after suspension.

Unfortunately, due to the larger dimensions and sizes of these structures, the device is more sensitive to internal process-induced stresses than before. Figure 5-11



Figure 5-10: MEMS Graphene Thermopile after suspension (a) Optical Micrograph of fabricated device after suspension (b) SEM of completely suspended device

shows an SEM of the devices and failure mechanisms due to the excessive tensile strain. Utilizing the KLA-Filmetrics to measure stress on the starting wafers, we quantify the amount of tensile stress in our SiN at 605 MPa Tensile Stress. This stress we found to be too great resulting in a large fraction of post release failures. Therefore, we reduced the total amount of stress in the film by utilizing a mixed frequency (HF + LF) PE-CVD deposition RF to reduce the total intrinsic stress down to 29.61 MPa, which we found to greatly improve our yield after release.

Figure 5-12 shows measured data from these new batches of devices including varying the optical chopping frequency to measure the time constant of this device, which is approximately 47 ms. Further device characterization is still underway with our collaborators from the Army Research Labs for a more detailed characterization of D\*. However, as measurements for D\* are still ongoing, estimations can still be made about graphene-based thermopiles for standoff thermal imaging. A new figure of merit is necessary in order to take into account the entire imaging system (Figure 5-13): noise equivalent temperature difference (NETD), which represents the smallest detectable change in far-field blackbody temperature that one can measure.

#### 5.2.2 NETD Estimation

Figure 5-13 shows an array of detectors (left); each imaging the far field through an imaging lens with an area of  $A_0$  and the object of interest has a temperature of  $T_B$ . To derive the NETD value, we first compute the difference in emitted optical power as a



Figure 5-11: MEMS Graphene Thermopile - SEM of failed devices due to stress and cracking

blackbody emitter changes temperature, which comes from differentiating Equation 4.1

$$\frac{dW(\lambda,T)}{dT} = W(\lambda,T)\frac{c_2 e^{\frac{c_2}{\lambda T}}}{\lambda T^2 \left(e^{\frac{c_2}{\lambda T}} - 1\right)} \cong \frac{c_2}{\lambda T^2} W(\lambda,T)$$
(5.14)

This change in blackbody emitted power (dW) is due to a small change in blackbody temperature (dT). The quantity in Eq. 5.14  $c_2$  is equal to 1.4388  $\times 10^4$  ( $\mu$ m °K). Therefore, given the sensitivity of the device to small changes in power, we can express NETD in equation 5.15.

$$NETD = \frac{\pi f^2 \sqrt{a_0 b_0 \Delta f}}{A_0 a_0 b_0} \frac{1}{\int_0^\infty D^*(\lambda) \tau_0(\lambda) \frac{\partial W_\lambda(\lambda, T)}{\lambda T} d\lambda}$$
(5.15)

where  $A_0$  is the size of the lens, f is the focal distance of the lens,  $\tau_0$  is the transmission coefficient of the optics and system. This figure of merit thus becomes more important when quantifying the entire system, as opposed to quantifying only the intrinsic detectivity.

So previously, we estimated D\*; however, this was measured at a specific wave-



Figure 5-12: MEMS Graphene Thermopile - (a) resistance measurement as a function of  $V_{G1}$  and  $V_{G2}$  with  $25\mu$ V excitation. (b) Responsivity Map of the device in (a) utilizing  $P_{in} = 0.28$  mW. (c)Response of device in (a,b) as a function of modulation frequency ( $\omega$  - radians/sec)



Figure 5-13: Diagram of Basic Thermal Imaging System

length 10.6  $\mu$ m, for a device which only absorbed 5.33 % of the incident light. Therefore, to avoid any double counting of the optical absorption, we computed D\* assuming 100% absorption, which is equal to  $2.6 \times 10^7$  cmHz<sup>1/2</sup>W<sup>-1</sup>. Therefore, in our expression for NETD, we take into account optical absorption through  $\tau_0$ . At the same time, we could define D\* as a function of wavelength initially and then take  $\tau_0$ as the transmission only through the optics, as opposed to taking into account the absorption of the material. Utilizing this definition of NETD and Equation 5.15, we compute the NETD assuming various optical substrates as well as graphene quality. Table 5.4 shows the computed NETD for (1) PE-CVD SiO<sub>2</sub> and Ti/Pt (2) PE-CVD SiO<sub>2</sub>/SiN/SiO<sub>2</sub> (3) Carbon black. In addition, we have also computed NETD assuming the ideal calculated D\* ( $1.0 \times 10^8$  cmHz<sup>1/2</sup>W<sup>-1</sup>) from Figure 5-4 assuming approximately  $\mu = 1000-5000$  cm<sup>2</sup>V<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>. In conclusion, even with our existing structures, it appears promising that these MEMS-based devices can be used for standoff thermal imaging. Experiments are currently underway to demonstrate this with a single MEMS-based pixel.

Focal Length (f)	25.4  mm
Lens Diameter $(d_0)$	25.4  mm
Detector Width $(a_0)$	$100~\mu{ m m}$
Detector Length $(a_0)$	$100 \ \mu m$
Bandwidth ( $\Delta f$ )	60 Hz

Table 5.3: Assumed Optical and System Imaging Parameters for the device in Fig. 5-13

NETD (K)	PECVD	PECVD	Carbon Black
	$SiO_2/TiPt$	$ m SiO_2/SiN/SiO_2$	or 100 % ab-
			sorption
$D^* = 2.6 \times 10^7 \text{ cmHz}^{1/2} \text{W}^{-1}$	6.88	1.00	0.21
$D^* = 1.0 \times 10^8 \text{ cmHz}^{1/2} \text{W}^{-1}$	1.79	0.26	0.055

Table 5.4: Computed NETD due to various optically absorptive substrates. In addition, we have also computed NETD assuming the ideal calculated D\* from Figure 5-4 assuming approximately  $\mu = 1000-5000 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ .

## 5.3 Graphene-CMOS Monolithic Integration

Given the growing development of graphene-based electronic and opto-electronic devices, these materials provide new materials capabilities to our existing toolbox of electronic devices; however, due to the overwhelming technology and history with silicon, we believe graphene-based sensors may serve better as a complementary technology. Unfortunately, due to the weak adhesion between CVD graphene and the underlying substrate, as seen in Chapter 3, we believe that a front end of the line process may not be the best way to integrate graphene since the graphene would then be a mechanical weak spot. In addition, graphene's amazing transport properties require special encapsulation to properly preserve its high quality transport. Therefore, we developed a back end of the line (BEOL) process, integrating our graphene thermal sensors with a commercially available CMOS chip fabricated by TSMC. The chip design/ testing was done in collaboration with Sung Jae Ha. The device processing is discussed in this section.



Figure 5-14: Diagram of CMOS chip and graphene devices

## 5.3.1 Device Concept

As a test for thermal signatures, we designed a read-out chip fabricated from TSMC's 180nm process line, with a  $60 \times 80$  graphene device array monolithically integrated onto a TSMC chip (Fig. 5-14). Each pixel is read through a series of multiplexors (MUX) where each row (Row Select - RS) and column (Column Select - CS) are chosen and then transmitted to an Successive Approximation Register (SAR) analog-to-digital converter (ADC) for readout from the chip (Fig. 5-15). An optical micrograph of the chip is shown in Fig. 5-15. The graphene-based device structure for the first iteration of processing was identical to the MEMS device (Fig. 5-6) excluding the substrate release step. This was chosen to simplify device processing to a bare minimum for process development purposes.

#### 5.3.2 Device Processing

The graphene device area is shown in Figure 5-16 after a blanket passivation removal by CF<sub>4</sub> plasma to expose the top metal (M6) layer. Due to design rules imposed by TSMC, dummy metal structures are included. Unfortunately, the chip, as received, was not planarized as shown in Figure 5-16 (b), which corresponds to an AFM scan across one of the Ohmic Vias (white dotted line in Figure 5-16 (a)). Therefore, the total peak to valley roughness is approximately 1.25  $\mu$ m. This lack of planarization,



Figure 5-15: Block level diagram (right) of the read out chip including the pixel select blocks (Row Select and Column Select (CS)) for multiplexing signals (MUX) to the SAR ADC. Clock (CLK) and Bias signals are also shown. Optical micrograph of chip (left) and circuit placement

unfortunately, complicates our integration process, as we will discuss later in this section; many issues related to photoresist, metallization, and graphene transfer are complicated by this non-planar topology. In addition, the chips, as received, were only 5 mm x 5 mm in size. Due to the small size, conventional planarization techniques such as chemical mechanical planarization (CMP) were difficult to utilize on such a small piece. Attempts were made to utilizing a standard TEM sample prep from Southbay Technologies - however the equipment, made available at MIT, did not have the proper wedge compensation to allow for perfectly planar polishing. Also due to the small size of the chip, polymer planarization techniques utilizing polyimide (PI) proved to be potentially hazardous to the chip, due to the required high temperature mechanical curing of the polymer ( $T_{cure} > 300$  °C) for 1-2 Hours. The thermal budget for the chip was also not clearly presented by TSMC; therefore, we choose to limit our processing mainly to low temperatures (<250 °C).

The final process flow that appeared to satisfy all of these constraints is shown in Figure 5-17. The process flow starts with a (1-2) blanket passivation etch to remove the top passivation to expose the ohmic vias underneath. (3) This is followed



Figure 5-16: Graphene Pixel Area (a) Optical micrograph of pixel area. Red dotted line represents the area for the graphene device, dummy metal represents dummy metal fill imposed by TSMC, ohmic vias connect directly to the underlying transimpedance amplifier (b) AFM of dotted white line in (a) to show that the ohmic vias stick out of plane



Figure 5-17: Process Flow for Graphene Integration. PASS = passivation, ILD = interlayer dielectric, M6 = Metal 6 (Cu), M5 = Metal 5 (Cu), blue = PECVD SiO<sub>2</sub>, grey line is graphene. The left and right images are the side and top view of the pixel area, respectively

by an ohmic metallization to contact the metal on the flat regions of the pixel for eventual graphene contact. (4) Ti/Pt electrodes are then deposited by electron beam evaporation. (5) This is then covered by a 70 nm layer of PE-CVD SiO<sub>2</sub>, which serves as our gate dielectric. (6) Etch vias into the gate dielectric are then patterned to expose the underlying metal pads and (7) graphene is then transferred on top of the chip. (8) Ohmic connections to the graphene are defined by e-beam lithography and (9) graphene is then electrically isolated by mesa isolation utilizing Reactive Oxygen Etching.

While the final process flow appears relatively straight-forward, there were a couple of issues that required some further investigation: (1) Resist Uniformity (2) Ohmic Metallization and (3) Graphene Transfer.

#### **Resist Non-uniformity**

Due to the small chip size and non planar features, we were also limited to electonbeam lithography for all of our processing steps. However, due to the rough topology of the surface, much thicker ebeam resists were necessary, as shown in Figure 5-18. The PMMA resist is almost 63% thinner on top of the metal structures than in the graphene pixel region. Therefore, depending on the processing steps (Lift-off versus Etching), layout of the structures differed depending on whether the pattern was on top of a protrusion or in the flatter region.

#### **Ohmic Metallization**

Due to the non-planar substrate, ohmic metallization was also more difficult than in previous devices. Standard lift-off requires utilizing a directional metal evaporation, which forms a discontinuous metal film across large step heights (>200 nm), to enable solvent to "lift-off" the polymer/metal stack. The discontinuity in the metal films is due to the shadowing effects caused by the directional electron-beam evaporation. Therefore, instead of electron-beam evaporation, we focused on sputtered ohmic metal films, which, due to the higher pressure of deposition, are usually conformal. Unfortunately, while we desire conformal metal depositions to enable good step coverage,



Figure 5-18: Resist Non-uniformity of PMMA when spinning and exposing PMMA on the surface. (a) AFM scan region of 15  $\mu$ m x 15  $\mu$ m (b) Line Cuts of AFM scan red line cut corresponds to across the metal layer, while the black line cut is in the flat region of the pixel.

this also complicated matters when performing lift-off. Therefore, initially we tried to directly sputter a conformal layer of metal onto the entire chip surface and then dry etch the metal using maN-2403 e-beam resist as an etch mask (see Fig. 5-19).

The top metal contact metal (Ti/Au) was chosen to avoid issues such as oxidation after deposition. Unfortunately, there are only a few plasma etch technologies that are capable of etching Ti/Au. The most common one is direct ion milling using Argon, which has been proven to be highly selective between photoresist and gold. Work on ion milling was done in collaboration with Matt Chin at Army Research Labs (ARL) with the assistance of their 4wave ion mill. After ion milling, the method appears to work; however, as mentioned before, the thickness variation of the resist after spinning led to a thinning of the resist mask at the top of the ohmic vias and dummy metals, causing metal erosion (Figure 5-20). In addition, after ion milling, the photoresist left behind was very difficult to completely remove. Even after long exposure to oxygen plasma (>2 Hr), residue on top of the metal remained. Due to the ion bombardment and thermal management, there were some issues of bubbling of the maN-2043 resist that led to pinhole defects and rough metal surfaces after processing.

Therefore, we began searching for another alternative and investigating a sput-



Figure 5-19: Direct Sputtering of Metal (a) SEM of the structures after metal sputtering (b) AFM of the maN-2403 resist after exposure and development.



Figure 5-20: Ion Milling (a) Optical micrographs of the Ti/Au after ion milling. (b) SEM of the structures in (a) after ion milling. Notice that the metal layers on top appear to have been etched through due to poor step coverage of the resist.



Figure 5-21: Sputtered Liftoff - PMMA (a) SEM before lift-off of patterned e-beam resist and sputtered metal layer (10 nm Ti/ 30nm Au) (b) SEM of structure after performing lift-off (ultrasonic in Acetone for 2 minutes, power = 6). Note the fence structure surrounding the feature caused by the conformal deposition of metal along the side walls of the lift-off resist.

tered lift-off process. The sputtering process, due to the higher base pressures, is a conformal process, as shown in Figure 5-21. As expected, the metal deposition from sputtering is too conformal to do a direct liftoff from a single layer of resist, as seen by the fence structures in Figure 5-21 (b). To adjust for this, we utilized a bilayer resist process of MMA and PMMA to ensure a very deep undercut ( $<1 \mu$ m). Utilizing a deep undercut provided by the bilayer process, we are able to form a discontinuity in the deposited metal as shown in Figure 5-22 (a). Unfortunately, this does mean that the patterns that we constructed have a much larger profile then as originally defined by the lithography (approximately 1.5  $\mu$ m larger on both sides), but at least this provides us with a conformal metal coverage for thin metal stacks ~ 100-200 nm of metal. Therefore, this sputtered lift-off process was the final process that we used in step (3) of our process flow (Fig 5-17).

#### Graphene Transfer

The last integration issue, with this non-planar chip, was the graphene itself (done with the assistance of Yong Cheol Shin). Unfortunately, due to the density of features (dummy metals and ohmic vias), tenting of the transferred graphene films can often occur as it is suspended above the surface. However, if the graphene did not make



Figure 5-22: Sputtered Liftoff - MMA/PMMA (a) SEM before lift-off of patterned MMA/PMMA e-beam resist after sputtered metal layer (10 nm Ti/ 30 nm Au) (b) SEM of structure after performing liftoff (ultrasonic in Acetone for 2 minutes, power = 6). Note there is a small plateau effect that changes the patterned geometry slightly due to sputtered material underneath the undercut.

contact with the underlying substrate before solvent treatment, the graphene did not adhere correctly (Fig 5-23 (a)). Therefore, we found that softening and re-flowing of the PMMA is a necessary step to ensure proper adhesion between the graphene and the substrate (Fig 5-23 (b)). Traditionally, we think of graphene as being extremely flexible; however, given the support layer of PMMA ( $\sim 200-400$  nm), graphene is mechanically confined by the PMMA. Therefore, we added in a PMMA reflow step (T > 130 °C) since the glass transition temperature ( $T_{glass}$ ) of PMMA is around 120-130 °C. This reflow step allows the graphene/PMMA stack to relax and adhere to the underlying substrate. Unfortunately, even with this step, there is still a small amount of tenting near closely spaced protrusions (Fig. 5-23 (b)); however, a sufficient coverage of graphene is transferred onto the chip for device processing. While other techniques, such as thermal decomposition of PMMA under a forming gas environment are possible for both removal and relaxation of the PMMA, we wanted to avoid any high-temperature processing so as to ensure compatibility with the underlying silicon chip. In the current scheme, the entire transfer process only undergoes a maximum temperature of 150°C and exposure to acetone.

Therefore after resolving the issues outlined above, we were able to monolithically integrate our graphene devices with the foundry fabricated CMOS chip. Figure 5-24



Figure 5-23: Graphene Transfer onto CMOS chip (a) SEM of Graphene transferred onto the chip with only blow drying and no thermal reflow step (b)SEM of Graphene transferred onto the chip after PMMA softening at 150 °C for 4 hours.



Figure 5-24: Optical Micrgraphs of completed graphene-CMOS integration.

shows the completed process, including graphene ohmic contacts and mesa integration.

## 5.3.3 SPICE Modelling

Currently, device testing after processing is still ongoing; however simultaneously, we have also begun developing a basic SPICE (Simulation Program with Integrated Circuit Emphasis) model for the graphene thermocouple element utilizing the basic equations that we have shown earlier in this chapter for circuit level simulations. Figure 5-25 shows the basic circuit level model for the graphene based thermocouple. We model the input temperature (DT) as an input voltage (1V = 1K) through an RC



Figure 5-25: Spice Model for graphene based thermocouple

filter to take into account the thermal time constant of the device. Further voltage inputs taken into the gates of the device (VG1 and VG2) are also inputted into RC filters to take into account capacitive effects of gating graphene. The carrier concentration ( $n_{s1} = C_{ox}V_{G1}/q$  and  $n_{s2} = C_{ox}V_{G2}/q$ ) are then computed from the input gate voltages. The carrier concentrations and equation 5.3 are used to compute the Seebeck coefficient of each side of the thermocouple. Each branch of the thermocouple computes a voltage, as represented by a voltage source ( $V_N$  and  $V_P$ ), by utilizing the relation  $V = S\Delta T$ . The voltages are then summed in series to take into account the total measured thermo-voltage. Finally, these computed carrier concentrations and equation 5.7 are used to compute the series resistance of the thermocouple ( $R_P$  and  $R_N$ ). These parameters and inputs are summarized in Table 5.5.

In this chapter, we have looked at the performance estimates for graphene-based thermo-couple devices and we find that there are some advantages and unique aspects of this technology. Therefore, we have demonstrated a method for integrating graphene-based devices with thermal isolation in a MEMS structure. This modification has enabled an improvement of detection close to 7 V/W at DC at  $\lambda = 10.6 \mu$ m. Current device characterization is still on-going to better quantify the ultimate detection limit of these devices. In addition, we have also demonstrated a useful technology to directly integrate our graphene temperature sensors as a back-end of the line process with a foundry processed CMOS chip. This high-level integration should prove useful to complement our graphene technology with present state-of-the-art sil-

PARAMETERS	Name	Units	Value
Width	W	cm	10e-4
Length	L	cm	15e-4
Mobility	muG	${\rm cm}^{-2}{\rm V}^{-1}{\rm s}^{-1}$	1000
Impurity Charge	nO	$1/\mathrm{cm}^2$	1e12
Oxide Capacitance	Cox	$F/cm^2$	5.75e-8
Temperature	Т	K	300
Thermal Resistance	Rth	K/W	0.1
Thermal Capacitance	Cth	$\rm J/K$	0
INPUTS			
Temperature Diff.	DT	K (1V = 1K)	-
Gate 1	VG1	V	-
Gate 2	VG2	V	-

Table 5.5: Table of SPICE parameters and inputs

icon technology, which can extend beyond infrared sensors, but also to chemical as well as optical sensors for graphene and other two-dimensional materials.

# Chapter 6

## **Outlook and Future Work**

## 6.1 Thesis Contributions

The contributions of this thesis span three main topic areas: (1) Graphene Materials and Transfer development; (2) Device Processing ranging from development of h-BN, ohmic contacts, titanium-metal interactions, RF devices and circuits; and (3) Graphene-based Thermal Detectors for infrared applications. The following lists papers that have contributed to each of these different areas.

#### Graphene Synthesis and Transfer

- S. M. Kim, A. Hsu, Y.-H. Lee, M. Dresselhaus, T. Palacios, K. K. Kim, and J. Kong, "The effect of copper pre-cleaning on graphene synthesis," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 24, p. 365602, Sept. 2013
- K. K. Kim, A. Hsu, et al, "Charge neutralization of CVD Graphene on various substrates," In Preparation, 2014.

#### **Device Processing**

• A. Hsu, H. Wang, K. K. Kim, J. Kong, and T. Palacios, "High frequency performance of graphene transistors grown by chemical vapor deposition for mixed signal applications," Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, vol. 50, p. 070114, July 2011

- A. Hsu, H. Wang, K. K. Kim, J. Kong, and T. Palacios, "Impact of graphene interface quality on contact resistance and RF device performance," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 8, pp. 1008–1010, 2011
- A. L. Hsu, R. J. Koch, M. T. Ong, W. Fang, M. Hofmann, K. K. Kim, T. Seyller, M. S. Dresselhaus, E. J. Reed, J. Kong, and T. Palacios, "Surface-induced hybridization between graphene and titanium," ACS Nano, July 2014
- K. K. Kim, A. Hsu, X. Jia, S. M. Kim, Y. Shi, M. Hofmann, D. Nezich, J. F. Rodriguez-Nieva, M. Dresselhaus, T. Palacios, and J. Kong, "Synthesis of mono-layer hexagonal boron nitride on cu foil using chemical vapor deposition," *Nano Letters*, vol. 12, pp. 161–166, Jan. 2012
- K. K. Kim, A. Hsu, X. Jia, S. M. Kim, Y. Shi, M. Dresselhaus, T. Palacios, and J. Kong, "Synthesis and characterization of hexagonal boron nitride film as a dielectric layer for graphene devices," ACS Nano, Sept. 2012
- H. Wang, A. Hsu, D. S. Lee, K. K. Kim, J. Kong, and T. Palacios, "Delay analysis of graphene field-effect transistors," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 324–326, 2012
- H. Wang, A. Hsu, J. Wu, J. Kong, and T. Palacios, "Graphene-based ambipolar RF mixers," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 31, pp. 906–908, Sept. 2010
- S. M. Kim, A. Hsu, et al, "Synthesis of High Quality Large Area h-BN for Device Applications," In Preparation, 2014.
- R. J. Kock, A. Hsu, et al, "Titanium-induced symmetry breaking in Graphene," In Preparation, 2014.

#### **Graphene-based Thermal Detectors**

- P. K. Herring, A. L. Hsu, N. M. Gabor, Y. C. Shin, J. Kong, T. Palacios, and P. Jarillo-Herrero, "Photoresponse of an electrically tunable ambipolar graphene infrared thermocouple," *Nano Letters*, vol. 14, pp. 901–907, Feb. 2014
- A. Hsu, P. K. Herring, et al. "Graphene-based MEMS IR Thermopile," In Preparation, 2014.
- A. Hsu, P. K. Herring, et al. "Transparent-Flexible Graphene based Thermocouple," In Preparation, 2014.

## 6.2 Future Work

While in chapter 5, we have investigated the utilization of graphene as a thermal detector for primarily stand-off thermal imaging, in the following sections, we examine some future/ongoing work along four different directions: (1) Graphene Optical Choppers, (2) Graphene Plasmonic Absorption, (3) Graphene Surface Charge Sensors, and (4) Transparent Flexible Thermal Sensors.

## 6.2.1 Graphene Optical Choppers

As we have mentioned in Chapter 1, graphene's band structure is capable of direct inter-band optical absorption across the entire far-infrared and infrared spectra. This, coupled with the large tunability of the Fermi-energy level with respect to gate bias, also means that low energy states can become Pauli-blocked through the application of an applied electric field. Essentially, this means that we can create a tunable optical filter, which absorbs all energies above a specific value, as determined by the electrostatic gate bias. Unfortunately, a single layer of graphene can only absorb 2.3% of the incident light. Therefore, in order to function as a more effective absorber, many layers of monolayer graphene are required (Eq. 6.1), so that the relation between the absorption and transmission through many layers becomes

$$T = [1 - \alpha_{graphene}]^{N_{layers}} \tag{6.1}$$

where, T is the optical transmission,  $\alpha_{graphene}$  is the optical absorption through a single layer of graphene including both intra-band and inter-band processes, and  $N_{layers}$ is the total number of layers in the absorber. Therefore, to achieve approximately >90% optical absorption, requires a minimum of 99 layers of monolayer graphene. While 99 layers is achievable by direct transfer, this method is obviously extremely taxing and time consuming. Possible folding options with graphene could be considered which due to the exponential rate of film thickness by folding would only require a single layer of graphene and only 7 folds. However, while the film thickness also increases exponentially, the total film area is halved, which implies that if the final filter is to be 1 cm x 1 cm in size, the original starting material would have to be 12 cm x 12 cm. In addition, folding could causing tearing and damage while handling the film. Therefore, perhaps a more scalable process for generating such a structure is to directly create such a structure through direct synthesis of monolayer graphene as shown in Figure 6-1. Due to the graphene growth process occurring at low pressures, by altering the geometry at which we grow, we can in parallel grow 100's of sheets of graphene in a relatively small volume. Typically graphene is grown on copper foils around 25  $\mu$ m thick. If we assume that we are able to space copper foils approximately 25  $\mu$ m apart, then to grow 100's of sheets of graphene simultaneously would only consume a total width of 2.5 mm since we grow graphene on two surfaces per sheet of copper foil. This copper fin structure could be constructed in a variety of different ways: (1) manually holding 50 foils in parallel, (2) constructed using massively parallel techniques such as photolithography, (3) rapid prototyping techniques using metal sintering, or (4) massive hot wire saw structures. In addition, in this fin geometry, all of the copper could be etched in parallel while encasing the graphene in a rigid matrix - ideally some IR transparent polymer material. However, the second issue with all of these structures is how to electro-statically gate each of these layers. In the proposed geometry, one could utilize a common connection, such



Figure 6-1: Graphene Optical Choppers (a) Multiple Layer Growth of Graphene Layers (b) Final Structure

that all of the graphene sheets are shorted together as one extremely large graphene sheet. Then with the addition, of a polymer electrolyte, one could actually fill the gaps in between the graphene layers, and the polymer electrolyte gate would form a double layer capacitance all along the surface of the graphene fins. One type of polymer electrolyte gate is that of PEO (poly(ethylene) oxide) for which we have measured the IR transmittance in the FTIR (Figure 6-2) [216].

From Figure 6-2, one sees that there are indeed various transmission bands within this polymer across the infrared, such that it could be used over a specific range of photon energies. In addition, through proper surface coating of the graphene, the PEO could also be made very thin to try to minimize any unwanted optical absorption through the PEO, since only the double layer capacitance near the interface of graphene is necessary for gating. Another added advantage of using polymer electrolyte gating is that the amount of induced charged density is extremely high  $\sim 1 \times 10^{14} \text{ } 1/\text{cm}^2$ , which would correspond to approximately to an  $E_f = 1.167 \text{ eV}$ (assuming no trigonal warping effects and higher level corrections to graphene's linear band structure). This would correspond to being able to Pauli block up to 2.334 eV photons, which corresponds to  $\lambda = 531 \text{ nm}$ . This is advantageous mainly because we need to consider intra-band absorption effects, which will not be greatly modified by



Figure 6-2: IR transmission of PEO (poly(ethylene) oxide).

adjusting the Fermi-energy level. These large carrier effects or Drude like optical absorption pathways will dominate mainly at longer wavelengths (>5  $\mu$ m), which would serve to reduce the extinction ratio of this filter. Therefore this electrically controlled absorber may be better suited for  $\lambda = 500$  to 5000 nm.

## 6.2.2 Graphene Plasmonic Absorption

In addition to graphene's potential for inter-band optical absorption, there has been a lot of interest in graphene for plasmonic absorption. Shown recently, [217,218], plasmonic structures made of patterned graphene can potentially yield large (~100%) optical absorption. Utilizing periodic arrays of nano-patterned graphene (~60 nm) sized disks sitting in between two dielectric environments, it has been calculated that close to 100 percent optical absorption can be achieved with heavily doped graphene  $(0.4 \text{ eV} \sim 1-3 \times 10^{13} \text{ 1/cm}^2)$ . This large optical absorption is due to the high carrier



Figure 6-3: Plasmonic Absorption in nano-patterned graphene (a) Diagram of Plasmonic Absorber (b), (c) Colormap of maximum optical absorption as a function of the ratio of the dielectric constants above and below the graphene as well as angle of incidence for s and p polarized light. (d) and (e) absorbance as a function of photon energy for various points (1-6) labelled in (b) and (c).

density within graphene that leads to the coherent oscillation of electrons within the graphene sheets generating a resonant optical absorption [191]. This effect could be quite useful for our previously demonstrated graphene IR thermal detectors. We mentioned earlier that we can utilize materials such as carbon black for optical absorption; however, utilizing a single atomic monolayer of material might be more amenable as an optical absorber, since the device could still be optically transparent, but infrared active. Therefore, these plasmon resonance structures would be an interesting way to allow for ultra-thin thermal detectors, as well as, dual wavelength (vertically stacked) imaging structures. Furthermore, spatially patterned optical absorbers can also be created such that one can create directly integrated IR absorbers on the surface of a MEMS structure or thermopile.

## 6.2.3 Graphene Surface Charge Sensors

While our studies in infrared stand-off thermal imaging have primarily focused on the applications of graphene as a thermo-couple material, there are some intrinsic limitations of such a detection mechanism in terms of achievable response. As we have mentioned before, thermo-couple based sensing requires a large number of junctions to increase the responsivity of these detectors, whereas bolometers can always increase their signal response by injecting a larger measurement current. However, the temperature change of resistivity at room temperature is usually around 4-6 %/K for vanadium oxide (VOx). Another possible approach is to leverage graphene's ultrahigh carrier mobility or transconductance. While graphene itself is a poor bolometric material since graphene's charge carriers are relatively immune to phonon scattering, graphene is extremely sensitive to the surrounding charged environment, specifically the location of the charge neutrality point using (Eq. 6.2):

$$R_{graphene} = \frac{L}{W} \frac{1}{q\mu\sqrt{(n_s - n_{dirac})^2 + n_0^2}}$$
(6.2)

so assuming all factors are relatively constant with respect to temperature, except for  $n_{dirac}$ , we can compute the resistance change in graphene as a function of temperature (Eq. 6.3)

$$\frac{dR_{graphene}}{dT} = \frac{dR_{graphene}}{dn_{dirac}} \frac{dn_{dirac}}{dT} = \frac{L}{q\mu W} \frac{n_{dirac}}{\left((n_s - n_{dirac})^2 + n_0^2\right)^{3/2}} \frac{dn_{dirac}}{dT}$$
(6.3)

and we can rewrite Eq. 6.3 in terms of the temperature coefficient of resistance (TCR) of graphene (Eq. 6.4 and 6.5).

$$R_{tot} = R_{graphene} + \frac{dR}{dT} \Delta T = R_{graphene} \left( 1 + \frac{1}{R_{graphene}} \frac{dR}{dT} \Delta T \right)$$
(6.4)

$$TCR = \frac{1}{R_0} \frac{dR}{dT} = \frac{n_{dirac}}{(n_s - n_{dirac})^2 + n_0^2} \frac{dn_{dirac}}{dT} \approx \frac{1}{n_{dirac}} \frac{dn_{dirac}}{dT}$$
(6.5)

The reason we assume that only  $n_{dirac}$  is a function of temperature, is that as we discussed earlier, many pyroelectric materials change their surface charge density as a function of temperature. As an example, we consider lead zirconium titanate (PZT) which has a pyro-electric 0.042  $\mu$ C/(cm<sup>2</sup>K) [219], thereby corresponding to a surface charge density of 2.625 × 10<sup>11</sup> 1/(cm<sup>2</sup>K). Assuming  $n_0 = 1 \times 10^{11} 1/\text{cm}^2$ ,  $n_s=0$ , so if we assume the starting value of  $n_{dirac} >> n_0$  and  $n_{dirac} \sim 5 \times 10^{12} 1/\text{cm}^2$ , then the corresponding TCR = 5.25 %/K, assuming  $n_{dirac} = 3 \times 10^{12} \text{ 1/cm}^2$ , and we can achieve a TCR of 8.75 %/K. Therefore, assuming proper control of the starting  $n_{dirac}$  point, we can construct a very sensitive bolometer by coupling the surface charge generated by pyro-electric materials as a surface sensitive gating. If proper doping can be controlled, relatively large TCR's can potentially be engineered out of graphene.

## 6.2.4 Transparent Flexible Thermal Sensors

While previous work in this chapter has focused on graphene for infrared optical applications, we return back to graphene for thermal applications. While ultra-sensitive temperature sensors can be used for stand-off imaging by utilizing radiative heat transfer, other forms of heat transfer can also be used with a graphene sensor such as heat conduction. Therefore, graphene can serve as a general temperature sensor; however, when we compare graphene to many of the materials that can be used as a thermo-couple, we find that graphene has some unique properties: (1) it is extremely mechanically flexible, (2) it is also optically transparent, and (3) it is cheap to produce. While transparent conductive metals such as ITO can be doped to form various thermocouples, the values achievable by ITO as well as the flexibility for various electronic applications are still far off [220]. Furthermore, due to the optical transparency, graphene might serve as a unique opportunity for invisible electronic applications, where devices envisioned in the future can provide sensing opportunities without any visual indicator of the sensor. Therefore, revisiting our existing graphene-based thermal sensor, we investigate strategies and methodologies to make the structure transparent.

As we have discussed previously, graphene itself is already 2.3% transparent; however, the only thing that is not transparent in our present device, is the gate electrode. The gate electrode can be simply replaced with another layer of graphene such that one layer of CVD graphene can gate another layer of graphene electrostatically (Fig. 6-4 (a)). The only issue with this structure is the need to form a high quality, pin-hole free gate dielectric at the interface of graphene. This may be more difficult over large areas of graphene due to issues pertaining to surface roughness, pin hole defects, and various particles, which make uniform gate dielectrics over large areas > mm or >cm a very daunting challenge. However, as a reminder, the need for an electrostatic gate is to simply modify the Fermi energy level of the graphene. This can also be achieved by other means such as chemical doping. While we have spent a lot of time studying doping of graphene in chapter 2, we can leverage these studies to chemically dope graphene both p and n type. This simplifies the device fabrication and allows for a more robust detector without the worry of mechanical deformation shorting the detector. For p-type dopants of graphene, there are many to choose from; AuCl<sub>3</sub>, various charged ions, etc. can serve this purpose [221–224]. However, the choice for n-type dopants is more limiting. Much work has been spent on achieving sufficient n-type doping in graphene including synthesis of N-type graphene utilizing nitrogen dopants [225–228]; however, traditionally in our experiments, we find that our original Al(ox) often compensates the intrinsic doping of the material from p-type to n-type. Therefore we fabricated the structure shown in Figure 6-4 (b). Finally, the lateral geometry or layout of this device can be made quite large ( $\sim$  mm), such that fabrication can be accomplished using shadow masking rather than more complicated micro-fabrication techniques.

We have begun process development and basic device fabrication of these device structures. Device testing to confirm the degree of n-type doping as well as a measurement regarding sensitivity and mechanically flexibility are scheduled for the near term future.



Figure 6-4: Transparent Flexible Thermal Sensors (a) Schematic of Electrostatically Controlled Thermal Sensor Devices (b) Chemically doped graphene-based thermocouples.

# Appendix A

# **Process Flow**

## A.1 MEMS Device Process Flow

## A.1.1 Starting Substrate Preparation

- 1. Start with Blank 4" Si Wafer (purchased from MTL)
- 2. Asher-TRL 800W for 1 hour

3. TRL STS-CVD HFSiO\_DP Recipe for 1 minute - Target Thickness = 75 nm  $^1$ 

Deposition Temperature = 300 ° C

Deposition Rate = 8.0 - 8.5 (nm/min)

Approximate Stress = -443.917 MPa

 4. TRL STS-CVD MFSiN\_AH Recipe for 8 minute (9.5s HF/0.5s LF) - Target Thickness = 450 nm

Deposition Temperature =  $300^{\circ}$ 

Deposition Rate = 56.48 nm/min

Approximate Stress = 174.3 MPa

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Run Etchback.rcp for 15-20 minutes and run HFSiO\_DP recipe on dummy silicon to calibrate deposition rates before run - use Filmetrics to confirm deposition rate.

5. TRL STS-CVD HFSiO DP Recipe for 1 minute - Target Thickness =  $75 \text{ nm}^2$ 

## A.1.2 Gate Electrodes

1. TRL Coater (TRL PMMA Spinner)

PMMA A4 (750 rpm for 2s, 4000 rpm for 60s)

TRL Hotplate 2 - bake at 175 °C for 7 minutes

2. Elionix 125  $^3$ 

Beam Current = 30 nA

Dwell Time = 0.06 us

 $Dose = 1800 \text{ uC/cm}^2$ 

3. Develop PMMA

MIBK:IPA 1:3 for 90s

IPA for 60s

 $N_2$  and check in microscope

4. Asher-TRL - 800W for 5 minutes

5. Ebeam-FP

10 nm Ti - No Rotation, Dep. Rate = 0.1 nm/s

20 nm Pt - No Rotation, Dep. Rate = 0.1 nm/s

6. Liftoff

Acetone/IPA/N<sub>2</sub> and check under microscope  $^4$ 

 $<sup>^2</sup> Total$  Stress of Wafer after deposition should be 29 MPa, and target total thickness  $\sim$  601.82 nm

 $<sup>^{3}\</sup>mathrm{Depending}$  on the gap between the gate electrodes (< 500 nm) may require a multi beam current exposure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Ultrasonication may be necessary to ensure clean substrate - PWR = 5-6 for 2 minutes for all solvents should be sufficient.

7. Asher-TRL

Descum - Asher 800W for 1 hour

## A.1.3 Pad Electrodes

- 1. HMDS Oven Recipe 5
- 2. TRL Coater

AZ5214E (750 rpm for 2s, 3000 rpm for 60s)

TRL Hotplate 2 - Bake at 80 °C for 5 minutes

#### 3. MA-6

9.8s vacuum contact mode (Pad Electrode Mask)
TRL Hotplate 2 - Bake 105 °C for 1 minute
97.8s flood exposure

#### 4. Develop

AZ422 - 2 minutes  $DiH_2O$  - 60s and  $N_2$  - inspect after done

5. Asher-TRL - 800 W for 5 minutes

## 6. Ebeam-FP

10 nm Ti - No Rotation, Dep. Rate = 0.1 nm/s.

20 nm Pt - No Rotation, Dep. Rate = 0.1 nm/s

#### 7. Liftoff

Acetone/IPA/N<sub>2</sub> and check under microscope (ultrasonic might be necessary)

8. Asher-TRL

Descum - Asher 800W for 1 hour

## A.1.4 XeF<sub>2</sub> Vias

- 1. HMDS Oven Recipe 3
- 2. TRL Coater

SPR-7000 (750 rpm for 2s, 3000 rpm for 60s)

TRL Hotplate 2 - Bake at 80 °C for 5 minutes

- 3. MA-6 14s vacuum contact mode (XeF<sub>2</sub> Vias)
- 4. Develop

CD-26 - 90s

 $DiH_2O$  - 60s and  $N_2$  - inspect after done

- 5. Asher-TRL 800 W for 5 minutes
- 6. Plasmaquest <sup>5</sup>

CF4H2\_AH.rcp (234-240 V - DC bias)

Run for 10 minutes, 10 minutes, 3 minutes (Total Time = 23 minutes)

chiller at 15 °C - Substrate at 21 °C  $^6$ 

7. Solvent Clean

Acetone/IPA/N<sub>2</sub> with ultrasonics

8. Asher-TRL - 800W 1.5 Hours

## A.1.5 Gate Dielectric/Pad Vias

1. TRL STS-CVD HFSiO\_DP Recipe for 1 minute - Target Thickness = 75 nm  $^7$ 

 $<sup>^5</sup>$  use a clean silicon wafer and condition with ETCHCLN.rcp and CF4H2\_AH.rcp for 10 minutes before running real sample

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>calibrated etch on dummy reference substrate samples with photolithography test - check with Dektak and also can check with  $XeF_2$  etcher to see if suspension occurs. Etched regions should like silicon or have a slightly pinkish hue

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Run Etchback.rcp for 15-20 minutes and run HFSiO\_DP recipe on dummy silicon to calibrate deposition rates before run - use Filmetrics to confirm deposition rate.
Deposition Temperature =  $300 \circ C$ 

Deposition Rate = 8.0 - 8.5 (nm/min)

Approximate Stress = -443.917 MPa

- 2. HMDS Oven Recipe 3
- 3. TRL Coater

SPR-7000 (750 rpm for 2s, 3000 rpm for 60s)

TRL Hotplate 2 - Bake at 80  $^{\circ}$ C for 5 minutes

- 4. MA-6 14s vacuum contact mode (Pad Vias Mask)
- 5. Develop

CD-26 - 90s

 $\rm DiH_2O$  - 60s and  $\rm N_2$  - inspect after done

- 6. Asher-TRL 800 W for 5 minutes
- 7. Plasmaquest <sup>8</sup>

CF4H2\_AH.rcp (234-240 V - DC bias)

Run for 3 minutes and 30 s.)

chiller at 15  $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$  - Substrate at 21  $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ 

8. Solvent Clean

 $Acetone/IPA/N_{2}$  with ultrasonics

9. Asher-TRL - 800 W for 1.5 hours.

 $<sup>^8\</sup>text{use}$  a clean silicon wafer and condition with ETCHCLN.rcp and CF4H2\_AH.rcp for 10 minutes before running real sample

# A.1.6 Graphene Transfer

- 1. Graphene Transfer Done by Yi Song and Yong Cheol Shin
- 2. Check with Optical Microscopy and SEM to ensure continuous graphene
- 3. Make sure thermal reflow step is done and no drying by spinning.
- 4. Check Graphene Quality on Copper by SEM before transfer on to the rough substrate.
- 5. If Graphene Transfer is bad use NSL plasmatherm (90s of testp3.prc to remove graphene OR short Pirahna 45s and Asher-TRL to clean surface before retransfer)

# A.1.7 Graphene Ohmics

1. TRL Coater (TRL PMMA Spinner)

PMMA A8 (750 rpm for 2s, 4000 rpm for 60s)

TRL Hotplate 2 - Bake at 175  $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$  for 7 minutes

#### 2. Elionix 125

Beam Current = 30 nA

Dwell Time = 0.08 us

 $Dose = 2400 \text{ uC/cm}^2$ 

3. Develop PMMA

MIBK:IPA 1:3 for 90s

IPA for 60s

 $N_2$  and check in microscope

4. Ebeam-FP

1 nm Ti - No Rotation, Dep. Rate = 0.1 nm/s

30 nm Au - No Rotation, Dep. Rate = 0.1 nm/s

5. Liftoff

Acetone/IPA/N<sub>2</sub> and check under microscope. Only Pipette should be necessary as long as PMMA is thick enough. Only leave in acetone for 2-3 hours before trying liftoff

# A.1.8 Graphene Mesa

1. TRL Coater (TRL PMMA Spinner)

PMMA A4 (750 rpm for 2s, 4000 rpm for 60s)

TRL Hotplate 2 - Bake at 175 °C for 7 minutes

2. Elionix 125 (Ohmic Mask)

Beam Current = 30 nA

Dwell Time = 0.06 us

 $\mathrm{Dose} = 1800 \ \mathrm{uC}/\mathrm{cm}^2$ 

3. Develop PMMA

MIBK:IPA 1:3 for 90s

IPA for 60s

 $N_2$  and check in microscope

4. NSL-Plasmatherm

testp3.prc for 15 s (48 V/ 128 W)

- 5. Asher-TRL 800W for 5 minutes
- 6. Solvent clean

 $\rm Acetone/IPA/N_2$  and check under microscope. Let sit in Acetone for 90 minutes

# A.1.9 Device Suspension

1. TRL Coater (TRL PMMA Spinner)

PMMA A4 (750 rpm for 2s, 4000 rpm for 60s)

TRL Hotplate 2 - Bake at 175 °C for 7 minutes

2. Elionix 125 (XeF2 Mask)

Beam Current = 30 nA

Dwell Time = 0.06 us

 $Dose = 1800 \text{ uC/cm}^2$ 

3. Develop PMMA

MIBK:IPA 1:3 for 90s

IPA for 60s

 $N_2$  and check in microscope

- 4. Cleave chip into various dies
- 5. Plasmaquest

CF4 AH.rcp 15 s (209.48 W/ 22 W/ 308.64 V)

 $6. \ XeF_2$ 

Cycles 2-3

Etch Time 30 s

Pressure (5000/5000/2200 mtorr)

Check with microscope if undercut is sufficient; if not then place chip in for another cycle.

# A.2 CMOS Device Process Flow

To handle chip, utilize Aluminium carrier disks from First Cut.

# A.2.1 Sample Preparation

1. Solvent Clean

Acetone/IPA/N2 with ultrasonics in teflon beakers (PWR = 5-6)

# A.2.2 Via Etching

1. TRL Coater (TRL PMMA Spinner)

MMA 8.5 EL 11.5 (750 rpm for 2s, 4000 rpm for 60s) TRL Hotplate 2 - Bake at 175 °C for 7 minutes/ Cool for 3 minutes PMMA A8 (750 rpm for 2s, 4000 rpm for 60s)

- 2. TRL Hotplate 2 Bake at 175 °C for 7 minutes/ Cool for 3 minutes
- 3. Elionix 125 (Via Etching)

Beam Current = 30 nA

Dwell Time = 0.08 us

- $Dose = 2400 \text{ uC/cm}^2$
- 4. Develop Bilayer Resist (slight agitation)

MIBK:IPA 1:3 for 90s

METH:IPA 2:1 for 20s

IPA for 60s

 $\mathrm{N}_2$  and check in microscope

5. Plasmaquest

CF4\_AH.rcp (208 W/ 21 W/ 315 V - chiller at 15  $^{\circ}$ C - Substrate at 21  $^{\circ}$ C)

Etch for 2 minutes/ Cool down for 3 minutes

Etch for 2 minutes/ Cool down for 3 minutes

Etch for 1 minutes/ Take out and inspect sample

#### 6. Solvent Clean

Acetone/IPA/N<sub>2</sub> with ultrasonics in teflon beakers (PWR = 5-6)

7. Asher-TRL

30-45 minutes <sup>9</sup>

8. Plasmaquest

CF4\_AH.rcp (208 W/ 21 W/ 315 V - chiller at 15 °C - Substrate at 21 °C) for 3 minutes/ cool for 2 minutes

Repeat approximately 7-9 times. After 6th or 7th etch take sample out and inspect under the microscope. Copper borders should begin to appear the metal pads.

SEM/AFM plug structures to ensure that all of the top passivation has been removed and to measure the step height from the top of the passivation to the area in between metal structures

# A.2.3 Ohmic Plugs

1. TRL Coater (TRL PMMA Spinner)

MMA 8.5 EL 11.5 (750 rpm for 2s, 4000 rpm for 60s)

TRL Hotplate 2 - Bake 175 °C for 7 minutes/ Cool for 3 minutes.

PMMA A8 (750 rpm for 2s, 4000 rpm for 60s)

TRL Hotplate 2 - Bake 175 °C for 7 minutes/ Cool for 3 minutes.

2. Elionix 125 (Ohmic Plug Pattern)

Beam Current = 30 nA

Dwell Time = 0.08 us

 $Dose = 2400 \text{ uC/cm}^2$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>This time might influence the blanket passivation etch time

3. Develop Bilayer Resist (slight agitation)

MIBK:IPA 1:3 for 90s METH:IPA 2:1 for 20s IPA for 60s

 $\mathrm{N}_2$  and check in microscope - make sure one sees a deep under cut in the bilayer resist

4. Sputter (Harvard or EML - depending on process restrictions)

Presputter Bias (RF) 45 W for 5 minutes at 3 mtorr

Ti - Thickness 10 nm / 3 mtorr / ROT ON

Au - Thickness 100 nm / 3 mtorr / ROT ON  $^{10}$ 

5. Liftoff

Place Sample in Acetone (Teflon beaker) for 2 minutes, ultrasonic PWR 5.

Place Sample in Acetone (Quartz beaker) for a couple of seconds

Place Sample in IPA (Teflon beaker) for 2 minutes, ultrasonic PWR 3

 $\mathrm{N}_2$  and check with optical microscope the metal structures

Check Ohmic Interconnects in DC probe station on test dummy structures to make sure an Ohmic connection is achieved.

6. Asher-TRL - 800W for 30 minutes

## A.2.4 Gate Electrodes

1. TRL Coater (TRL PMMA Spinner)

PMMA A8 (750 rpm for 2s, 4000 rpm for 60s)

TRL Hotplate 2 - bake at 175 °C for 7 minutes

 $<sup>^{10}{\</sup>rm Ti}$  - 60 W/306 V/193 mA 0.3-0.4 Angstroms/s (8/13/2014), Au 30 W/ 518 V/ 56 mA 1 Angstroms/s - this strongly depends on the target used - fresh gold target should have conditions approximately 59 W/ 376 V/ 159 mA at 3 mtorr - check all targets before using real sample

2. Elionix 125

Beam Current = 10/30 nA (fine/large features)

Dwell Time = Depending on Dose

 $Dose = 2200 - 2400 \text{ uC/cm}^2$ 

3. Develop PMMA

MIBK:IPA 1:3 for 90s

IPA for 60s

 $N_2$  and check in microscope

- 4. Asher-TRL 800W for 5 minutes
- 5. Ebeam-FP

10 nm Ti - No Rotation, Dep. Rate = 0.1 nm/s

20 nm Pt - No Rotation, Dep. Rate = 0.1 nm/s

6. Liftoff

Acetone/IPA/N<sub>2</sub> and check under microscope  $^{11}$ 

7. Asher-TRL

Descum - Asher 800W for 1 hour

8. DC Probe Station

Test Connection of Ti/Pt electrodes.

# A.2.5 Gate Dielectric

1. TRL STS-CVD HFSiO\_LT Recipe for 1 minute - Target Thickness = 75 nm  $^{12}$ 

Deposition Temperature = 250  $^\circ$  C

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Ultrasonication may be necessary to ensure clean substrate - PWR = 5-6 for 2 minutes for all solvents should be sufficient.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Run Etchback.rcp for 15-20 minutes and run HFSiO\_LT recipe on dummy silicon to calibrate deposition rates before run - use Filmetrics to confirm deposition rate.

Deposition Rate = 73.85 (nm/min)

#### A.2.6 Gate Vias

1. TRL Coater (TRL PMMA Spinner)

MMA 8.5 EL 11.5 (750 rpm for 2s, 4000 rpm for 60s) TRL Hotplate 2 - Bake at 175 °C for 7 minutes/ Cool for 3 minutes PMMA A8 (750 rpm for 2s, 4000 rpm for 60s)

- 2. TRL Hotplate 2 Bake at 175 °C for 7 minutes/ Cool for 3 minutes
- 3. Elionix 125 (Via Etching)

Beam Current = 30 nADwell Time = 0.08 us

 $Dose = 2400 \text{ uC/cm}^2$ 

4. Develop Bilayer Resist (slight agitation)

MIBK:IPA 1:3 for 90s METH:IPA 2:1 for 20s IPA for 60s

 $N_2$  and check in microscope

5. Asher-TRL

Descum - Asher 800W for 5 minutes

6. Plasmaquest

CF4\_AH.rcp (208 W/ 21 W/ 354 V - chiller at 15  $^{\circ}$ C - Substrate at 21  $^{\circ}$ C)

Etch for 2 minutes/ Cool down for 3 minutes

7. Solvent Clean

Acetone/IPA/N<sub>2</sub> with ultrasonics in teffon beakers (PWR = 5-6)

#### 8. Asher-TRL

1 Hour

9. Metrology

Inspect using AFM and SEM that the ohmic vias are exposed.

# A.2.7 Graphene Transfer

- 1. Graphene Transfer Done by Marek Hempel and Yong Cheol Shin
- 2. Check with Optical Microscopy and SEM to ensure continuous graphene
- 3. Make sure thermal reflow step is done and no drying by spinning.
- 4. Check Graphene Quality on Copper by SEM before transfer on to the rough substrate.
- 5. If Graphene Transfer is bad use NSL plasmatherm (90s of testp3.prc to remove graphene OR short Pirahna 45s and Asher-TRL to clean surface before retransfer)
- 6. Ensure that the PMMA is thin enough to conform to the entire surface
- 7. Image in SEM at 2.5 keV for graphene contrast using inlens detector.

## A.2.8 Graphene Ohmics

1. TRL Coater (TRL PMMA Spinner)

PMMA A8 (750 rpm for 2s, 4000 rpm for 60s)

TRL Hotplate 2 - Bake at 175 °C for 7 minutes

2. Elionix 125 (Graphene Ohmic Mask)

Beam Current =25 nA

Dwell Time = 0.08 us

 $Dose = 2000 \text{ uC/cm}^2$ 

#### 3. Develop PMMA

MIBK:IPA 1:3 for 90s

IPA for 60s

 $N_2$  and check in microscope

#### 4. Ebeam-FP

1 nm Ti - No Rotation, Dep. Rate = 0.1 nm/s

30 nm Au - No Rotation, Dep. Rate = 0.1 nm/s

#### 5. Liftoff

Acetone/IPA/N<sub>2</sub> and check under microscope. Only Pipette should be necessary as long as PMMA is thick enough. Left in acetone overnight - but do not let the samples flip over or scratch the surface.

# A.2.9 Graphene Mesa

1. TRL Coater (TRL PMMA Spinner)

PMMA A8 (750 rpm for 2s, 4000 rpm for 60s)

TRL Hotplate 2 - Bake at 175 °C for 7 minutes

2. Elionix 125 (Graphene Mesa Mask)

Beam Current = 25 nA

Dwell Time = 0.08 us

 $Dose = 2000 \text{ uC/cm}^2$ 

3. Develop PMMA

MIBK:IPA 1:3 for 90s

IPA for 60s

 $N_2$  and check in microscope

4. NSL-Plasmatherm

testp3.prc for 75 s (48 V/ 128 W)

- 5. Asher-TRL 800W for 5 minutes
- 6. Solvent clean

Acetone/IPA/N<sub>2</sub> and check under microscope. Let sit in Acetone for a couple of hours.

7. Chip ready for packaging by Sungjae Ha.

# A.2.10 FIB Cutting

In case of issues during packaging, the FIB can be used to remove or destroy shorts on the chip. Using the continuous SEM option on the FIB in CMSE to monitor the etch, a beam current of 0.28 - 0.93 nA, with an approximate dose of 2-5 nC/um<sup>2</sup>, was sufficient to cut most metal lines. Note that there is some re-sputtering of the removed material on the sidewalls of the sample.

# Bibliography

- K. Mak, M. Sfeir, Y. Wu, C. Lui, J. Misewich, and T. Heinz, "Measurement of the optical conductivity of graphene," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 101, Nov. 2008.
- [2] P. Blake, E. W. Hill, A. H. C. Neto, K. S. Novoselov, D. Jiang, R. Yang, T. J. Booth, and A. K. Geim, "Making graphene visible," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 91, p. 063124, Aug. 2007.
- [3] R. Zan, Q. M., R. Jalil, and U. Bangert, "Atomic structure of graphene and h-BN layers and their interactions with metals," in *Advances in Graphene Science* (M. Aliofkhazraei, ed.), InTech, July 2013.
- [4] S. Bhaviripudi, X. Jia, M. S. Dresselhaus, and J. Kong, "Role of kinetic factors in chemical vapor deposition synthesis of uniform large area graphene using copper catalyst," *Nano Letters*, vol. 10, p. 100902084346020, Sept. 2010.
- [5] K. S. Kim, Y. Zhao, H. Jang, S. Y. Lee, J. M. Kim, K. S. Kim, J.-H. Ahn, P. Kim, J.-Y. Choi, and B. H. Hong, "Large-scale pattern growth of graphene films for stretchable transparent electrodes.," *Nature*, vol. 457, pp. 706–10, Feb. 2009.
- [6] F. Bonaccorso, Z. Sun, T. Hasan, and A. C. Ferrari, "Graphene photonics and optoelectronics," *Nature Photonics*, vol. 4, pp. 611–622, Aug. 2010.
- [7] F. Xia, T. Mueller, Y.-M. Lin, A. Valdes-Garcia, and P. Avouris, "Ultrafast graphene photodetector.," *Nature nanotechnology*, vol. 4, pp. 839–43, Dec. 2009.
- [8] A. Das, S. Pisana, B. Chakraborty, S. Piscanec, S. K. Saha, U. V. Waghmare, K. S. Novoselov, H. R. Krishnamurthy, A. K. Geim, A. C. Ferrari, and A. K. Sood, "Monitoring dopants by raman scattering in an electrochemically topgated graphene transistor," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 3, pp. 210–215, Mar. 2008.
- [9] K. K. Kim, A. Hsu, X. Jia, S. M. Kim, Y. Shi, M. Hofmann, D. Nezich, J. F. Rodriguez-Nieva, M. Dresselhaus, T. Palacios, and J. Kong, "Synthesis of monolayer hexagonal boron nitride on cu foil using chemical vapor deposition," *Nano Letters*, vol. 12, pp. 161–166, Jan. 2012.

- [10] A. Hsu, H. Wang, K. K. Kim, J. Kong, and T. Palacios, "Impact of graphene interface quality on contact resistance and RF device performance," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 8, pp. 1008–1010, 2011.
- [11] Y.-M. Lin, C. Dimitrakopoulos, K. A. Jenkins, D. B. Farmer, H.-Y. Chiu, A. Grill, and P. Avouris, "100-GHz transistors from wafer-scale epitaxial graphene.," *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 327, p. 662, Feb. 2010.
- [12] L. Liao, Y.-C. Lin, M. Bao, R. Cheng, J. Bai, Y. Liu, Y. Qu, K. L. Wang, Y. Huang, and X. Duan, "High-speed graphene transistors with a self-aligned nanowire gate.," *Nature*, vol. 467, no. 7313, pp. 305–308, 2010.
- [13] Y. Wu, Y.-M. Lin, A. A. Bol, K. A. Jenkins, F. Xia, D. B. Farmer, Y. Zhu, and P. Avouris, "High-frequency, scaled graphene transistors on diamond-like carbon," *Nature*, vol. 472, no. 7341, pp. 74–78, 2011.
- [14] A. Hsu, H. Wang, K. K. Kim, J. Kong, and T. Palacios, "High frequency performance of graphene transistors grown by chemical vapor deposition for mixed signal applications," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 50, no. 7, p. 070114, 2011.
- [15] Y.-M. Lin, K. A. Jenkins, A. Valdes-Garcia, J. P. Small, D. B. Farmer, and P. Avouris, "Operation of graphene transistors at gigahertz frequencies.," *Nano Letters*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 422–6, 2009.
- [16] J. S. Moon, D. Curtis, M. Hu, D. Wong, C. McGuire, P. M. Campbell, G. Jernigan, J. L. Tedesco, B. VanMil, R. Myers-Ward, C. Eddy, and D. K. Gaskill, "Epitaxial-graphene RF field-effect transistors on si-face 6h-SiC substrates," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 650–652, 2009.
- [17] J.-O. Plouchart, J. Kim, J. Gross, R. Trzcinski, and K. Wu, "Scalability of SOI CMOS technology and circuit to millimeter wave performance," p. 4 pp., IEEE, 2005.
- [18] "Technical information: Characteristics and use of infrared detectors."
- [19] "Grainger catalog."
- [20] "Tres BN cosmetic powders."
- [21] P. Wallace, "The band theory of graphite," *Physical Review*, vol. 71, pp. 622–634, May 1947.
- [22] M. Dresselhaus and G. Dresselhaus, "Intercalation compounds of graphite," Advances in Physics, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 139–326, 1981.
- [23] A. E. Karu and M. Beer, "Pyrolytic formation of highly crystalline graphite films," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 37, pp. 2179–2181, Apr. 1966.

- [24] R. Geick, C. H. Perry, and G. Rupprecht, "Normal modes in hexagonal boron nitride," *Physical Review*, vol. 146, pp. 543–547, June 1966.
- [25] H. O. Pierson, "Boron nitride composites by chemical vapor deposition," Journal of Composite Materials, vol. 9, pp. 228–240, July 1975.
- [26] R. E. Bell and R. E. Herfert, "Preparation and characterization of a new crystalline form of molybdenum disulfide," J. Am. Chem. Soc., vol. 79, no. 13, pp. 3351-3354, 1957.
- [27] K. S. Novoselov, A. K. Geim, S. V. Morozov, D. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S. V. Dubonos, I. V. Grigorieva, and A. A. Firsov, "Electric field effect in atomically thin carbon films.," *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 306, pp. 666–9, Oct. 2004.
- [28] A. Geim, "Nobel lecture 2010."
- [29] K. Bolotin, K. Sikes, Z. Jiang, M. Klima, G. Fudenberg, J. Hone, P. Kim, and H. Stormer, "Ultrahigh electron mobility in suspended graphene," *Solid State Communications*, vol. 146, pp. 351–355, June 2008.
- [30] C. Lee, X. Wei, J. W. Kysar, and J. Hone, "Measurement of the elastic properties and intrinsic strength of monolayer graphene," *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 321, pp. 385–8, July 2008.
- [31] K. S. Novoselov, Z. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S. V. Morozov, H. L. Stormer, U. Zeitler, J. C. Maan, G. S. Boebinger, P. Kim, and A. K. Geim, "Room-temperature quantum hall effect in graphene.," *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 315, p. 1379, Mar. 2007.
- [32] A. S. Mayorov, R. V. Gorbachev, S. V. Morozov, L. Britnell, R. Jalil, L. A. Ponomarenko, P. Blake, K. S. Novoselov, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, and A. K. Geim, "Micrometer-scale ballistic transport in encapsulated graphene at room temperature.," *Nano letters*, vol. 11, pp. 2396–9, June 2011.
- [33] F. Wang, Y. Zhang, C. Tian, C. Girit, A. Zettl, M. Crommie, and Y. R. Shen, "Gate-variable optical transitions in graphene.," *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 320, pp. 206–9, Apr. 2008.
- [34] A. B. Dalton, S. Collins, E. Muñoz, J. M. Razal, V. H. Ebron, J. P. Ferraris, J. N. Coleman, B. G. Kim, and R. H. Baughman, "Super-tough carbonnanotube fibres," *Nature*, vol. 423, pp. 703–703, June 2003.
- [35] Z. F. Ren, Z. P. Huang, J. W. Xu, J. H. Wang, P. Bush, M. P. Siegal, and P. N. Provencio, "Synthesis of large arrays of well-aligned carbon nanotubes on glass," *Science*, vol. 282, pp. 1105–1107, Nov. 1998.
- [36] Q. Cao, S.-H. Hur, Z.-T. Zhu, Y. G. Sun, C.-J. Wang, M. A. Meitl, M. Shim, and J. A. Rogers, "Highly bendable, transparent thin-film transistors that use carbon-nanotube-based conductors and semiconductors with elastomeric dielectrics," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 304–309, 2006.

- [37] M. M. Shulaker, G. Hills, N. Patil, H. Wei, H.-Y. Chen, H.-S. P. Wong, and S. Mitra, "Carbon nanotube computer," *Nature*, vol. 501, pp. 526–530, Sept. 2013.
- [38] S. J. Tans, A. R. M. Verschueren, and C. Dekker, "Room-temperature transistor based on a single carbon nanotube," *Nature*, vol. 393, pp. 49–52, May 1998.
- [39] R. Saito, G. Dresselhaus, and M. S. Dresselhaus, *Physical properties of carbon nanotubes*. Imperial College Press, 1998.
- [40] S. Iijima and T. Ichihashi, "Single-shell carbon nanotubes of 1-nm diameter," *Nature*, vol. 363, pp. 603–605, June 1993.
- [41] A. Oberlin, M. Endo, and T. Koyama, "Filamentous growth of carbon through benzene decomposition," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, vol. 32, pp. 335–349, Mar. 1976.
- [42] S. Reich, J. Maultzsch, C. Thomsen, and P. Ordejón, "Tight-binding description of graphene," *Physical Review B*, vol. 66, p. 035412, July 2002.
- [43] A. Castro Neto, F. Guinea, N. Peres, K. Novoselov, and A. Geim, "The electronic properties of graphene," *Reviews of Modern Physics*, vol. 81, no. 1, pp. 109–162, 2009.
- [44] R. R. Nair, P. Blake, A. N. Grigorenko, K. S. Novoselov, T. J. Booth, T. Stauber, N. M. R. Peres, and A. K. Geim, "Fine structure constant defines visual transparency of graphene.," *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 320, p. 1308, June 2008.
- [45] S. Adam, E. Hwang, and S. Das Sarma, "Scattering mechanisms and boltzmann transport in graphene," *Physica E: Low-dimensional Systems and Nanostructures*, vol. 40, pp. 1022–1025, Mar. 2008.
- [46] E. H. Hwang, S. Adam, and S. D. Sarma, "Carrier transport in two-dimensional graphene layers.," *Physical review letters*, vol. 98, p. 186806, May 2007.
- [47] J.-H. Chen, C. Jang, S. Adam, M. S. Fuhrer, E. D. Williams, and M. Ishigami, "Charged-impurity scattering in graphene," *Nature Physics*, vol. 4, pp. 377–381, May 2008.
- [48] S. Kim, J. Nah, I. Jo, D. Shahrjerdi, L. Colombo, Z. Yao, E. Tutuc, and S. K. Banerjee, "Realization of a high mobility dual-gated graphene field-effect transistor with al2o3 dielectric," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 94, p. 062107, Feb. 2009.
- [49] W. Auwärter, H. U. Suter, H. Sachdev, and T. Greber, "Synthesis of one monolayer of hexagonal boron nitride on ni(111) from b-trichloroborazine (ClBNH)3," *Chem. Mater.*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 343–345, 2003.

- [50] P. Joensen, R. Frindt, and S. Morrison, "Single-layer MoS2," Materials Research Bulletin, vol. 21, pp. 457–461, Apr. 1986.
- [51] A. Obraztsov, E. Obraztsova, A. Tyurnina, and A. Zolotukhin, "Chemical vapor deposition of thin graphite films of nanometer thickness," *Carbon*, vol. 45, pp. 2017–2021, Sept. 2007.
- [52] K. S. Novoselov, D. Jiang, F. Schedin, T. J. Booth, V. V. Khotkevich, S. V. Morozov, and A. K. Geim, "Two-dimensional atomic crystals," *Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 102, pp. 10451–10453, July 2005.
- [53] C. R. Dean, A. F. Young, I. Meric, C. Lee, L. Wang, S. Sorgenfrei, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, P. Kim, K. L. Shepard, and J. Hone, "Boron nitride substrates for high-quality graphene electronics," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 5, pp. 722–726, Aug. 2010.
- [54] J. Hass, W. A. de Heer, and E. H. Conrad, "The growth and morphology of epitaxial multilayer graphene," *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter*, vol. 20, p. 323202, Aug. 2008.
- [55] J. Hass, F. Varchon, J. E. Millón-Otoya, M. Sprinkle, N. Sharma, W. A. de Heer, C. Berger, P. N. First, L. Magaud, and E. H. Conrad, "Why multilayer graphene on 4h-SiC(0001) behaves like a single sheet of graphene," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 100, p. 125504, Mar. 2008.
- [56] A. Van Bommel, J. Crombeen, and A. Van Tooren, "LEED and auger electron observations of the SiC(0001) surface," *Surface Science*, vol. 48, pp. 463–472, Mar. 1975.
- [57] M. L. Bolen, S. E. Harrison, L. B. Biedermann, and M. A. Capano, "Graphene formation mechanisms on 4h-SiC(0001)," *Physical Review B*, vol. 80, no. 11, p. 115433, 2009.
- [58] J. Robinson, X. Weng, K. Trumbull, R. Cavalero, M. Wetherington, E. Frantz, M. LaBella, Z. Hughes, M. Fanton, and D. Snyder, "Nucleation of epitaxial graphene on SiC(0001)," ACS Nano, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 153–158, 2009.
- [59] S. Tanaka, K. Morita, and H. Hibino, "Anisotropic layer-by-layer growth of graphene on vicinal SiC(0001) surfaces," *Physical Review B*, vol. 81, p. 041406, Jan. 2010.
- [60] J. L. Tedesco, B. L. VanMil, R. L. Myers-Ward, J. M. McCrate, S. A. Kitt, P. M. Campbell, G. G. Jernigan, J. C. Culbertson, C. R. Eddy, and D. K. Gaskill, "Hall effect mobility of epitaxial graphene grown on silicon carbide," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 95, p. 122102, Sept. 2009.

- [61] W. A. d. Heer, C. Berger, M. Ruan, M. Sprinkle, X. Li, Y. Hu, B. Zhang, J. Hankinson, and E. Conrad, "Large area and structured epitaxial graphene produced by confinement controlled sublimation of silicon carbide," *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, vol. 108, pp. 16900-16905, Oct. 2011.
- [62] K. V. Emtsev, A. Bostwick, K. Horn, J. Jobst, G. L. Kellogg, L. Ley, J. L. McChesney, T. Ohta, S. A. Reshanov, J. Röhrl, E. Rotenberg, A. K. Schmid, D. Waldmann, H. B. Weber, and T. Seyller, "Towards wafer-size graphene layers by atmospheric pressure graphitization of silicon carbide," *Nature Materials*, vol. 8, pp. 203–207, Feb. 2009.
- [63] C. Virojanadara, M. Syväjarvi, R. Yakimova, L. I. Johansson, A. A. Zakharov, and T. Balasubramanian, "Homogeneous large-area graphene layer growth on 6h-SiC(0001)," *Physical Review B*, vol. 78, p. 245403, Dec. 2008.
- [64] P. N. First, W. A. de Heer, T. Seyller, C. Berger, J. A. Stroscio, and J.-S. Moon, "Epitaxial graphenes on silicon carbide," arXiv:1002.0873, Feb. 2010. MRS BULLETIN, 35, 296 (2010).
- [65] V. Y. Aristov, G. Urbanik, K. Kummer, D. V. Vyalikh, O. V. Molodtsova, A. B. Preobrajenski, A. A. Zakharov, C. Hess, T. Hänke, B. Büchner, I. Vobornik, J. Fujii, G. Panaccione, Y. A. Ossipyan, and M. Knupfer, "Graphene synthesis on cubic SiC/si wafers. perspectives for mass production of graphene-based electronic devices," *Nano Lett.*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 992–995, 2010.
- [66] J. Moon, D. Curtis, S. Bui, T. Marshall, D. Wheeler, I. Valles, S. Kim, E. Wang, X. Weng, and M. Fanton, "Top-gated graphene field-effect transistors using graphene on si (111) wafers," *Electron Device Letters*, *IEEE*, vol. 31, pp. 1193 -1195, Nov. 2010.
- [67] S. Abe, H. Handa, R. Takahashi, K. Imaizumi, H. Fukidome, and M. Suemitsu, "Surface chemistry involved in epitaxy of graphene on 3c-SiC(111)/si(111)," *Nanoscale Research Letters*, vol. 5, p. 1888, Aug. 2010.
- [68] M. Suemitsu, Y. Miyamoto, H. Handa, and A. Konno, "Graphene formation on a 3c-SiC(111) thin film grown on si(110) substrate," *e-Journal of Surface Science and Nanotechnology*, vol. 7, pp. 311–313, 2009.
- [69] H. Fukidome, Y. Miyamoto, H. Handa, E. Saito, and M. Suemitsu, "Epitaxial growth processes of graphene on silicon substrates," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 49, p. 01, 2010.
- [70] H.-C. Kang, H. Karasawa, Y. Miyamoto, H. Handa, H. Fukidome, T. Suemitsu, M. Suemitsu, and T. Otsuji, "Epitaxial graphene top-gate FETs on silicon substrates," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 54, pp. 1071–1075, Oct. 2010.

- [71] C. Berger, Z. Song, T. Li, X. Li, A. Y. Ogbazghi, R. Feng, Z. Dai, A. N. Marchenkov, E. H. Conrad, P. N. First, and W. A. de Heer, "Ultrathin epitaxial graphite: 2d electron gas properties and a route toward graphene-based nanoelectronics," J. Phys. Chem. B, vol. 108, no. 52, pp. 19912–19916, 2004.
- [72] C. Riedl, C. Coletti, T. Iwasaki, A. A. Zakharov, and U. Starke, "Quasi-freestanding epitaxial graphene on SiC obtained by hydrogen intercalation," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 103, p. 246804, Dec. 2009.
- [73] F. Speck, M. Ostler, J. Röhrl, J. Jobst, D. Waldmann, M. Hundhausen, L. Ley, H. B. Weber, and T. Seyller, "Quasi-freestanding graphene on SiC(0001)," *Materials Science Forum*, vol. 645-648, pp. 629–632, Apr. 2010.
- [74] A. Kock, P. de Bokx, E. Boellaard, W. Klop, and J. Geus, "The formation of filamentous carbon on iron and nickel catalysts: II. mechanism," *Journal of Catalysis*, vol. 96, pp. 468–480, Dec. 1985.
- [75] I. Alstrup, "A new model explaining carbon filament growth on nickel, iron, and ni-cu alloy catalysts," *Journal of Catalysis*, vol. 109, pp. 241–251, Feb. 1988.
- [76] P. Chen, H.-B. Zhang, G.-D. Lin, Q. Hong, and K. Tsai, "Growth of carbon nanotubes by catalytic decomposition of CH4 or CO on a ni-MgO catalyst," *Carbon*, vol. 35, no. 10-11, pp. 1495–1501, 1997.
- [77] D. L. Trimm, "The formation and removal of coke from nickel catalyst," Catalysis Reviews, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 155–189, 1977.
- [78] L. Ang, T. Hor, G. Xu, C. Tung, S. Zhao, and J. Wang, "Decoration of activated carbon nanotubes with copper and nickel," *Carbon*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 363–372, 2000.
- [79] T. Aizawa, R. Souda, S. Otani, Y. Ishizawa, and C. Oshima, "Anomalous bond of monolayer graphite on transition-metal carbide surfaces," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 64, pp. 768–771, Feb. 1990.
- [80] K. Yamamoto, M. Fukushima, T. Osaka, and C. Oshima, "Charge-transfer mechanism for the (monolayer graphite) /ni(111) system," *Physical Review B*, vol. 45, pp. 11358–11361, May 1992.
- [81] Y. Gamo, A. Nagashima, M. Wakabayashi, M. Terai, and C. Oshima, "Atomic structure of monolayer graphite formed on ni(111)," *Surface Science*, vol. 374, pp. 61–64, Mar. 1997.
- [82] C. Mattevi, H. Kim, and M. Chhowalla, "A review of chemical vapour deposition of graphene on copper," *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, vol. 21, no. 10, p. 3324, 2011.

- [83] A. Reina, X. Jia, J. Ho, D. Nezich, H. Son, V. Bulovic, M. S. Dresselhaus, and J. Kong, "Large area, few-layer graphene films on arbitrary substrates by chemical vapor deposition," *Nano Letters*, vol. 9, pp. 30–35, Jan. 2009.
- [84] X. Li, W. Cai, J. An, S. Kim, J. Nah, D. Yang, R. Piner, A. Velamakanni, I. Jung, E. Tutuc, S. K. Banerjee, L. Colombo, and R. S. Ruoff, "Large-area synthesis of high-quality and uniform graphene films on copper foils.," *Science* (New York, N.Y.), vol. 324, pp. 1312–4, June 2009.
- [85] M. C. Lemme, T. J. Echtermeyer, M. Baus, and H. Kurz, "A graphene fieldeffect device," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 28, no. 4, p. 12, 2007.
- [86] I. Meric, N. Baklitskaya, P. Kim, and K. L. Shepard, "RF performance of topgated, zero-bandgap graphene field-effect transistors," 2008 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting, no. c, pp. 1–4, 2008.
- [87] M. Freitag, T. Low, F. Xia, and P. Avouris, "Photoconductivity of biased graphene," *Nature Photonics*, vol. 7, pp. 53–59, Jan. 2013.
- [88] Y. Liu, R. Cheng, L. Liao, H. Zhou, J. Bai, G. Liu, L. Liu, Y. Huang, and X. Duan, "Plasmon resonance enhanced multicolour photodetection by graphene," *Nature Communications*, vol. 2, p. 579, Dec. 2011.
- [89] T. Mueller, F. Xia, and P. Avouris, "Graphene photodetectors for high-speed optical communications," *Nature Photonics*, vol. 4, pp. 297–301, Mar. 2010.
- [90] N. M. Gabor, J. C. W. Song, Q. Ma, N. L. Nair, T. Taychatanapat, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, L. S. Levitov, and P. Jarillo-Herrero, "Hot carrier-assisted intrinsic photoresponse in graphene," *Science*, vol. 334, pp. 648–652, Nov. 2011.
- [91] M. C. Lemme, F. H. L. Koppens, A. L. Falk, M. S. Rudner, H. Park, L. S. Levitov, and C. M. Marcus, "Gate-activated photoresponse in a graphene p-n junction," *Nano Letters*, vol. 11, pp. 4134–4137, Oct. 2011.
- [92] "Handbook of optical constants of solids knovel."
- [93] X. Li, C. W. Magnuson, A. Venugopal, R. M. Tromp, J. B. Hannon, E. M. Vogel, L. Colombo, and R. S. Ruoff, "Large-area graphene single crystals grown by low-pressure chemical vapor deposition of methane on copper," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, vol. 133, pp. 2816–2819, Mar. 2011.
- [94] A. Jorio, M. S. Dresselhaus, R. Saito, and G. Dresselhaus, Raman Spectroscopy in Graphene Related Systems. Wiley-VCH, 2011.
- [95] F. Andrea C., "Raman spectroscopy of graphene and graphite: Disorder, electron-phonon coupling, doping and nonadiabatic effects," *Solid State Communications*, vol. 143, pp. 47–57, July 2007.

- [96] J.-A. Yan, W. Y. Ruan, and M. Y. Chou, "Phonon dispersions and vibrational properties of monolayer, bilayer, and trilayer graphene: Density-functional perturbation theory," *Physical Review B*, vol. 77, p. 125401, Mar. 2008.
- [97] P. Venezuela, M. Lazzeri, and F. Mauri, "Theory of double-resonant raman spectra in graphene: Intensity and line shape of defect-induced and two-phonon bands," *Physical Review B*, vol. 84, p. 035433, July 2011.
- [98] G. A. Carson and S. Granick, "Self-assembly of octadecyltrichlorosilane monolayers on mica," *Journal of Materials Research*, vol. 5, no. 08, pp. 1745–1751, 1990.
- [99] "LakeShore 7500/9500 series hall system users manual."
- [100] R. Chwang, B. J. Smith, and C. R. Crowell, "Contact size effects on the van der pauw method for resistivity and hall coefficient measurement," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 17, pp. 1217–1227, Dec. 1974.
- [101] Y. Sun, J. Shi, and Q. Meng, "Measurement of sheet resistance of cross microareas using a modified van der pauw method," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 11, pp. 805–811, May 1996.
- [102] L. Van Der Pauw, "Method of measuring specific resistivity and hall effect of discs of arbitrary shape," *Philips Res. Rep.*, vol. 13, pp. 1–9, 1958.
- [103] X. Li, C. W. Magnuson, A. Venugopal, J. An, J. W. Suk, B. Han, M. Borysiak, W. Cai, A. Velamakanni, Y. Zhu, L. Fu, E. M. Vogel, E. Voelkl, L. Colombo, and R. S. Ruoff, "Graphene films with large domain size by a two-step chemical vapor deposition process," *Nano Letters*, vol. 10, p. 101019121246086, Oct. 2010.
- [104] W. Zhu, V. Perebeinos, M. Freitag, and P. Avouris, "Carrier scattering, mobilities, and electrostatic potential in monolayer, bilayer, and trilayer graphene," *Physical Review B*, vol. 80, p. 235402, Dec. 2009.
- [105] M. Topsakal, E. Aktürk, and S. Ciraci, "First-principles study of two- and onedimensional honeycomb structures of boron nitride," *Physical Review B*, vol. 79, p. 115442, Mar. 2009.
- [106] K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, and H. Kanda, "Ultraviolet luminescence spectra of boron nitride single crystals grown under high pressure and high temperature," *physica status solidi (a)*, vol. 201, pp. 2561–2565, Sept. 2004.
- [107] Y. Kubota, K. Watanabe, and T. Taniguchi, "Synthesis of cubic and hexagonal boron nitrides by using ni solvent under high pressure," Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, vol. 46, pp. 311–314, 2007.
- [108] Y. Kubota, K. Watanabe, O. Tsuda, and T. Taniguchi, "Deep ultraviolet lightemitting hexagonal boron nitride synthesized at atmospheric pressure," *Science*, vol. 317, pp. 932–934, Aug. 2007.

- [109] K. H. Lee, H.-J. Shin, J. Lee, I.-y. Lee, G.-H. Kim, J.-Y. Choi, and S.-W. Kim, "Large-scale synthesis of high-quality hexagonal boron nitride nanosheets for large-area graphene electronics," *Nano Lett.*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 714–718, 2012.
- [110] L. Song, L. Ci, H. Lu, P. B. Sorokin, C. Jin, J. Ni, A. G. Kvashnin, D. G. Kvashnin, J. Lou, B. I. Yakobson, and P. M. Ajayan, "Large scale growth and characterization of atomic hexagonal boron nitride layers," *Nano Lett.*, vol. 10, no. 8, pp. 3209–3215, 2010.
- [111] Y. Shi, C. Hamsen, X. Jia, K. K. Kim, A. Reina, M. Hofmann, A. L. Hsu, K. Zhang, H. Li, Z.-Y. Juang, M. S. Dresselhaus, L.-J. Li, and J. Kong, "Synthesis of few-layer hexagonal boron nitride thin film by chemical vapor deposition," *Nano Letters*, vol. 10, p. 100902133627051, Sept. 2010.
- [112] M. G. Silly, P. Jaffrennou, J. Barjon, J.-S. Lauret, F. Ducastelle, A. Loiseau, E. Obraztsova, B. Attal-Tretout, and E. Rosencher, "Luminescence properties of hexagonal boron nitride: Cathodoluminescence and photoluminescence spectroscopy measurements," *Physical Review B*, vol. 75, p. 085205, Feb. 2007.
- [113] L. Britnell, R. V. Gorbachev, R. Jalil, B. D. Belle, F. Schedin, A. Mishchenko, T. Georgiou, M. I. Katsnelson, L. Eaves, S. V. Morozov, N. M. R. Peres, J. Leist, A. K. Geim, K. S. Novoselov, and L. A. Ponomarenko, "Field-effect tunneling transistor based on vertical graphene heterostructures," *Science*, vol. 335, pp. 947–950, Feb. 2012.
- [114] M. S. Bresnehan, M. J. Hollander, M. Wetherington, M. LaBella, K. A. Trumbull, R. Cavalero, D. W. Snyder, and J. A. Robinson, "Integration of hexagonal boron nitride with quasi-freestanding epitaxial graphene: Toward wafer-scale, high-performance devices," ACS Nano, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. 5234–5241, 2012.
- [115] W. Gannett, W. Regan, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, M. F. Crommie, and a. Zettl, "Boron nitride substrates for high mobility chemical vapor deposited graphene," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 98, no. 24, p. 242105, 2011.
- [116] G.-H. Lee, Y.-J. Yu, C. Lee, C. Dean, K. L. Shepard, P. Kim, and J. Hone, "Electron tunneling through atomically flat and ultrathin hexagonal boron nitride," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 99, no. 24, p. 243114, 2011.
- [117] J. Cayssol, B. Huard, and D. Goldhaber-Gordon, "Contact resistance and shot noise in graphene transistors," *Physical Review B*, vol. 79, pp. 1–6, Feb. 2009.
- [118] A. Venugopal, L. Colombo, and E. M. Vogel, "Contact resistance in few and multilayer graphene devices," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 96, p. 013512, Jan. 2010.
- [119] S. Russo, M. Craciun, M. Yamamoto, A. Morpurgo, and S. Tarucha, "Contact resistance in graphene-based devices," *Physica E: Low-dimensional Systems and Nanostructures*, vol. 42, pp. 677–679, Feb. 2010.

- [120] K. Nagashio, T. Nishimura, K. Kita, and a. Toriumi, "Contact resistivity and current flow path at metal/graphene contact," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 97, no. 14, p. 143514, 2010.
- [121] J. a. Robinson, M. LaBella, M. Zhu, M. Hollander, R. Kasarda, Z. Hughes, K. Trumbull, R. Cavalero, and D. Snyder, "Contacting graphene," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 98, no. 5, p. 053103, 2011.
- [122] K. Nagashio, T. Nishimura, K. Kita, and A. Toriumi, "Metal/graphene contact as a performance killer of ultra-high mobility graphene analysis of intrinsic mobility and contact resistance," in *Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 2009 *IEEE International*, pp. 1–4, IEEE, Dec. 2009.
- [123] D. Berdebes, T. Low, Y. Sui, J. Appenzeller, and M. Lundstrom, "Substrate gating of contact resistance in graphene transistors," arXiv:1103.5773, Mar. 2011.
- [124] Y. Taur, J.-C. Sun, D. Moy, L. Wang, B. Davari, and S. Klepner, "Source-drain contact resistance in CMOS with self-aligned TiSi2," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 34, pp. 575–580, Mar. 1987.
- [125] P. Tasker and B. Hughes, "Importance of source and drain resistance to the maximum  $f_t$  of millimeter-wave MODFETs," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 10, pp. 291–293, July 1989.
- [126] K. Nagashio and A. Toriumi, "Density-of-states limited contact resistance in graphene field-effect transistors," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 50, no. 7, p. 070108, 2011.
- [127] M. I. Katsnelson, K. S. Novoselov, and A. K. Geim, "Chiral tunnelling and the klein paradox in graphene," *Nature Physics*, vol. 2, pp. 620–625, Aug. 2006.
- [128] H. Murrmann and D. Widmann, "Current crowding on metal contacts to planar devices," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 16, pp. 1022–1024, Dec. 1969.
- [129] F. Xia, V. Perebeinos, Y.-m. Lin, Y. Wu, and P. Avouris, "The origins and limits of metal-graphene junction resistance," *Nat Nano*, vol. 6, pp. 179–184, Mar. 2011.
- [130] O. Tabata, R. Asahi, H. Funabashi, K. Shimaoka, and S. Sugiyama, "Anisotropic etching of silicon in TMAH solutions," *Sensors and Actuators A: Physical*, vol. 34, pp. 51–57, July 1992.
- [131] L. Gao, J. R. Guest, and N. P. Guisinger, "Epitaxial graphene on cu(111)," Nano Letters, vol. 10, pp. 3512–3516, Sept. 2010.
- [132] P. W. Sutter, J.-I. Flege, and E. A. Sutter, "Epitaxial graphene on ruthenium," *Nature Materials*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 406–411, 2008.

- [133] J. M. Wofford, E. Starodub, A. L. Walter, S. Nie, A. Bostwick, N. C. Bartelt, K. Thürmer, E. Rotenberg, K. F. McCarty, and O. D. Dubon, "Extraordinary epitaxial alignment of graphene islands on au(111)," arXiv:1202.0561, Feb. 2012. 2012 New J. Phys. 14 053008.
- [134] M. Kralj, I. Pletikosić, M. Petrović, P. Pervan, M. Milun, A. T. N'Diaye, C. Busse, T. Michely, J. Fujii, and I. Vobornik, "Graphene on ir(111) characterized by angle-resolved photoemission," *Physical Review B*, vol. 84, p. 075427, Aug. 2011.
- [135] A. Varykhalov, J. Sánchez-Barriga, A. M. Shikin, C. Biswas, E. Vescovo, A. Rybkin, D. Marchenko, and O. Rader, "Electronic and magnetic properties of quasifreestanding graphene on ni," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 101, p. 157601, Oct. 2008.
- [136] A. Varykhalov, D. Marchenko, J. Sánchez-Barriga, M. R. Scholz, B. Verberck, B. Trauzettel, T. O. Wehling, C. Carbone, and O. Rader, "Intact dirac cones at broken sublattice symmetry: Photoemission study of graphene on ni and co," *Physical Review X*, vol. 2, p. 041017, Dec. 2012.
- [137] W. X. Wang, S. H. Liang, T. Yu, D. H. Li, Y. B. Li, and X. F. Han, "The study of interaction between graphene and metals by raman spectroscopy," *Journal* of Applied Physics, vol. 109, pp. 07C501-07C501-3, Mar. 2011.
- [138] R. S. Sundaram, M. Steiner, H.-Y. Chiu, M. Engel, A. A. Bol, R. Krupke, M. Burghard, K. Kern, and P. Avouris, "The graphene-gold interface and its implications for nanoelectronics," *Nano Lett.*, vol. 11, no. 9, pp. 3833–3837, 2011.
- [139] Y.-C. Huang, S.-Y. Chang, and C.-H. Chang, "Effect of residual stresses on mechanical properties and interface adhesion strength of SiN thin films," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 517, pp. 4857–4861, July 2009.
- [140] M. W. Iqbal, A. K. Singh, M. Z. Iqbal, and J. Eom, "Raman fingerprint of doping due to metal adsorbates on graphene," *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter*, vol. 24, p. 335301, Aug. 2012.
- [141] T. M. G. Mohiuddin, A. Lombardo, R. R. Nair, A. Bonetti, G. Savini, R. Jalil, N. Bonini, D. M. Basko, C. Galiotis, N. Marzari, K. S. Novoselov, A. K. Geim, and A. C. Ferrari, "Uniaxial strain in graphene by raman spectroscopy: G peak splitting, grüneisen parameters, and sample orientation," *Physical Review B*, vol. 79, p. 205433, May 2009.
- [142] C. Gong, S. McDonnell, X. Qin, A. Azcatl, H. Dong, Y. J. Chabal, K. Cho, and R. M. Wallace, "Realistic metal-graphene contact structures," ACS Nano, vol. 8, pp. 642–649, Jan. 2014.

- [143] J. P. Perdew, K. Burke, and M. Ernzerhof, "Generalized gradient approximation made simple," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 77, pp. 3865–3868, Oct. 1996.
- [144] P. Giannozzi, S. Baroni, N. Bonini, M. Calandra, R. Car, C. Cavazzoni, D. Ceresoli, G. L. Chiarotti, M. Cococcioni, I. Dabo, A. D. Corso, S. d. Gironcoli, S. Fabris, G. Fratesi, R. Gebauer, U. Gerstmann, C. Gougoussis, A. Kokalj, M. Lazzeri, L. Martin-Samos, N. Marzari, F. Mauri, R. Mazzarello, S. Paolini, A. Pasquarello, L. Paulatto, C. Sbraccia, S. Scandolo, G. Sclauzero, A. P. Seitsonen, A. Smogunov, P. Umari, and R. M. Wentzcovitch, "QUANTUM ESPRESSO: a modular and open-source software project for quantum simulations of materials," *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter*, vol. 21, p. 395502, Sept. 2009.
- [145] C. Gong, G. Lee, B. Shan, E. M. Vogel, R. M. Wallace, and K. Cho, "Firstprinciples study of metal-graphene interfaces," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 108, pp. 123711–123711–8, Dec. 2010.
- [146] P. A. Khomyakov, G. Giovannetti, P. C. Rusu, G. Brocks, J. van den Brink, and P. J. Kelly, "First-principles study of the interaction and charge transfer between graphene and metals," *Physical Review B*, vol. 79, p. 195425, May 2009.
- [147] D. Bonn, J. Eggers, J. Indekeu, J. Meunier, and E. Rolley, "Wetting and spreading," *Reviews of Modern Physics*, vol. 81, pp. 739–805, May 2009.
- [148] M. Vanin, J. J. Mortensen, A. K. Kelkkanen, J. M. Garcia-Lastra, K. S. Thygesen, and K. W. Jacobsen, "Graphene on metals: A van der waals density functional study," *Physical Review B*, vol. 81, p. 081408, Feb. 2010.
- [149] T. Olsen and K. S. Thygesen, "Random phase approximation applied to solids, molecules, and graphene-metal interfaces: From van der waals to covalent bonding," *Physical Review B*, vol. 87, p. 075111, Feb. 2013.
- [150] T. Olsen, J. Yan, J. J. Mortensen, and K. S. Thygesen, "Dispersive and covalent interactions between graphene and metal surfaces from the random phase approximation," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 107, p. 156401, Oct. 2011.
- [151] J. C. Chacón-Torres and T. Pichler, "Defect modulated raman response of KC8 single crystals," *physica status solidi* (b), vol. 248, pp. 2744–2747, Nov. 2011.
- [152] A. C. Ferrari, J. C. Meyer, V. Scardaci, C. Casiraghi, M. Lazzeri, F. Mauri, S. Piscanec, D. Jiang, K. S. Novoselov, S. Roth, and A. K. Geim, "Raman spectrum of graphene and graphene layers," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 97, p. 187401, Oct. 2006.
- [153] N. US Department of Commerce, "NIST standard reference database 82." NIST Standard Reference Database 82.

- [154] M. Farjam and H. Rafii-Tabar, "Energy gap opening in submonolayer lithium on graphene: Local density functional and tight-binding calculations," *Physical Review B*, vol. 79, p. 045417, Jan. 2009.
- [155] A. F. Jalbout and T. H. Seligman, "Spontaneous symmetry breaking in metal adsorbed graphene sheets," *arXiv:1207.2200*, July 2012.
- [156] R. Quhe, R. Fei, Q. Liu, J. Zheng, H. Li, C. Xu, Z. Ni, Y. Wang, D. Yu, Z. Gao, and J. Lu, "Tunable and sizable band gap in silicene by surface adsorption," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 2, Nov. 2012.
- [157] R. Dillenschneider, "Kekule-distortion-induced exciton instability in graphene," *Physical Review B*, vol. 78, p. 115417, Sept. 2008.
- [158] S. Wang, Y. Zhang, N. Abidi, and L. Cabrales, "Wettability and surface free energy of graphene films," *Langmuir*, vol. 25, no. 18, pp. 11078–11081, 2009.
- [159] J. M. P. Alaboson, Q. H. Wang, J. D. Emery, A. L. Lipson, M. J. Bedzyk, J. W. Elam, M. J. Pellin, and M. C. Hersam, "of high-k dielectrics on epitaxial graphene with organic self-assembled monolayers," no. 6, pp. 5223-5232, 2011.
- [160] D. B. Farmer, H.-Y. Chiu, Y.-M. Lin, K. A. Jenkins, F. Xia, and P. Avouris, "Utilization of a buffered dielectric to achieve high field-effect carrier mobility in graphene transistors.," *Nano letters*, vol. 9, pp. 4474–8, Dec. 2009.
- [161] H. Liu, K. Xu, X. Zhang, and P. D. Ye, "The integration of high-k dielectric on two-dimensional crystals by atomic layer deposition," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 100, pp. 152115–152115–4, Apr. 2012.
- [162] J. Lee, H.-J. Chung, J. Lee, H. Shin, J. Heo, H. Yang, S.-H. Lee, S. Seo, J. Shin, U.-i. Chung, I. Yoo, and K. Kim, "RF performance of pre-patterned locallyembedded-back-gate graphene device," in *Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 2010 IEEE International, pp. 23.5.1–23.5.4, Dec. 2010.
- [163] W. Zhu, D. Neumayer, V. Perebeinos, and P. Avouris, "Silicon nitride gate dielectrics and band gap engineering in graphene layers.," *Nano letters*, vol. 10, pp. 3572–6, Sept. 2010.
- [164] S.-L. Li, H. Miyazaki, A. Kumatani, A. Kanda, and K. Tsukagoshi, "Low operating bias and matched input-output characteristics in graphene logic inverters," *Nano Lett.*, vol. 10, no. 7, pp. 2357–2362, 2010.
- [165] H. Cho and D. Burk, "A three-step method for the de-embedding of highfrequency s-parameter measurements," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 38, pp. 1371–1375, June 1991.
- [166] M. C. A. M. Koolen, J. A. M. Geelen, and M. P. J. G. Versleijen, "An improved de-embedding technique for on-wafer high-frequency characterization," in *Bipolar Circuits and Technology Meeting*, 1991., Proceedings of the 1991, pp. 188–191, Sept. 1991.

- [167] H. Wang, D. Nezich, J. Kong, and T. Palacios, "Graphene frequency multipliers," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 30, pp. 547–549, May 2009.
- [168] A. M. DaSilva, K. Zou, J. K. Jain, and J. Zhu, "Mechanism for current saturation and energy dissipation in graphene transistors," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 104, pp. 1–4, June 2010.
- [169] I. Meric, M. Y. Han, A. F. Young, B. Ozyilmaz, P. Kim, and K. L. Shepard, "Current saturation in zero-bandgap, top-gated graphene field-effect transistors.," *Nature nanotechnology*, vol. 3, pp. 654–9, Nov. 2008.
- [170] V. Perebeinos and P. Avouris, "Inelastic scattering and current saturation in graphene," *Physical Review B*, vol. 81, May 2010.
- [171] P. Kruse, "A comparison of the limits to the performance of thermal and photon detector imaging arrays," *Infrared Physics & Technology*, vol. 36, pp. 869–882, Aug. 1995.
- [172] A. Rogalski, Infrared Detectors. CRC Press, 2000.
- [173] D. Kryskowski, "Small pitch high performance thermopile focal plane arrays," pp. 80123W-80123W, May 2011.
- [174] D. Kryskowski and J. Renken, "80 x 60 element thermoelectric infrared focal plane array for high-volume commercial use," pp. 72980N-72980N, May 2009.
- [175] A. Ihring, E. Kessler, U. Dillner, F. Haenschke, U. Schinkel, and H.-G. Meyer, "Surface-micromachined thermoelectric infrared focal-plane array with high detectivity for room temperature operation," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 88, pp. 2267–2271, Aug. 2011.
- [176] H. Lu, B. Sadani, G. Ulliac, C. Guyot, N. Courjal, M. Collet, F. I. Baida, and M.-P. Bernal, "Integrated temperature sensor based on an enhanced pyroelectric photonic crystal," *Optics Express*, vol. 21, pp. 16311–16318, July 2013.
- [177] M. Eickhoff, J. Schalwig, G. Steinhoff, O. Weidemann, L. Görgens, R. Neuberger, M. Hermann, B. Baur, G. MÃijller, O. Ambacher, and M. Stutzmann, "Electronics and sensors based on pyroelectric AlGaN/GaN heterostructures part b: Sensor applications," *physica status solidi (c)*, vol. 0, pp. 1908–1918, Sept. 2003.
- [178] M. Chu, S. Terterian, D. Walsh, H. K. Gurgenian, S. Mesropian, R. J. Rapp, and W. D. Holley, "Recent progress on LWIR and VLWIR HgCdTe focal plane arrays," pp. 243–250, May 2005.
- [179] A. Rogalski, "HgCdTe infrared detector material: history, status and outlook," *Reports on Progress in Physics*, vol. 68, pp. 2267–2336, Oct. 2005.

- [180] T. Ashley, I. M. Baker, T. M. Burke, D. T. Dutton, J. A. Haigh, L. G. Hipwood, R. Jefferies, A. D. Johnson, P. Knowles, and J. C. Little, "InSb focal plane array (FPAs) grown by molecular beam epitaxy (MBE)," pp. 398–403, July 2000.
- [181] J. Rawe, C. Martin, M. Garter, D. Endres, B. Fischer, M. Davis, J. Devitt, and M. Greiner, "Novel high fill-factor, small pitch, reticulated InSb IR FPA design," pp. 899–906, May 2005.
- [182] E. Costard, P. Bois, X. Marcadet, and A. Nedelcu, "QWIP and 3rd generation IR imagers," pp. 728–735, May 2005.
- [183] P. Castelein, F. Guellec, F. Rothan, S. Martin, P. Bois, E. Costard, O. Huet, X. Marcadet, and A. Nedelcu, "Demonstration of 256x256 dual-band QWIP infrared FPAs," pp. 804–815, May 2005.
- [184] K. Ozaki, Y. Uchiyama, H. Nishino, Y. Matsukura, N. Kajihara, and T. Fujii, "Development of mid-wavelength QWIP FPA," pp. 736–746, May 2005.
- [185] H. Haus, Waves and Fields in Optoelectronics (Prentice-Hall series in solid state physical electronics). Prentice Hall, 1984.
- [186] M. Liu, X. Yin, E. Ulin-Avila, B. Geng, T. Zentgraf, L. Ju, F. Wang, and X. Zhang, "A graphene-based broadband optical modulator," *Nature*, vol. 474, pp. 64–67, May 2011.
- [187] X. Xu, N. M. Gabor, J. S. Alden, A. M. van der Zande, and P. L. McEuen, "Photo-thermoelectric effect at a graphene interface junction," *Nano Letters*, vol. 10, pp. 562–566, Feb. 2010.
- [188] Z. Q. Li, E. A. Henriksen, Z. Jiang, Z. Hao, M. C. Martin, P. Kim, H. L. Stormer, and D. N. Basov, "Dirac charge dynamics in graphene by infrared spectroscopy," *Nature Physics*, vol. 4, pp. 532–535, June 2008.
- [189] J. Chen, M. Badioli, P. Alonso-González, S. Thongrattanasiri, F. Huth, J. Osmond, M. Spasenović, A. Centeno, A. Pesquera, P. Godignon, A. Zurutuza Elorza, N. Camara, F. J. G. de Abajo, R. Hillenbrand, and F. H. L. Koppens, "Optical nano-imaging of gate-tunable graphene plasmons," *Nature*, vol. 487, pp. 77–81, July 2012.
- [190] Z. Fei, A. S. Rodin, G. O. Andreev, W. Bao, A. S. McLeod, M. Wagner, L. M. Zhang, Z. Zhao, M. Thiemens, G. Dominguez, M. M. Fogler, A. H. C. Neto, C. N. Lau, F. Keilmann, and D. N. Basov, "Gate-tuning of graphene plasmons revealed by infrared nano-imaging," *Nature*, vol. 487, pp. 82–85, July 2012.
- [191] M. Jablan, H. Buljan, and M. Soljačić, "Plasmonics in graphene at infrared frequencies," *Physical Review B*, vol. 80, p. 245435, Dec. 2009.

- [192] J. Yan, M.-H. Kim, J. A. Elle, A. B. Sushkov, G. S. Jenkins, H. M. Milchberg, M. S. Fuhrer, and H. D. Drew, "Dual-gated bilayer graphene hot-electron bolometer," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 7, pp. 472–478, July 2012.
- [193] K. C. Fong and K. C. Schwab, "Ultrasensitive and wide-bandwidth thermal measurements of graphene at low temperatures," *Physical Review X*, vol. 2, p. 031006, July 2012.
- [194] L. Vicarelli, M. S. Vitiello, D. Coquillat, A. Lombardo, A. C. Ferrari, W. Knap, M. Polini, V. Pellegrini, and A. Tredicucci, "Graphene field-effect transistors as room-temperature terahertz detectors," *Nature Materials*, vol. 11, pp. 865–871, Oct. 2012.
- [195] B. Y. Zhang, T. Liu, B. Meng, X. Li, G. Liang, X. Hu, and Q. J. Wang, "Broadband high photoresponse from pure monolayer graphene photodetector," *Nature Communications*, vol. 4, p. 1811, May 2013.
- [196] G. Konstantatos, M. Badioli, L. Gaudreau, J. Osmond, M. Bernechea, F. P. G. de Arquer, F. Gatti, and F. H. L. Koppens, "Hybrid graphene-quantum dot phototransistors with ultrahigh gain," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 7, pp. 363– 368, June 2012.
- [197] B. Özyilmaz, P. Jarillo-Herrero, D. Efetov, D. A. Abanin, L. S. Levitov, and P. Kim, "Electronic transport and quantum hall effect in bipolar graphene p-n-p junctions," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 99, p. 166804, Oct. 2007.
- [198] B. Huard, J. A. Sulpizio, N. Stander, K. Todd, B. Yang, and D. Goldhaber-Gordon, "Transport measurements across a tunable potential barrier in graphene," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 98, p. 236803, June 2007.
- [199] J. R. Williams, L. DiCarlo, and C. M. Marcus, "Quantum hall effect in a gatecontrolled p-n junction of graphene," *Science*, vol. 317, pp. 638–641, Aug. 2007.
- [200] N. W. Ashcroft and N. D. Mermin, Solid state physics. Saunders College, 1976.
- [201] J. C. W. Song, M. S. Rudner, C. M. Marcus, and L. S. Levitov, "Hot carrier transport and photocurrent response in graphene," arXiv:1105.1142, May 2011. Nano Lett., 11 (11), pp 4688-4692 (2011).
- [202] S. Chen, Q. Wu, C. Mishra, J. Kang, H. Zhang, K. Cho, W. Cai, A. A. Balandin, and R. S. Ruoff, "Thermal conductivity of isotopically modified graphene," *Nature Materials*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 203–207, 2012.
- [203] E. Pop, V. Varshney, and A. K. Roy, "Thermal properties of graphene: Fundamentals and applications," MRS Bulletin, vol. 37, no. 12, pp. 1273–1281, 2012.

- [204] A. A. Balandin, S. Ghosh, W. Bao, I. Calizo, D. Teweldebrhan, F. Miao, and C. N. Lau, "Superior thermal conductivity of single-layer graphene," *Nano Lett.*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 902–907, 2008.
- [205] E. D. Palik, Handbook of Optical Constants of Solids, Volumes I, II, and III: Subject Index and Contributor Index. Elsevier Science & Tech, 1985.
- [206] I. Stark, M. Stordeur, and F. Syrowatka, "Thermal conductivity of thin amorphous alumina films," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 226, pp. 185–190, Apr. 1993.
- [207] R. Sultan, A. D. Avery, G. Stiehl, and B. L. Zink, "Thermal conductivity of micromachined low-stress silicon-nitride beams from 77 to 325 k," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 105, pp. 043501–043501–7, Feb. 2009.
- [208] F. E. Kennedy, D. Frusescu, and J. Li, "Thin film thermocouple arrays for sliding surface temperature measurement," Wear, vol. 207, pp. 46–54, June 1997.
- [209] S. M. Kim, A. Hsu, Y.-H. Lee, M. Dresselhaus, T. Palacios, K. K. Kim, and J. Kong, "The effect of copper pre-cleaning on graphene synthesis," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 24, p. 365602, Sept. 2013.
- [210] A. Hsu, H. Wang, K. K. Kim, J. Kong, and T. Palacios, "High frequency performance of graphene transistors grown by chemical vapor deposition for mixed signal applications," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 50, p. 070114, July 2011.
- [211] A. L. Hsu, R. J. Koch, M. T. Ong, W. Fang, M. Hofmann, K. K. Kim, T. Seyller, M. S. Dresselhaus, E. J. Reed, J. Kong, and T. Palacios, "Surface-induced hybridization between graphene and titanium," ACS Nano, July 2014.
- [212] K. K. Kim, A. Hsu, X. Jia, S. M. Kim, Y. Shi, M. Dresselhaus, T. Palacios, and J. Kong, "Synthesis and characterization of hexagonal boron nitride film as a dielectric layer for graphene devices," ACS Nano, Sept. 2012.
- [213] H. Wang, A. Hsu, D. S. Lee, K. K. Kim, J. Kong, and T. Palacios, "Delay analysis of graphene field-effect transistors," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 324–326, 2012.
- [214] H. Wang, A. Hsu, J. Wu, J. Kong, and T. Palacios, "Graphene-based ambipolar RF mixers," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 31, pp. 906–908, Sept. 2010.
- [215] P. K. Herring, A. L. Hsu, N. M. Gabor, Y. C. Shin, J. Kong, T. Palacios, and P. Jarillo-Herrero, "Photoresponse of an electrically tunable ambipolar graphene infrared thermocouple," *Nano Letters*, vol. 14, pp. 901–907, Feb. 2014.
- [216] G. S. MacGlashan, Y. G. Andreev, and P. G. Bruce, "Structure of the polymer electrolyte poly(ethylene oxide)6:LiAsF6," *Nature*, vol. 398, pp. 792–794, Apr. 1999.

- [217] F. H. L. Koppens, D. E. Chang, and F. J. García de Abajo, "Graphene plasmonics: A platform for strong lightâĂŞmatter interactions," *Nano Letters*, vol. 11, pp. 3370–3377, Aug. 2011.
- [218] S. Thongrattanasiri, F. H. L. Koppens, and F. J. García de Abajo, "Complete optical absorption in periodically patterned graphene," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 108, p. 047401, Jan. 2012.
- [219] M. T. Kesim, J. Zhang, S. Trolier-McKinstry, J. V. Mantese, R. W. Whatmore, and S. P. Alpay, "Pyroelectric response of lead zirconate titanate thin films on silicon: Effect of thermal stresses," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 114, p. 204101, Nov. 2013.
- [220] S. Sarath Kumar and S. Kasiviswanathan, "Transparent ITO-mn:ITO thin-film thermocouples," *IEEE Sensors Journal*, vol. 9, no. 7, pp. 809–813, 2009.
- [221] J. Wu, L. Xie, Y. Li, H. Wang, Y. Ouyang, J. Guo, and H. Dai, "Controlled chlorine plasma reaction for noninvasive graphene doping," J. Am. Chem. Soc., vol. 133, no. 49, pp. 19668–19671, 2011.
- [222] I. Gierz, C. Riedl, U. Starke, C. R. Ast, and K. Kern, "Atomic hole doping of graphene," Nano Lett., vol. 8, no. 12, pp. 4603–4607, 2008.
- [223] F. Güneş, H.-J. Shin, C. Biswas, G. H. Han, E. S. Kim, S. J. Chae, J.-Y. Choi, and Y. H. Lee, "Layer-by-layer doping of few-layer graphene film," ACS Nano, vol. 4, no. 8, pp. 4595–4600, 2010.
- [224] A. Kasry, M. A. Kuroda, G. J. Martyna, G. S. Tulevski, and A. A. Bol, "Chemical doping of large-area stacked graphene films for use as transparent, conducting electrodes," ACS Nano, vol. 4, no. 7, pp. 3839–3844, 2010.
- [225] L. S. Panchakarla, K. S. Subrahmanyam, S. K. Saha, A. Govindaraj, H. R. Krishnamurthy, U. V. Waghmare, and C. N. R. Rao, "Synthesis, structure, and properties of boron and nitrogen doped graphene," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 21, pp. 4726–4730, Aug. 2009.
- [226] Y. Wang, Y. Shao, D. W. Matson, J. Li, and Y. Lin, "Nitrogen-doped graphene and its application in electrochemical biosensing," ACS Nano, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 1790–1798, 2010.
- [227] X. Wang, Z. Hou, T. Ikeda, S.-F. Huang, K. Terakura, M. Boero, M. Oshima, M.-a. Kakimoto, and S. Miyata, "Selective nitrogen doping in graphene: Enhanced catalytic activity for the oxygen reduction reaction," *Physical Review* B, vol. 84, p. 245434, Dec. 2011.
- [228] L. Zhao, R. He, K. T. Rim, T. Schiros, K. S. Kim, H. Zhou, C. Gutiérrez, S. P. Chockalingam, C. J. Arguello, L. Pálová, D. Nordlund, M. S. Hybertsen, D. R. Reichman, T. F. Heinz, P. Kim, A. Pinczuk, G. W. Flynn, and A. N.

Pasupathy, "Visualizing individual nitrogen dopants in monolayer graphene," *Science*, vol. 333, pp. 999–1003, Aug. 2011.